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Part II  

~  N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s  ~

Item 5  Market for Registrant’s Common 
Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and 
Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

I. Market and Share Prices
Our shares are traded on the American Stock 

Exchange under the symbol “NBR”. At Decem-
ber 31, 2004, there were approximately 2,218 share-
holders of record. We have not paid any cash divi-
dends on our common shares since 1982. Nabors 
does not currently intend to pay any cash dividends 
on its common shares. However, we note that there 
have been recent positive industry trends and changes 
in tax law providing more favorable treatment of div-
idends. As a result, we can give no assurance that 
we will not reevaluate our position on dividends in 
the future.

The following table sets forth the reported high 
and low sales prices of our common shares as 
reported on the American Stock Exchange.

   Share Price 

Calendar Year  High Low 

2003 First quarter   $ 42.60 $ 32.20 
    Second quarter    45.85  37.65 
    Third quarter    40.50  33.87 
    Fourth quarter    42.52  35.76

2004 First quarter    49.32  41.01 
    Second quarter    47.70  40.02 
    Third quarter    47.87  41.25 
    Fourth quarter    54.25  45.87

II. Dividend Policy
See “Part I – Item 1 – Business – Risk Factors –  

We do not currently intend to pay dividends.”

III. Shareholder Matters 
Bermuda has exchange controls which apply 

to residents in respect of the Bermudian dollar. 
As an exempt company, Nabors is considered to be 
nonresident for such controls; consequently, there 
are no Bermuda governmental restrictions on the 
Company’s ability to make transfers and carry out 
transactions in all other currencies, including cur-
rency of the United States.

There is no reciprocal tax treaty between  
Bermuda and the United States regarding with-
holding taxes. Under existing Bermuda law, there 
is no Bermuda income or withholding tax on divi-
dends, if any, paid by Nabors to its shareholders. 
Furthermore, no Bermuda tax or other levy is pay-
able on the sale or other transfer (including by gift 
or on the death of the shareholder) of Nabors com-
mon shares (other than by shareholders resident 
in Bermuda).
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  Twelve
   Months Ended   
   December 31, Year Ended
O p e r at i ng  D ata(1)(2) Year Ended December 31,  (Unaudited)  September 30,

(In thousands,  2004  2003  2002  2001  2000  1999  1998  1997  1997  1996 
except per share amounts 
and ratio data)

Revenues and  

 other income:

 Operating revenues $ 2,394,031 $ 1,880,003 $ 1,466,443 $ 2,201,736 $ 1,388,660 $ 666,429 $ 1,008,169 $ 1,114,758 $ 1,028,853 $ 719,604

 Earnings (losses)  

  from unconsoli- 

  dated affiliates   4,057   10,183  14,775  26,334  26,283  3,757  (305)  274  450  139

 Investment income   50,064   33,813   36,961  56,437  39,451  12,908  1,275  4,056  15,384  8,052

Total revenues and  

 other income   2,448,152   1,923,999   1,518,179  2,284,507  1,454,394  683,094  1,009,139  1,119,088  1,044,687  727,795

Costs and  

 other deductions:                    

 Direct costs   1,572,649   1,276,953   973,910  1,366,967  938,651  446,597  663,551  774,856  737,780  539,665

 General and  

  administrative  

  expenses   195,388   165,403   141,895  135,496  106,504  65,288  77,026  72,478   70,371   56,862

 Depreciation and  

  amortization   254,939   226,528   187,665  184,119  148,087  98,152  84,949  72,350  66,391  46,117

 Depletion  45,460  8,599  7,700  5,777  4,326  1,741   –  –  –  –

 Interest expense   48,507   70,740   67,068  60,722  35,370  30,395  15,463  16,323  16,520  11,884

 Losses (gains) 

  on sales of long- 

  lived assets, 

  impairment charges 

  and other expense 

  (income), net  (4,629)  1,153  (833)  (26,186)  (8,287)  (4,708)  (31,831)  (26,382)  (28,785)  (8,333)

Total costs and  

 other deductions   2,112,314   1,749,376  1,377,405  1,726,895  1,224,651  637,465  809,158  909,625  862,277  646,195

Income before  

 income taxes   335,838   174,623  140,774  557,612  229,743  45,629  199,981  209,463  182,410  81,600

Income tax  

 expense (benefit)   33,381  (17,605)  19,285  200,162  92,387  17,925  74,993  73,443  67,602  11,100

Net income $  302,457 $  192,228 $ 121,489 $ 357,450 $ 137,356 $ 27,704 $ 124,988 $ 136,020 $ 114,808 $ 70,500

Earnings per  

 diluted share $  1.92 $  1.25 $ .81 $ 2.24 $ .90 $ .23 $ 1.16 $ 1.24 $ 1.08 $ .75

Weighted-average  

 number of diluted  

 common shares 

 outstanding   164,030   156,897   149,997  168,790  152,417  120,449  112,555  113,793  111,975  93,752

Capital expenditures  

 and acquisitions  

 of businesses(3) $  544,429 $  353,138 $  702,843 $  803,241 $  334,279 $  837,732 $  315,057 $  381,196 $  399,895 $  177,925

Interest coverage ratio(4)  14.1 : 1   6.8 : 1   6.0 : 1  13.3 : 1  11.8 : 1  5.8 : 1  19.4 : 1  18.3 : 1  16.1 : 1  11.7 : 1

Item 6  Selected Financial Data
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  As of  
  December 31,  
B a l a nc e  S h e e t  D ata(1)(2) As of December 31, (Unaudited) As of September 30,

(In thousands, except ratio data) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1997 1996

Cash and cash equivalents,  

 and short-term and long- 

 term marketable and 

 non-marketable securities $ 1,411,047 $ 1,579,090 $ 1,345,799 $ 918,637 $ 550,953 $ 111,666 $ 47,340 $ 42,135 $ 53,323 $ 115,866

Working capital  381,658  917,274  618,454  700,816  524,437  195,817  36,822  62,571  70,872  172,091

Property, plant and  

 equipment, net   3,275,495    2,990,792    2,801,067    2,451,386    1,835,039    1,678,664   1,127,154  923,402  861,393  511,203

Total assets   5,862,609   5,602,692   5,063,872  4,151,915  3,136,868  2,398,003  1,465,907  1,281,306  1,234,232  871,274

Long-term debt   1,201,686   1,985,553   1,614,656  1,567,616  854,777  482,600  217,034  226,299  229,507  229,504

Shareholders’ equity $  2,929,393  $ 2,490,275  $ 2,158,455 $ 1,857,866 $ 1,806,468 $ 1,470,074 $ 867,469 $ 767,340 $ 727,843 $ 457,822

Funded debt to capital ratio: 

 Gross(5)   0.41 : 1  0.48 : 1  0.49 : 1  0.46 : 1  0.32 : 1  0.25 : 1  0.26 : 1  0.27 : 1  0.27 : 1  0.35 : 1 

 Net(6)   0.17 : 1   0.22 : 1   0.26 : 1  0.26 : 1  0.15 : 1  0.20 : 1  0.17 : 1  0.20 : 1  0.20 : 1  0.21 : 1

(1)  Our acquisitions’ results of operations and financial position have been included beginning on the respective dates of acquisition and include Ryan Energy Technologies, Inc.  
(October 2002), Enserco Energy Service Company Inc. (April 2002), Command Drilling Corporation (November 2001), Pool Energy Services Co. (November 1999), Bayard Drilling  
Technologies, Inc. (April 1999), New Prospect Drilling Company (May 1998), Can-Tex Drilling & Exploration, Ltd. land rigs (May 1998), Veco Drilling, Inc. land rigs (November 1997),  
Diamond L Drilling & Production land rigs (November 1997), Cleveland Drilling Company, Inc. (August 1997), Chesley Pruet Drilling Company (April 1997), Adcor-Nicklos Drilling  
Company (January 1997, retroactive to October 1996), Noble Drilling Corporation land rigs (December 1996), Exeter Drilling Company and its subsidiary, and J.W. Gibson Well  
Services Company (April 1996). The results of operations also reflect the disposition of our UK North Sea (November 1996) and J.W. Gibson (January 1998) operations.

(2)  We changed our fiscal year end from September 30 to December 31, effective for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 1998.
(3)   Represents capital expenditures and the portion of the purchase price of acquisitions allocated to fixed assets and goodwill based on their fair market value.
(4)   The interest coverage ratio is computed by calculating the sum of income before income taxes, interest expense, depreciation and amortization, and depletion expense and then 

dividing by interest expense. This ratio is a method for calculating the amount of cash flows available to cover interest expense.
(5)  The gross funded debt to capital ratio is calculated by dividing funded debt by funded debt plus capital. Funded debt is defined as the sum of (1) short-term borrowings, (2) current 

portion of long-term debt and (3) long-term debt. Capital is defined as shareholders’ equity.
(6)  The net funded debt to capital ratio is calculated by dividing net funded debt by net funded debt plus capital. Net funded debt is defined as the sum of (1) short-term borrowings,  

(2) current portion of long-term debt and (3) long-term debt and then subtracting cash and cash equivalents and marketable and non-marketable securities. Capital is defined as 
shareholders’ equity.
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Item 7  Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations  

Nature of Operations
Nabors is the largest land drilling contractor in 

the world. We conduct oil, gas and geothermal land 
drilling operations in the U.S. Lower 48 states, 
Alaska, Canada, South and Central America, the 
Middle East, the Far East and Africa. Nabors also is 
one of the largest land well-servicing and workover 
contractors in the United States and Canada and is 
a leading provider of offshore platform workover 
and drilling rigs in the United States and multiple 
international markets. To further supplement and 
complement our primary business, we offer a wide 
range of ancillary well-site services, including engi-
neering, transportation, construction, maintenance, 
well logging, directional drilling, rig instrumenta-
tion, data collection and other support services, in 
selected domestic and international markets. We 

have also made selective investments in oil and gas 
exploration, development and production activities.

The majority of our business is conducted 
through our various Contract Drilling operating  
segments, which include our drilling, workover and 
well-servicing operations, on land and offshore. Our 
limited oil and gas exploration, development and 
production operations are included in a category 
labeled Oil and Gas for segment reporting purposes. 
Our operating segments engaged in marine transpor-
tation and supply services, drilling technology and 
top drive manufacturing, directional drilling, rig 
instrumentation and software, and construction and 
logistics operations are aggregated in a category 
labeled Other Operating Segments for segment 
reporting purposes. A discussion of our results of 
operations for the last three years is included below. 
This discussion should be read in conjunction with 
our consolidated financial statements and notes 
thereto included in Part II Item 8 below.
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Results of Operations
The following tables set forth certain information with respect to our reportable segments and rig activity:

 
Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)

( In thousands, except percentages) 2004 2003 2002 2004 to 2003  2003 to 2002 

Reportable segments: 
 Operating revenues and Earnings  
  from unconsolidated affiliates: 
  Contract Drilling:(1) 
   U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 748,999 $ 476,258 $ 374,659 $ 272,741 57% $ 101,599 27% 
   U.S. Land Well-servicing  360,010  312,279  294,428  47,731 15%  17,851 6% 
   U.S. Offshore  132,778  101,566  105,717  31,212 31%  (4,151) (4%) 
   Alaska  83,835  112,092  118,199  (28,257) (25%)  (6,107) (5%) 
   Canada  426,675  322,303  141,497  104,372 32%  180,806 128% 
   International  444,289  396,884  320,160  47,405 12%  76,724 24%

    Subtotal Contract Drilling(2)  2,196,586  1,721,382  1,354,660  475,204 28%  366,722 27% 
  Oil and Gas(3)  65,303  16,919  7,223  48,384 286%  9,696 134% 
  Other Operating Segments(4)(5)  205,615  201,660  174,775  3,955 2%  26,885 15%
  Other reconciling items(6)  (69,416)  (49,775)  (55,440)  (19,641) (39%)  5,665 10%

    Total $ 2,398,088 $ 1,890,186 $ 1,481,218 $ 507,902 27% $ 408,968 28%

 Adjusted income (loss) derived from  
  operating activities:(7) 
  Contract Drilling: 
   U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 93,573 $ 16,800 $ 23,415 $ 76,773 457% $ (6,615) (28%) 
   U.S. Land Well-servicing  57,712  47,082  38,631  10,630 23%  8,451 22%
   U.S. Offshore  20,611  1,649  (1,397)  18,962 N/M(8)  3,046 218%
   Alaska  16,052  37,847  31,387  (21,795) (58%)  6,460 21% 
   Canada  91,421  59,856  17,413  31,565 53%  42,443 244% 
   International  89,211  77,964  76,121  11,247 14%  1,843 2%

    Subtotal Contract Drilling  368,580  241,198  185,570  127,382 53%  55,628 30%
  Oil and Gas  13,736  5,850  (1,058)  7,886 135%  6,908 N/M(8)

  Other Operating Segments  (5,333)  3,266  24,660  (8,599) (263%)  (21,394) (87%)
  Other reconciling items(9)  (47,331)  (37,611)  (39,124)  (9,720) (26%)  1,513 4%

    Total $ 329,652 $ 212,703 $ 170,048 $ 116,949 55% $ 42,655 25%  
 Interest expense  (48,507)  (70,740)  (67,068)  22,233 31%  (3,672) (5%) 
 Investment income  50,064  33,813  36,961  16,251 48%  (3,148) (9%) 
 Gains (losses) on sales of long-lived  
  assets, impairment charges and
  other income (expense), net  4,629  (1,153)  833  5,782 N/M(8)  (1,986) (238%)

 Income before income taxes $ 335,838 $ 174,623 $ 140,774 $ 161,215 92% $ 33,849 24%
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2004 Compared to 2003
Operating revenues and Earnings from uncon-

solidated affiliates for 2004 totaled $2.4 billion,  
representing an increase of $507.9 million, or 27%, 
compared to 2003. Adjusted income derived from 
operating activities and net income for 2004 totaled 
$329.7 million and $302.5 million ($1.92 per diluted 
share), respectively, representing increases of 55% 
and 57%, respectively, compared to 2003.

The increase in our operating results during 2004 
resulted from higher revenues realized by essentially 
all of our business units as a result of higher activity 
levels and higher average dayrates during 2004 
compared to 2003. This increase in activity reflects 
an increase in demand for our services in these mar-
kets during 2004, which resulted from continuing 
higher price levels for natural gas and oil during 
2003 and 2004.

Natural gas prices are the primary driver of our 
U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling, Canadian and U.S. Off-
shore (Gulf of Mexico) operations, while oil prices 
are the primary driver of our Alaskan, International 

and U.S. Land Well-servicing operations. The Henry 
Hub natural gas spot price (per Bloomberg) averaged 
$5.90 per million cubic feet (mcf) during 2004, up 
from a $5.49 per mcf average during 2003. West 
Texas intermediate spot oil prices (per Bloomberg) 
averaged $41.51 per barrel during 2004, up from a 
$31.06 per barrel average during 2003.

Our operating results for 2005 are expected to 
increase from levels realized during 2004 given our 
current expectation of the continuation of high com-
modity prices during 2005 and the related impact 
on drilling and well-servicing activity and dayrates. 
The expected increase in drilling activity and day-
rates should have the largest impact on our U.S. 
Lower 48 Land Drilling and Canadian operations. 
Canadian drilling activity is subject to substantial 
levels of seasonality, as activity levels typically peak 
in the first quarter, decline substantially in the sec-
ond quarter, and then generally increase over the 
last half of the year. We also expect an improvement 
in operating results for our U.S. Offshore operations 
during 2005 primarily as a result of higher dayrates 

 
Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)

 2004 2003 2002 2004 to 2003  2003 to 2002 

Rig activity: 
 Rig years:(10) 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling  199.0  143.1  103.0  55.9 39%  40.1 39% 
  U.S. Offshore  14.4  14.1  14.5  .3 2%  (.4) (3%) 
  Alaska  6.9  7.9  9.3  (1.0) (13%)  (1.4) (15%) 
  Canada  46.5  42.1  22.9  4.4 10%  19.2 84% 
  International(11)  67.7  61.1  55.1  6.6 11%  6.0 11%

   Total rig years  334.5  268.3  204.8  66.2 25%  63.5 31%

 Rig hours:(12) 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  1,137,914  1,088,511  1,014,657  49,403 5%  73,854 7%
  Canada Well-servicing(13)  377,170  321,472  164,785  55,698 17%  156,687 95%

   Total rig hours  1,515,084  1,409,983  1,179,442  105,101 7%  230,541 20%

(1) These segments include our drilling, workover and well-servicing operations, on land and offshore.
(2)  Includes Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $1.6 million, $2.8 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 

2003 and 2002, respectively.
(3)  Represents our oil and gas exploration, development and production operations.
(4)  Includes our marine transportation and supply services, drilling technology and top drive manufacturing, directional drilling, rig instrumentation and software, and construction 

and logistics operations.
(5)  Includes Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $2.5 million, $7.4 million and $10.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 

2003 and 2002, respectively.
(6)  Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions. 
(7)  Adjusted income (loss) derived from operating activities is computed by: subtracting direct costs, general and administrative expenses, and depreciation and amortization, and 

depletion expense from Operating revenues and then adding Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates. Such amounts should not be used as a substitute to those amounts 
reported under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). However, management evaluates the performance of our business units and 
the consolidated company based on several criteria, including adjusted income (loss) derived from operating activities, because it believes that this financial measure is an 
accurate reflection of the ongoing profitability of our company. A reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure to income before income taxes, which is a GAAP measure, is provided 
within the table set forth immediately following the heading Results of Operations above.

(8)  The percentage is so large that it is not meaningful. 
(9)  Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions and unallocated corporate expenses.
(10)  Excludes well-servicing rigs, which are measured in rig hours. Includes our equivalent percentage ownership of rigs owned by unconsolidated affiliates. Rig years represents  

a measure of the number of equivalent rigs operating during a given period. For example, one rig operating 182.5 days during a 365-day period represents 0.5 rig years.
(11)  International rig years include our equivalent percentage ownership of rigs owned by unconsolidated affiliates which totaled 4.0 years, 3.8 years and 3.7 years during the 

years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
(12) Rig hours represents the number of hours that our well-servicing rig fleet operated during the year.
(13) The Canada Well-servicing operation was acquired during April 2002 as part of our acquisition of Enserco Energy Service Company Inc.
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and a continuing improvement in the utilization of 
our workover jack-up rigs. We expect results from 
our International operations during 2005 to increase 
compared to 2004 as a result of new rigs operating 
under contract in Saudi Arabia and our expectations 
of opportunities in various regions of the world, with 
the largest impact expected from our operations 
in North Africa, the Middle East and Mexico. Our 
U.S. Land Well-servicing operations are expected to 
improve given our expectations of commodity prices 
during 2005 discussed above. We expect results from 
our operations in Alaska to be reduced overall in 
2005 compared to 2004, resulting from the lack of 
demand for drilling services by major operators in 
that market.

Contract Drilling   Our Contract Drilling operat-
ing segments contain one or more of the following 
operations: drilling, workover and well-servicing, on 
land and offshore. Operating revenues and Earnings 
from unconsolidated affiliates for these operating 
segments totaled $2.2 billion and adjusted income 
derived from operating activities totaled $368.6 mil-
lion during 2004, representing increases of 28% 
and 53%, respectively, compared to 2003. Rig years 
(excluding well-servicing rigs) increased to 334.5 
years during 2004 from 268.3 years during 2003, 
as a result of increased capital spending by our cus-
tomers, which resulted from the improvement in 
commodity prices discussed above.

U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling Operating revenues 
totaled $749.0 million during 2004, representing an 
increase of 57% compared to 2003. Adjusted income 
derived from operating activities totaled $93.6 mil-
lion during 2004 compared to $16.8 million during 
2003. The increase in operating results during 2004 
primarily resulted from increased drilling activity, 
which was driven by higher natural gas prices and 
is reflected in the increase in rig years to 199.0 years 
during 2004 from 143.1 years during 2003, and 
higher average dayrates compared to the prior year.

U.S. Land Well-servicing Operating revenues and 
adjusted income derived from operating activities 
totaled $360.0 million and $57.7 million, respec-
tively, during 2004, representing increases of 
15% and 23%, respectively, compared to 2003. 
The increase in operating results during 2004 pri-
marily resulted from an increase in average day-
rates compared to the prior year and an increase 
in well-servicing activity, which was driven by  
higher oil prices and is reflected in the increase 
in well-servicing hours to 1,137,914 hours during 
2004 compared to 1,088,511 hours during 2003.

U.S. Offshore Operating revenues totaled 
$132.8 million during 2004, representing an 
increase of 31% compared to 2003. Adjusted  
income derived from operating activities totaled 
$20.6 million during 2004 compared to $1.6 million 
during 2003. The increase in operating results dur-
ing 2004 primarily resulted from the addition of 
three new platform rigs for deepwater development 
projects, one of which commenced operations in the 
first quarter of 2004, and two of which commenced 
operations late in the second quarter of 2004. 
Our U.S. Offshore operations were also positively 
impacted by an increase in average dayrates for our 
platform and jack-up rigs during 2004 compared 
to 2003. Rig years for our U.S. Offshore operations 
were relatively flat during 2004 compared to 2003, 
totaling 14.4 years for 2004 compared to 14.1 years 
during 2003.

Alaskan Operating revenues and adjusted income 
derived from operating activities totaled $83.8 mil-
lion and $16.1 million, respectively, during 2004, 
representing decreases of 25% and 58%, respec-
tively, compared to 2003. These decreases primarily 
resulted from lower drilling activity, deferred reve-
nue recognized on one of our rigs in 2003 that did 
not recur in 2004, and an incremental $5.7 million 
of Operating revenues recorded in the first quarter 
of 2003, representing business interruption insur-
ance proceeds related to the damage incurred on 
one of our land drilling rigs. The decrease in drilling 
activity during 2004 primarily resulted from the 
completion of a significant long-term contract in late 
2003 that has not yet been renewed or replaced and 
is reflected in the decrease in rig years to 6.9 years 
during 2004 from 7.9 years during 2003.

Canadian Operating revenues and adjusted 
income derived from operating activities totaled 
$426.7 million and $91.4 million, respectively,  
during 2004, representing increases of 32% and 
53%, respectively, compared to 2003. These 
increases resulted from an increase in drilling 
and well-servicing revenues, resulting from an over-
all increase in drilling and well-servicing activity 
(which was driven by increased natural gas prices), 
and an increase in average dayrates compared to 
the prior year. Rig years in Canada increased to 
46.5 years during 2004 from 42.1 years during 
2003. Well-servicing hours increased to 377,170 
hours during 2004 from 321,472 hours during 2003. 
Our Canadian results were also positively impacted 
by the strengthening of the Canadian dollar versus 
the U.S. dollar during 2004.
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International Operating revenues and Earnings 
from unconsolidated affiliates and adjusted income 
derived from operating activities totaled $444.3 mil-
lion and $89.2 million, respectively, during 2004, 
representing increases of 12% and 14%, respectively, 
compared to 2003. The increase in operating results 
during 2004 primarily resulted from an increase in 
operations in Mexico and Saudi Arabia and from the 
addition of operations in India and Indonesia, which 
began in the fourth quarter of 2003, partially offset 
by a decrease in operations in Trinidad, Yemen, 
Colombia and Algeria compared to the prior year. 
International rig years increased to 67.7 years during 
2004 from 61.1 years during 2003.

Oil and Gas   This operating segment represents 
our oil and gas exploration, development and pro-
duction operations, which we conduct in multiple 
locations, including South Texas, North Louisiana, 
South Louisiana, Offshore Gulf of Mexico, and 
Colombia. Oil and Gas Operating revenues increased 
to $65.3 million during 2004 from $16.9 million 
during 2003. Adjusted income derived from operat-
ing activities increased to $13.7 million during 2004 
from $5.9 million during 2003. Operating results 
increased during 2004 as a result of new invest-
ments in oil and gas properties resulting from the 
agreements executed with El Paso Corporation in 
the fourth quarter of 2003. The increase in adjusted 
income derived from operating activities for 2004 was 
partially offset by $2.4 million in expense (included in 
direct costs in our consolidated statements of income) 
recognized during the second quarter of 2004 as a 
result of a dry hole offshore in the Gulf of Mexico, 
which exceeded $1.4 million in expense recognized 
during the fourth quarter of 2003 as a result of a dry 
hole also in the Gulf of Mexico.

In the fourth quarter of 2003 we entered into 
four separate agreements with wholly-owned subsid-
iaries of El Paso Corporation resulting in the signifi-
cant expansion of our oil and gas operations. Under 
two of these agreements, we are committed to con-
tribute a portion of the cost to develop wells with a 
combination of proved undeveloped, probable and 
possible reserves located primarily in South Texas, 
North Louisiana and Offshore Gulf of Mexico, in 
exchange for a net profits interest in such wells. 
El Paso serves as operator of all the wells covered 
in this development program. Under the other two 
agreements with El Paso, we have committed to 
share in the cost of drilling exploratory wells in 
South Texas and South Louisiana in exchange for 
a share in the prospect leases where the wells are 
drilled. Based on our current estimation of oil and 

gas production levels, we expect to receive returns 
from the wells under the developmental drilling pro-
gram through the first quarter of 2006 and from the 
successful wells drilled to date under the exploratory 
drilling program through 2014.

Additionally, in May 2004, we entered into agree-
ments under which we will contribute a portion of 
the cost to drill exploration and developmental wells 
in Colombia in exchange for an interest in each of 
the prospects. The terms of the agreements call for 
an estimated three year exploratory drilling program 
and, for any successful prospects, up to an additional 
22–24 year developmental drilling program.

We also make investments in oil and gas proper-
ties with several of our customers. Based on our  
current estimation of future oil and gas production 
levels, we expect to receive returns from these 
investments through 2015.

Other Operating Segments   These operations 
include our marine transportation and supply  
services, drilling technology and top drive manufac-
turing, directional drilling, rig instrumentation and 
software, and construction and logistics operations. 
Operating revenues and Earnings from unconsoli-
dated affiliates for our Other Operating Segments 
totaled $205.6 million during 2004, representing 
an increase of 2% compared to 2003. This increase 
primarily resulted from an increase in revenues for 
our drilling technology and top drive manufacturing, 
directional drilling, and rig instrumentation and  
software operations during 2004 compared to 2003. 
This increase in revenues was primarily driven 
by the strengthening in the drilling market in the 
U.S. and Canada during 2004 as discussed for our 
Contract Drilling segments above. This increase 
was partially offset by a decrease in revenues for our 
marine and supply services operations resulting from 
the consolidation of Sea Mar Management LLC 
beginning in 2004 (see discussion in Note 6 to our 
consolidated financial statements in Part II Item 8) 
and a decrease in average dayrates during 2004 
compared to 2003, which resulted from the loss of 
some higher rate contracts during the first quarter 
of 2004 and from an increase in the impact of com-
petition in the markets in which we operate during 
2004. Adjusted loss derived from operating activi-
ties totaled $5.3 million during 2004 compared to 
adjusted income derived from operating activities 
totaling $3.3 million during 2003. This decrease  
primarily resulted from a decrease in results for 
our Alaskan construction and logistics operations 
compared to 2003, which resulted from certain  
projects in 2003 that did not recur in 2004 and 
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the loss of a significant contract during the second 
quarter of 2003, and decreased margins from our 
marine transportation and supply services, which was 
driven by lower average dayrates compared to 2003.

Other Financial Information   General and 
administrative expenses totaled $195.4 million dur-
ing 2004, representing an increase of $30.0 million, 
or 18%, compared to 2003. This increase primarily 
resulted from increased activity in a number of our 
operating segments including our U.S. Lower 48 Land 
Drilling, U.S. Land Well-servicing and Canadian oper-
ations, and from increased expenses at our corporate 
level. As a percentage of operating revenues, general 
and administrative expenses decreased (8.2% vs. 
8.8%) during 2004 compared to 2003, as these 
expenses were spread over a larger revenue base.

Depreciation and amortization expense totaled 
$254.9 million during 2004, representing an 
increase of $28.4 million, or 13%, compared to 
2003. This increase primarily resulted from an 
increase in average rig years for our U.S. Lower 48 
Land Drilling, Canadian land drilling and Interna-
tional operations compared to the prior year, and 
depreciation on capital expenditures made during 
2003 and 2004.

Depletion expense totaled $45.5 million during 
2004 compared to $8.6 million during 2003. This 
increase resulted from depletion on oil and gas 
properties added through our agreements with 
El Paso Corporation in the fourth quarter of 2003.

Interest expense totaled $48.5 million during 
2004, representing a decrease of $22.2 million, or 
31%, compared to 2003. This decrease resulted 
from the payment upon maturity of our 6.8% senior 
notes in April 2004 and the redemption of our 
$825 million zero coupon convertible senior deben-
tures in June 2003. In June 2003 we issued $700 mil-
lion in zero coupon senior exchangeable notes; the 
proceeds of which were used to redeem our $825 mil-
lion senior debentures. The $700 million notes will 
not accrue interest unless we become obligated to 
pay contingent interest, while our $825 million senior 
debentures had an effective interest rate of 2.5%. The 
amount of contingent interest payable per note in 
respect to any six-month period will equal 0.185% 
of the principal amount of a note commencing on or 
after June 15, 2008 only if certain conditions relating 
to the trading price of the notes are met (see Note 8 
to our consolidated financial statements in Part II 
Item 8 for a more detailed description).

Investment income totaled $50.1 million during 
2004, representing an increase of $16.3 million, or 
48%, compared to 2003. This increase primarily 

resulted from an increase in gains realized on 
sales of marketable securities and an increase in 
gains realized upon redemption of non-marketable 
securities during 2004. This increase was partially 
offset by a decrease in interest income resulting  
from lower average cash and marketable securities 
balances in 2004 compared to 2003 and from lower 
average yields on our investments driven by an  
overall declining interest rate environment.

Gains (losses) on sales of long-lived assets, 
impairment charges and other income (expense),  
net increased to $4.6 million during 2004 from 
($1.2) million during 2003. These amounts for  
2004 include mark-to-market gains on our range 
cap and floor derivative instrument of approximately 
$2.4 million. These amounts for 2003 include the 
recognition of approximately $1.2 million of expense 
related to the settlement of amounts due to the 
counterparty for our range cap and floor derivative 
instrument (offset by mark-to-market gains on that 
derivative instrument of $.1 million) and a loss 
of approximately $.9 million resulting from the 
redemption of our 8.625% senior subordinated 
notes at prices higher than their carrying value on 
April 1, 2003, partially offset by gains on sales of 
long-lived assets of approximately $2.5 million.

Our effective income tax (benefit) rate was 
10% during 2004 compared to (10%) for 2003. 
The change from an income tax benefit in 2003 
to an income tax expense in 2004 resulted from 
a higher proportion of our taxable income being 
generated in the U.S. for 2004 compared to 2003. 
Income generated in the U.S. is generally taxed at 
a higher rate than in international jurisdictions in 
which we operate. Our effective tax rate for 2004 
was also positively impacted by the release of certain 
tax reserves, which were determined to no longer 
be necessary, resulting in a reduction in deferred 
income tax expense (non-cash) totaling approxi-
mately $16.0 million ($.10 per diluted share). In 
October 2004 the U.S. Congress passed and the  
President signed into law the American Jobs Creation 
Act of 2004. The Act did not impact the corporate 
reorganization completed by Nabors effective  
June 24, 2002, that made us a foreign entity. It is 
possible that future changes to tax laws (including 
tax treaties) could have an impact on our ability to 
realize the tax savings recorded to date as well as 
future tax savings as a result of our corporate reor-
ganization, depending on any responsive action 
taken by Nabors. We expect our effective tax rate 
during 2005 to be in the 22%–25% range because 
we expect a high proportion of our income to be 
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generated in the U.S., which is generally taxed at  
a higher rate than in international jurisdictions in 
which we operate.

2003 Compared to 2002
Operating revenues and Earnings from uncon-

solidated affiliates for 2003 totaled $1.9 billion,  
representing an increase of $409.0 million, or 28%,  
compared to 2002. Adjusted income derived from 
operating activities and net income for 2003 totaled 
$212.7 million and $192.2 million ($1.25 per 
diluted share), respectively, representing increases 
of 25% and 58%, respectively, compared to 2002.

The increase in our Operating revenues and 
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates during 2003 
primarily resulted from higher revenues realized 
by our Canadian, U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling and 
International operations. The improved revenues 
from our Canadian operations resulted from an 
increase in the level of activity for our land drilling 
and well-servicing operations driven by increased 
demand for our services in that market during 
2003 and our acquisition of Enserco Energy Service 
Company Inc. in April 2002. The Enserco acquisi-
tion increased the number of drilling rigs owned 
and operated by Nabors in Canada by 30 drilling 
rigs while also adding over 200 well-servicing rigs. 
The improved revenues for our U.S. Lower 48 Land 
Drilling operations resulted from higher activity  
levels driven by a gradual increase in demand for 
drilling services in that market during 2003. The 
overall increase in demand in these markets was 
driven by higher average price levels for natural gas 
in 2003 compared to 2002. International revenues 
improved primarily as a result of six new long-term 
contracts for our operation in Mexico.

The increase in adjusted income derived from 
operating activities during 2003 primarily resulted 
from the increase in revenues discussed above. 
However, the overall increase in adjusted income 
derived from operating activities for 2003 was  
partially offset by lower average dayrates in our 
U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling operations during 2003 
and lower margins realized by certain of our Other 
Operating Segments. The decrease in average day-
rates for our U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling operations 
resulted from dayrates declining during 2002 and 
remaining flat until the latter part of 2003 when 
dayrates began to rise. This decline in dayrates dur-
ing 2002 resulted from the weakness in this market 
over the period beginning in the third quarter of 
2001 and extending through the end of 2002. The 
decrease in margins for our Other Operating Seg-
ments is discussed in detail below.

As discussed above, natural gas prices are the  
primary driver of our U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling, 
Canadian and U.S. Offshore operations, while oil 
prices are the primary driver of our Alaskan, Inter-
national and U.S. Land Well-servicing operations. 
The Henry Hub natural gas spot price (per Bloom-
berg) averaged $5.49 per mcf during 2003, up from 
a $3.37 per mcf average during 2002. West Texas 
intermediate spot oil prices (per Bloomberg) aver-
aged $31.06 per barrel during 2003, up from a 
$26.17 per barrel average during 2002.

Contract Drilling   Operating revenues and  
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates for our  
Contract Drilling operating segments totaled $1.7 bil-
lion and adjusted income derived from operating 
activities totaled $241.2 million in 2003, represent-
ing increases of 27% and 30%, respectively, com-
pared to 2002. Rig years (excluding well-servicing 
rigs) increased to 268.3 years during 2003 from 
204.8 years during 2002 as a result of increased 
capital spending by our customers, which resulted 
from the improvement in commodity prices.

U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling Operating revenues 
and adjusted income derived from operating activi-
ties totaled $476.3 million and $16.8 million, respec-
tively, in 2003, representing an increase of 27% and 
a decrease of 28%, respectively, compared to 2002. 
The increase in Operating revenues resulted from 
the increase in drilling activity driven by higher  
natural gas prices, which is reflected in the increase 
in rig years to 143.1 years during 2003 compared to 
103.0 years during 2002. Adjusted income derived 
from operating activities decreased during 2003, 
despite the increase in rig activity, as a result of 
lower average dayrates, rising labor costs and higher 
depreciation expense.

U.S. Land Well-servicing Operating revenues and 
adjusted income derived from operating activities 
totaled $312.3 million and $47.1 million, respec-
tively, in 2003, representing increases of 6% and 
22%, respectively, compared to 2002. The improved 
results in 2003 resulted from an increase in well-
servicing utilization driven by the increase in spend-
ing by our customers during 2003 and a marginal 
increase in average dayrates compared to 2002. 
The strengthening in this market resulted primarily 
from the improvement in commodity prices in 
2003. U.S. Land Well-servicing hours increased to 
1,088,511 hours during 2003 from 1,014,657 hours 
during 2002.

U.S. Offshore Operating revenues and adjusted 
income derived from operating activities totaled 
$101.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively, in 
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2003, representing a decrease of 4% and an increase 
of 218%, respectively, compared to 2002. The 
decrease in Operating revenues in 2003 primarily 
relates to the inclusion in our 2002 Operating reve-
nues of $6.4 million of business interruption insur-
ance proceeds related to our Dolphin 105 jack-up 
rig, which was lost in a hurricane during 2002, and 
from lower rig years in 2003 compared to 2002. 
Rig years for our U.S. Offshore operations totaled 
14.1 years during 2003 compared to 14.5 years  
during 2002. The decrease in Operating revenues in 
2003 was partially offset by higher average dayrates 
in 2003 compared to 2002 resulting from an overall 
tightening of rig supply in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico 
during 2003. The increase in adjusted income 
derived from operating activities during 2003 
resulted primarily from increased working days for 
our 1,000 horsepower workover rigs that currently 
generate higher daily cash margins than the remain-
der of our rigs, which was only partially offset by 
lower rig years in 2003. Adjusted income derived 
from operating activities for 2003 was also positively 
impacted by lower costs due to increased monitoring 
of costs on working rigs and reductions in fixed 
overhead and costs for non-working rigs.

Alaskan Operating revenues and adjusted income 
derived from operating activities totaled $112.1 mil-
lion and $37.8 million, respectively, in 2003, repre-
senting a decrease of 5% and an increase of 21%, 
respectively, compared to 2002. The decrease in 
Operating revenues resulted from lower drilling 
activity reflected in the decrease in rig years to 
7.9 years during 2003 from 9.3 years during 2002, 
which was primarily driven by two of our customers 
decreasing their level of winter exploration activity. 
This reduced activity level was partially offset by 
an incremental $5.7 million of Operating revenues, 
representing business interruption insurance pro-
ceeds recorded during 2003 related to the damage 
incurred on one of our land drilling rigs in 2001, 
which exceeded the $3.1 million in business inter-
ruption insurance proceeds recorded during 2002 
related to another rig damaged in 2001. The 
increase in adjusted income derived from operating 
activities resulted from the higher level of business 
interruption insurance proceeds recognized in 2003 
than in 2002 and from projects where we earned a 
standby with crew rate, which adds to revenues at 
a level lower than standard rates, but with minimal 
costs of operation.

Canadian Operating revenues and adjusted 
income derived from operating activities totaled 
$322.3 million and $59.9 million, respectively, in 

2003, representing increases of 128% and 244%, 
respectively, compared to 2002. These increases 
reflect an increase in drilling and well-servicing  
revenues, which resulted from an overall increase 
in Canadian drilling and well-servicing activity driven 
by increased commodity prices, and from our acqui-
sition of Enserco in April 2002. Rig years in Canada 
increased to 42.1 years during 2003 from 22.9 years 
during 2002. Canadian Well-servicing hours totaled 
321,472 hours during 2003 compared to 164,785 
hours during the period from April 26, 2002, the date 
we acquired Enserco, through December 31, 2002.

International Operating revenues and Earnings 
from unconsolidated affiliates, and adjusted income 
derived from operating activities totaled $396.9 mil-
lion and $78.0 million, respectively, in 2003, repre-
senting increases of 24% and 2%, respectively,  
compared to 2002. The improved results in 2003 
primarily resulted from six new long-term contracts 
for our operation in Mexico. International rig years 
increased to 61.1 years during the current year from 
55.1 years during 2002 primarily as a result of these 
new contracts.

Oil and Gas   Oil and Gas Operating revenues 
totaled $16.9 million during 2003, representing 
an increase of 134% compared to 2002. Adjusted 
income derived from operating activities totaled 
$5.9 million during 2003 compared to an adjusted 
loss derived from operating activities totaling 
$1.1 million during 2002. The increase in operating 
results during 2004 resulted from new investments 
in oil and gas properties resulting from the agree-
ments executed with El Paso Corporation in the 
fourth quarter of 2003.

Other Operating Segments   Operating revenues 
and Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates for our 
Other Operating Segments totaled $201.7 million 
during 2003 representing an increase of 15% com-
pared to 2002. This increase primarily resulted from 
the acquisition of Ryan Energy Technologies, Inc. 
during the fourth quarter of 2002. Adjusted income 
derived from operating activities for our Other  
Operating Segments totaled $3.3 million during 
2003 representing a decrease of 87% compared to 
2002. While Ryan’s results have been additive to 
our revenues, this new business realized a loss dur-
ing 2003. In addition, decreased margins from our 
marine transportation services, which resulted from 
lower average dayrates, and from our top drive man-
ufacturing operations, which resulted from fewer top 
drive sales in 2003 compared to 2002, resulted in 
lower profitability for our Other Operating Segments 
compared to 2002.
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Other Financial Information   General and 
administrative expenses increased by $23.5 million, 
or 17%, in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily as a 
result of increases related to our Canadian acquisi-
tions in 2002 and increased International activity.  
As a percentage of operating revenues, general and 
administrative expenses decreased in 2003 com-
pared to 2002 (8.8% vs. 9.7%) as these expenses 
were spread over a larger revenue base.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased 
by $38.9 million, or 21%, in 2003 compared to 
2002 as a result of an increase in average rig years 
for our Canadian land drilling, U.S. Lower 48 Land 
Drilling and International operations, a full year 
of depreciation in 2003 on assets acquired in our 
Enserco (April 2002) and Ryan (October 2002) 
acquisitions, as well as other capital expenditures 
during 2002 and 2003.

Depletion expense totaled $8.6 million during 
2003 compared to $7.7 million during 2002. This 
increase resulted from depletion on oil and gas 
properties added through our agreements with 
El Paso Corporation in the fourth quarter of 2003.

Interest expense increased by $3.7 million, or 
5%, in 2003 compared to 2002 resulting from the 
issuance of our $225 million aggregate principal 
amount of 4.875% senior notes and our $275 mil-
lion aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior 
notes in August 2002, which was only partially offset 
by reduced interest costs realized in 2003 from the 
issuance of our $700 million zero coupon senior 
exchangeable notes in June 2003. Such notes will 
not accrue interest unless we become obligated to 
pay contingent interest. The proceeds from this debt 
issuance were used to redeem our $825 million zero 
coupon convertible senior debentures, which had an 
effective interest rate of 2.5%. We also redeemed our 
8.625% senior subordinated notes due April 2008 
on April 1, 2003.

Investment income decreased by $3.1 million, 
or 9%, in 2003 compared to 2002, reflecting lower 
average yields on investments resulting from the 
overall declining interest rate environment, partially 
offset by higher average cash and marketable securi-
ties balances.

Gains (losses) on sales of long-lived assets, 
impairment charges and other income (expense), 
net decreased to ($1.2) million during 2003 from  
$.8 million during 2002. These amounts for 2003 
include the recognition of approximately $1.2 mil-
lion of expense related to the settlement of amounts 

due to the counterparty for our range cap and floor 
derivative instrument (offset by mark-to-market 
gains on that derivative instrument of $.1 million) 
and a loss of approximately $.9 million resulting 
from the redemption of our 8.625% senior subor-
dinated notes at prices higher than their carrying 
value on April 1, 2003, partially offset by gains on 
sales of long-lived assets of approximately $2.5 mil-
lion. These amounts for 2002 include gains on sales 
of long-lived assets of approximately $8.3 million, 
partially offset by impairment charges of approxi-
mately $3.7 million related to our reclassification 
of four supply vessels to held-for-sale (see Note 2 
to our consolidated financial statements included 
in Part II Item 8 below), mark-to-market losses 
recorded on our range cap and floor derivative 
instrument of approximately $2.0 million and the 
recognition of approximately $3.8 million in non-
recurring corporate reorganization expense.

Our effective income (benefit) tax rate was (10%) 
during 2003 compared to 14% during 2002. The tax 
benefit position for 2003 resulted primarily from tax 
savings realized as a result of our corporate reorga-
nization effective June 24, 2002.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows
Our cash flows primarily depend on the level of 

spending by our customers, oil and gas companies, 
for exploration, development and production activi-
ties. Sustained increases or decreases in the price 
of natural gas or oil could have a material impact 
on these activities, and could also materially affect 
our cash flows. Certain sources and uses of cash, 
such as the level of discretionary capital expendi-
tures, purchases and sales of marketable securities, 
issuances and repurchases of debt, and repurchases 
of our common shares are within our control and 
are adjusted as necessary based on market condi-
tions. The following is a discussion of our cash flows 
for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Operating Activities   Net cash provided by oper-
ating activities totaled $563.2 million during 2004 
compared to net cash provided by operating activi-
ties of $395.7 million during 2003. During 2004 
and 2003 net income was increased for non-cash 
items such as depreciation and amortization, and 
depletion, and was reduced for changes in our work-
ing capital and other balance sheet accounts.
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Investing Activities   Net cash used for investing 
activities totaled $549.1 million during 2004 com-
pared to net cash used for investing activities total-
ing $408.2 million during 2003. During 2004 and 
2003 cash was used for capital expenditures and 
purchases, net of sales, of marketable and non- 
marketable securities.

Financing Activities   Net cash used for financing 
activities totaled $221.2 million during 2004 com-
pared to net cash provided by financing activities of 
$171.5 million during 2003. During 2004 cash was 
used for the reduction of long-term debt (including 
the payment upon maturity of our 6.8% senior notes 
in April 2004) and was provided by our receipt of 
proceeds from the exercise of options to acquire our 
common shares by our employees. During 2003 
cash was provided by the issuance of our $700 mil-
lion zero coupon senior exchangeable notes during 
June 2003 and our receipt of proceeds from the 
exercise of options to acquire our common shares 
by our employees, and was used for the reduction 
of long-term debt.

Future Cash Requirements
As of December 31, 2004, we had long-term debt, 

including current maturities, of $2.0 billion and cash 
and cash equivalents and investments in marketable 
and non-marketable securities of $1.4 billion.

Our $1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior 
debentures can be put to us on February 5, 2006, 
February 5, 2011 and February 5, 2016, for a pur-
chase price equal to the issue price plus accrued 
original issue discount to the date of repurchase. 
The amount of the purchase price would total 
$826.8 million, $936.2 million and $1.1 billion if 
the debentures were put to us on February 5, 2006, 
February 5, 2011 or February 5, 2016, respectively.

Additionally, each of our $700 million zero cou-
pon senior exchangeable notes and our $1.381 bil-
lion zero coupon convertible senior debentures  
provide that upon an exchange or conversion, as 
applicable, of these convertible debt instruments, 
we will be required to pay holders of these debt 
instruments, in lieu of common shares, cash up 
to the principal amount of the instruments and, at 
our option, consideration in the form of either cash 
or our common shares for any amount above the 
principal amount of the instruments required to 
be paid pursuant to the terms of the indentures. As 
our $1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior 
debentures can be converted at any time resulting 
in our payment of cash, the outstanding principal 

amount of these debentures of $804.6 million is 
included in current liabilities in our balance sheet as 
of December 31, 2004. These debentures previously 
would have been classified in current liabilities 
beginning in the first quarter of 2005 as a result of 
the holders having the option to put the debentures 
to us on February 5, 2006. If the $1.381 billion 
debentures were converted, our cash obligation would 
be an amount equal to the lesser of 8.5 million multi-
plied by the sale price of our common shares on the 
trading day immediately prior to the related conver-
sion date or the principal amount of the debentures 
on the date of conversion. If these debentures had 
been converted on December 31, 2004, we would 
have been required to pay cash totaling approxi-
mately $435 million to the holders of the deben-
tures (based on the closing price for our common 
shares on December 30, 2004 of $51.18). As this 
amount is substantially lower than the $826.8 mil-
lion that the holders of the debentures will receive 
if they put the debentures to us on the first put date 
of February 5, 2006 or if they sold the debentures 
in the open market, we do not currently expect the 
debentures to be converted and any payment to be 
required prior to February 5, 2006 (when the hold-
ers have the option to put the debentures back to 
us), unless the price for our shares were to exceed 
approximately $94. Our $700 million zero coupon 
senior exchangeable notes cannot be exchanged 
until the price for our shares exceeds approximately 
$84 or in various other circumstances as described 
in the note indenture (see discussion in Note 8 to 
our consolidated financial statements included in 
Part II Item 8).

As of December 31, 2004, we had outstanding 
purchase commitments of approximately $114.2 mil-
lion, primarily for rig-related enhancing and sustain-
ing capital expenditures. Total capital expenditures 
for 2005 are currently expected to be approximately 
$550 million, including currently planned rig-related 
enhancing and sustaining capital expenditures. This 
amount could change significantly based on market 
conditions and new business opportunities.

We have historically completed a number of 
acquisitions and will continue to evaluate opportuni-
ties to acquire assets or businesses to enhance our 
operations. Several of our previous acquisitions were 
funded through issuances of our common shares. 
Future acquisitions may be paid for using existing 
cash or issuance of debt or Nabors’ shares. Such 
capital expenditures and acquisitions will depend 
on our view of market conditions and other factors.
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See our discussion of guarantees issued by Nabors that could have a potential impact on our financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows in future periods included under Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements (Including 
Guarantees) below.

The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2004:

Historical capital expenditures and acquisitions of businesses, which represent the portion of the purchase price 
of acquisitions allocated to fixed assets and goodwill based on their fair market value, are classified as follows:

During 2002 our Board of Directors authorized 
the continuation of a share repurchase program 
under which we may repurchase our common shares 
in the open market. Under this program we are 
authorized to purchase up to $400 million of our 
common shares. Through December 31, 2004, 
approximately $248 million of our common shares 
have been repurchased under this program.

Financial Condition and Sources of Liquidity
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash and 

cash equivalents, marketable and non-marketable 
securities and cash generated from operations. 
As of December 31, 2004, we had cash and cash 
equivalents and investments in marketable and  
non-marketable securities of $1.4 billion (including 
$510.5 million of long-term marketable and non-
marketable securities) and working capital of 
$381.7 million. This compares to cash and cash 

equivalents and investments in marketable and  
non-marketable securities of $1.6 billion (including 
$612.4 million of long-term marketable securities) 
and working capital of $917.3 million as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003.

Our funded debt to capital ratio was 0.41:1 as 
of December 31, 2004 and 0.48:1 as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003. Our net funded debt to capital ratio 
was 0.17:1 as of December 31, 2004 and 0.22:1 as 
of December 31, 2003. The funded debt to capital 
ratio is calculated by dividing funded debt by funded 
debt plus capital. Funded debt is defined as the sum 
of (1) short-term borrowings, (2) current portion of 
long-term debt and (3) long-term debt. Capital is 
defined as shareholders’ equity. The net funded debt 
to capital ratio nets cash and cash equivalents and 
marketable and non-marketable securities against 
funded debt. This ratio is calculated by dividing net 
funded debt by net funded debt plus capital. Both of 

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Sustaining $ 229,154 $ 159,932 $ 102,633 
Enhancement  130,656  110,852  136,837 
Acquisitions of assets and businesses  65,550  13,578  439,632 
New construction  63,766  15,060  14,008 
Net profits interests in oil and gas properties  55,303  53,716  9,733

 $ 544,429 $ 353,138 $ 702,843

  Payments Due by Period

(In thousands) Total < 1 Year 1–3 Years 3–5 Years Thereafter

Contractual cash obligations:  
 Long-term debt: 
  Principal  $ 2,026,800 $ – $ 826,800(1) $ 925,000(2) $ 275,000
  Interest  163,439  25,750  51,501  47,387  38,801 
 Operating leases(3)  29,025  11,462  13,677  2,575  1,311 
 Purchase commitments(4)  114,156  114,156  –  –  – 
 Employment contracts(3)  8,559  2,440  4,450  1,669  – 
 Pension funding obligations(5)  1,027  1,027  –  –  –

  Total contractual cash obligations $ 2,343,006 $ 154,835 $ 896,428 $ 976,631 $ 315,112

(1)  Represents our $1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior debentures which can be put to us on February 5, 2006. The principal amount of these debentures  
of $804.6 million are classified in current liabilities as of December 31, 2004. However, we do not expect these debentures to be converted for cash within the next  
12 months based on the current market value of our shares (see discussion above).

(2) Includes our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes, which can be put to us on June 15, 2008, and $225 million of our senior notes due 2009.
(3) See Note 13 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
(4)  Purchase commitments include agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including:  

fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable pricing provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction.
(5) See Note 11 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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these ratios are a method for calculating the amount 
of leverage a company has in relation to its capital. 
Non-marketable securities consist of investments 
in overseas funds investing primarily in a variety 
of public and private U.S. and non-U.S. securities 
(including asset-backed securities and mortgage-
backed securities, global structured asset securi-
tizations, whole loan mortgages, and participations 
in whole loans and whole loan mortgages). These 
investments are classified as non-marketable, because 
they do not have published fair values, and are 
recorded at cost in our consolidated balance sheets 
(the current portion is classified as non-marketable 
securities under current assets and the long-term 
portion is included as a component of other long-
term assets). Our interest coverage ratio was 14.1:1 
as of December 31, 2004, compared to 6.8:1 as of 
December 31, 2003. The interest coverage ratio is 
computed by calculating the sum of income before 
income taxes, interest expense, depreciation and 
amortization, and depletion expense and then divid-
ing by interest expense. This ratio is a method for 
calculating the amount of cash flows available to 
cover interest expense.

We have three letter of credit facilities with vari-
ous banks as of December 31, 2004. Availability 
and borrowings under our credit facilities as of 
December 31, 2004 are as follows:

(In thousands)

Credit available $ 110,000 
Letters of credit outstanding  (77,876)

Remaining availability $ 32,124

We have a shelf registration statement on file with 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission to 
allow us to offer, from time to time, up to $700 mil-
lion in debt securities, guarantees of debt securities, 
preferred shares, depository shares, common shares, 
share purchase contracts, share purchase units and 
warrants. We currently have not issued any securities 
registered under this registration statement.

Our current cash and cash equivalents, invest-
ments in marketable and non-marketable securities 

and projected cash flow generated from current 
operations are expected to more than adequately 
finance our sustaining capital expenditures, our 
debt service requirements, and all other expected 
cash requirements for the next twelve months.

See our discussion of the impact of changes in 
market conditions on our derivative financial instru-
ments discussed under Item 7A. Quantitative and 
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk below.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
(Including Guarantees)

We are a party to certain transactions, agree-
ments or other contractual arrangements defined as 
“off-balance sheet arrangements” that could have 
a material future effect on our financial position, 
results of operations, liquidity and capital resources. 
The most significant of these off-balance sheet 
arrangements involve agreements and obligations 
in which we provide financial or performance assur-
ance to third parties. Certain of these agreements 
serve as guarantees, including standby letters of 
credit issued on behalf of insurance carriers in con-
junction with our workers’ compensation insurance 
program, other financial surety instruments such as 
bonds, and guarantees of residual value in certain 
of our operating lease agreements. We have also 
guaranteed payment of contingent consideration in 
conjunction with an acquisition in 2002, which is 
based on future operating results of that business. 
In addition, we have provided indemnifications to 
certain third parties which serve as guarantees. 
These guarantees include indemnification provided 
by Nabors to our stock transfer agent and our insur-
ance carriers. We are not able to estimate the poten-
tial future maximum payments that might be due 
under our indemnification guarantees.

Management believes the likelihood that we 
would be required to perform or otherwise incur 
any material losses associated with any of these 
guarantees is remote. The following table summa-
rizes the total maximum amount of financial and 
performance guarantees issued by Nabors:

  Maximum Amount

(In thousands) 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total

Financial standby letters of credit and other financial surety instruments  $ 81,067 $ – $ – $ 302 $ 81,369 
Guarantee of residual value in lease agreements  684  65  –  –  749 
Contingent consideration in acquisition  2,000  500  –  –  2,500

Total $ 83,751 $ 565 $ – $ 302 $ 84,618
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Other Matters

Recent Legislation, Coast Guard  
Regulations and Actions

Our Sea Mar division time charters supply vessels 
to offshore operators in U.S. waters. The vessels are 
owned by one of our financing company subsidiar-
ies, but are operated and managed by a U.S. citizen-
controlled company pursuant to long-term bareboat 
charters. As a result of recent legislation, beginning 
in August 2007 Sea Mar will no longer be able to 
use this arrangement to qualify vessels for employ-
ment in the U.S. coastwise trade. Accordingly, we 
will be required to restructure the arrangement, 
redeploy the vessels outside the United States, 
or sell the vessels by no later than such time.

As of December 31, 2004, the net assets of 
Sea Mar totaled approximately $159.8 million.  
During 2004 Sea Mar had income before income 
taxes totaling $2.3 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
We currently account for stock-based compensa-

tion as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board 
(APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued 
to Employees,” and because we grant options at 
prices equal to the market price of our shares on 
the date of the grant we do not record compensation 
expense related to these grants. In December 2004 
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued a revision to Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards (SFAS) No. 123, “Share-Based Pay-
ment,” which will eliminate our ability to account  
for stock-based compensation using APB 25 and 
instead would require us to account for stock option 
awards using a fair-value based method resulting in 
compensation expense for stock option awards. The 
statement will be effective for stock options granted, 
modified, or settled in cash in interim and annual 
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. Additionally, 
for stock options granted or modified after Decem-
ber 15, 1994 that have not vested as of the effective 
date of the statement, compensation cost will be 
measured and recorded based on the same estimates 
of fair value calculated as of the date of grant as  
currently disclosed within the table required by 
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Com-
pensation – an Amendment to FAS 123,” presented 
in Note 2 to our accompanying consolidated finan-
cial statements. The statement may have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations during 
the periods of adoption and annual and interim 
periods thereafter. If this statement had been 

adopted in its current form as of January 1, 2004, 
we would have recorded additional compensation 
expense, net of related tax effects, of approximately 
$22.5 million during 2004 and our diluted earnings 
per share for 2004 would have been reduced by 
$.14 per share.

In October 2004 the FASB ratified the consensus 
reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 
in EITF 04-8, which addresses the issue of when 
the dilutive effect of contingently convertible debt 
instruments should be included in diluted earnings 
per share computations. Based on the concepts 
described in EITF 04-8, we will be required to treat 
our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable 
notes as converted for purposes of computing 
diluted earnings per share, regardless of whether 
any triggering contingency has been met or is likely 
to be met. The provisions in EITF 04-8 are effective 
for periods ending after December 15, 2004, includ-
ing the year ended December 31, 2004. As a result 
of this accounting change, we are required to include 
additional common shares in the denominator of our 
diluted earnings per share calculation in all periods 
where the price for our shares exceeds $70.10. These 
additional shares represent the value in excess of 
the principal amount of the notes and would be cal-
culated using the treasury stock method. We do not 
expect this accounting change to have a material 
effect on our financial position, results of operations 
or cash flows.

In January 2003 the FASB issued Interpretation 
No. 46 (FIN 46), “Consolidation of Variable Interest 
Entities,” which addresses the consolidation of vari-
able interest entities (VIEs) by business enterprises 
that are the primary beneficiaries. A VIE is an entity 
that does not have sufficient equity investment at 
risk to permit it to finance its activities without addi-
tional subordinated financial support, or whose 
equity investors lack the characteristics of a control-
ling financial interest. The primary beneficiary of 
a VIE is the enterprise that has the majority of the 
risks or rewards associated with the VIE. In Decem-
ber 2003 the FASB issued a revision to FIN 46, 
Interpretation No. 46R (FIN 46R), to clarify some of 
the provisions of FIN 46, and to exempt certain enti-
ties from its requirements. Application of FIN 46R 
is required in financial statements of public entities 
that have interests in structures that are commonly 
referred to as special-purpose entities for periods 
ending after December 15, 2003. Application for 
all other types of VIEs is required in financial state-
ments for periods ending after March 15, 2004. 
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Our adoption of FIN 46R on March 31, 2004 did 
not have a material effect on our financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows as of and for the 
year ended December 31, 2004.

Related Party Transactions
Pursuant to his employment agreement entered 

into in October 1996, we provided an unsecured, 
non-interest bearing loan of approximately $2.9 mil-
lion to Nabors’ Deputy Chairman, President and 
Chief Operating Officer. This loan is due on Septem-
ber 30, 2006.

Pursuant to their employment agreements, 
Nabors and its Chairman and Chief Executive  
Officer, Deputy Chairman, President and Chief 
Operating Officer, and certain other key employees 
entered into split-dollar life insurance agreements 
pursuant to which we pay a portion of the premiums 
under life insurance policies with respect to these 
individuals and, in certain instances, members 
of their families. Under these agreements, we are  
reimbursed for such premiums upon the occurrence 
of specified events, including the death of an insured 
individual. Any recovery of premiums paid by Nabors 
could potentially be limited to the cash surrender 
value of these policies under certain circumstances. 
As such, the values of these policies are recorded at 
their respective cash surrender values in our consol-
idated balance sheets. We have made premium pay-
ments to date totaling $13.2 million related to these 
policies. The cash surrender value of these policies 
of approximately $11.8 million and $11.4 million 
is included in other long-term assets in our consoli-
dated balance sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 
2003, respectively.

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the pay-
ment of premiums by Nabors under the agreements 
with our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and 
with our Deputy Chairman, President and Chief 
Operating Officer may be deemed to be prohibited 
loans by us to these individuals. We have paid no 
premiums related to our agreements with these indi-
viduals since the adoption of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
and have postponed premium payments related to 
our agreements with these individuals.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into 
various rig leases, rig transportation and related  
oilfield services agreements with our Alaskan and 
Saudi Arabian unconsolidated affiliates at market 
prices. Revenues from business transactions with 
these affiliated entities totaled $63.2 million, 
$51.3 million and $46.8 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
Expenses from business transactions with these  

affiliated entities totaled $3.3 million, $3.3 million 
and $3.0 million for the years ended December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Additionally, 
we had accounts receivable from these affiliated 
entities of $20.7 million and $20.9 million as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We had 
accounts payable to these affiliated entities of $1.8 mil-
lion and $.5 million as of December 31, 2004 and 
2003, respectively, and a note payable with one of 
these affiliated entities of $4.1 million and $4.3 mil-
lion as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, 
which is included in other long-term liabilities.

Additionally, we own certain marine vessels that 
are chartered under a bareboat charter arrangement 
to Sea Mar Management LLC, an entity in which 
we own a 25% interest. Under the requirements of 
FIN 46R this entity was consolidated by Nabors 
beginning in 2004. Revenues from business trans-
actions with Sea Mar totaled $29.5 million and 
$18.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 
and 2002, respectively. Expenses from business 
transactions with Sea Mar totaled $47.9 million and 
$28.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 
and 2002, respectively. Accounts receivable from 
and accounts payable to Sea Mar as of Decem- 
ber 31, 2003 totaled $3.0 million and $3.2 mil-
lion, respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies and  
Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements in 
conformity with GAAP requires management to 
make certain estimates and assumptions. These  
estimates and assumptions affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet 
date and the amounts of revenues and expenses  
recognized during the reporting period. We analyze 
our estimates based on our historical experience  
and various other assumptions that we believe to  
be reasonable under the circumstances. However, 
actual results could differ from such estimates. The 
following is a discussion of our critical accounting 
estimates. Management considers an accounting  
estimate to be critical if:
•  it requires assumptions to be made that were 

uncertain at the time the estimate was made; and
•  changes in the estimate or different estimates that 

could have been selected could have a material 
impact on our consolidation financial position or 
results of operations.

For a summary of all of our significant accounting 
policies, see Note 2 to the accompanying consoli-
dated financial statements.
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Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment   
The drilling, workover and well-servicing industries 
are very capital intensive. Property, plant and equip-
ment represented 56% of our total assets as of 
December 31, 2004, and depreciation constituted 
12% of our total costs and other deductions for the 
year ended December 31, 2004.

Depreciation for our primary operating assets, 
drilling and workover rigs, is calculated based on  
the units-of-production method over an approximate 
4,900-day period, with the exception of our jack-up 
rigs which are depreciated over an 8,030-day period, 
after provision for salvage value. When our drilling 
and workover rigs are not operating, a depreciation 
charge is provided using the straight-line method 
over an assumed depreciable life of 20 years, with 
the exception of our jack-up rigs, where a 30-year 
depreciable life is used.

Depreciation on our buildings, well-servicing  
rigs, oilfield hauling and mobile equipment, marine 
transportation and supply vessels, and other machin-
ery and equipment is computed using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful life of the asset 
after provision for salvage value (buildings – 10 to 
30 years; well-servicing rigs – 3 to 15 years; marine 
transportation and supply vessels – 10 to 25 years; 
oilfield hauling and mobile equipment and other 
machinery and equipment – 3 to 10 years).

These depreciation periods and the salvage values 
of our property, plant and equipment were deter-
mined through an analysis of the useful lives of our 
assets and based on our experience with the salvage 
values of these assets. Periodically, we review our 
depreciation periods and salvage values for reason-
ableness given current conditions. Depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment is therefore based 
upon estimates of the useful lives and salvage value 
of those assets. Estimation of these items requires 
significant management judgment. Accordingly, 
management believes that accounting estimates 
related to depreciation expense recorded on prop-
erty, plant and equipment are critical.

There have been no factors related to the perfor-
mance of our portfolio of assets, changes in technol-
ogy or other factors that indicate that these lives do 
not continue to be appropriate. Accordingly, for the 
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, no 
significant changes have been made to the deprecia-
tion rates applied to property, plant and equipment, 
the underlying assumptions related to estimates of 
depreciation, or the methodology applied. However, 
certain events could occur that would materially 

affect our estimates and assumptions related to 
depreciation. Unforeseen changes in operations or 
technology could substantially alter management’s 
assumptions regarding our ability to realize the 
return on our investment in operating assets and 
therefore affect the useful lives and salvage values  
of our assets.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets   As discussed 
above, the drilling, workover and well-servicing 
industries are very capital intensive, which is evident 
in the fact that our property, plant and equipment 
represented 56% of our total assets as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004. Other long-lived assets subject to 
impairment consist primarily of goodwill, which  
represented 6% of our total assets as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004. We review our long-lived assets for 
impairment when events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amounts of such 
assets may not be recoverable. In addition, we 
review goodwill and intangible assets with indefi-
nite lives for impairment annually, as required by 
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets.” An impairment loss is recorded in the  
period in which it is determined that the carrying 
amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable. 
Such determination requires us to make judgments 
regarding long-term forecasts of future revenues and 
costs related to the assets subject to review in order 
to determine the future cash flows associated with 
the asset or, in the case of goodwill, our reporting 
units. These long-term forecasts are uncertain in 
that they require assumptions about demand for  
our products and services, future market conditions, 
technological advances in the industry, and changes 
in regulations governing the industry. Significant  
and unanticipated changes to the assumptions could 
require a provision for impairment in a future period. 
As the determination of whether impairment charges 
should be recorded on our long-lived assets is sub-
ject to significant management judgment and an 
impairment of these assets could result in a material 
charge on our consolidated statements of income, 
management believes that accounting estimates 
related to impairment of long-lived assets is critical.

Assumptions made in the determination of future 
cash flows are made with the involvement of man-
agement personnel at the operational level where 
the most specific knowledge of market conditions 
and other operating factors exists. For the years 
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, no  
significant changes have been made to the meth-
odology utilized to determine future cash flows.
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Given the nature of the evaluation of future cash 
flows and the application to specific assets and spe-
cific times, it is not possible to reasonably quantify 
the impact of changes in these assumptions.

Income Taxes   Deferred taxes represent a sub-
stantial liability for Nabors. For financial reporting 
purposes, management determines our current tax 
liability as well as those taxes incurred as a result of 
current operations yet deferred until future periods. 
In accordance with the liability method of account-
ing for income taxes as specified in SFAS No. 109, 
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” the provision for 
income taxes is the sum of income taxes both cur-
rently payable and deferred. Currently payable taxes 
represent the liability related to our income tax 
return for the current year while the net deferred 
tax expense or benefit represents the change in the 
balance of deferred tax assets or liabilities reported 
on our consolidated balance sheets. The changes 
in deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined 
based upon changes in differences between the 
basis of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the basis of assets and liabilities for 
tax purposes as measured by the enacted tax rates 
that management estimates will be in effect when 
these differences reverse. In addition to estimating 
the future tax rates applicable to the reversal of tax 
differences, management must also make certain 
assumptions regarding whether tax differences are 
permanent or temporary, management must estimate 
the timing of their reversal, and whether taxable 
operating income in future periods will be sufficient 
to fully recognize any gross deferred tax assets. Valu-
ation allowances are established to reduce deferred 
tax assets when it is more likely than not that some 
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not 
be realized. In determining the need for valuation 
allowances, management has considered and made 
judgments and estimates regarding estimated future 
taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible 
tax planning strategies. These judgments and esti-
mates are made for each tax jurisdiction in which 
we operate as the calculation of deferred taxes is 
completed at that level. Further, under U.S. federal 
tax law, the amount and availability of loss carryfor-
wards (and certain other tax attributes) are subject 
to a variety of interpretations and restrictive tests 
applicable to Nabors and our subsidiaries. The utili-
zation of such carryforwards could be limited or 
effectively lost upon certain changes in ownership. 
Accordingly, although we believe substantial loss 
carryforwards are available to us, no assurance can 
be given concerning the realization of such loss  

carryforwards, or whether or not such loss carryfor-
wards will be available in the future. These loss  
carryforwards are also considered in our calculation 
of taxes for each jurisdiction in which we operate. 
Additionally, we record reserves for uncertain tax 
positions which are subject to a significant level of 
management judgment related to the ultimate resolu-
tion of those tax positions. Accordingly, management 
believes that the estimate related to the provision for 
income taxes is critical to our results of operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 
and 2002, management made no material changes 
in its assumptions regarding the determination of 
the provision for income taxes. However, certain 
events could occur that would materially affect  
management’s estimates and assumptions regarding 
the deferred portion of our income tax provision, 
including estimates of future tax rates applicable 
to the reversal of tax differences, the classification 
of timing differences as temporary or permanent, 
reserves recorded for uncertain tax positions, and 
any valuation allowance recorded as a reduction to 
our deferred tax assets. Management’s assumptions 
related to the preparation of our income tax provi-
sion have historically proved to be reasonable in 
light of the ultimate amount tax liability due in all 
taxing jurisdictions.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, our pro-
vision for income taxes was $33.4 million, consist-
ing of $20.9 million of current tax expense and 
$12.5 million of deferred tax expense. Changes in 
management’s estimates and assumptions regarding 
the tax rate applied to deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties, the ability to realize the value of deferred tax 
assets, or the timing of the reversal of tax basis dif-
ferences could potentially impact the provision for 
income taxes. Changes in these assumptions could 
potentially change the effective tax rate. A 1% change 
in the effective tax rate from 10% to 11% would 
increase the current year income tax provision by 
approximately $3.4 million.

Insurance Reserves   Our operations are subject 
to many hazards inherent in the drilling, workover 
and well-servicing industries, including blowouts, 
cratering, explosions, fires, loss of well control, loss 
of hole, damaged or lost drilling equipment and 
damage or loss from inclement weather or natural 
disasters. Any of these hazards could result in per-
sonal injury or death, damage to or destruction of 
equipment and facilities, suspension of operations, 
environmental damage and damage to the property 
of others. Generally, drilling contracts provide for 
the division of responsibilities between a drilling 
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company and its customer, and we seek to obtain 
indemnification from our customers by contract 
for certain of these risks. To the extent that we 
are unable to transfer such risks to customers by 
contract or indemnification agreements, we seek 
protection through insurance. However, there is no 
assurance that such insurance or indemnification 
agreements will adequately protect us against liabil-
ity from all of the consequences of the hazards 
described above. Moreover, our insurance coverage 
generally provides that we assume a portion of the 
risk in the form of an insurance coverage deductible.

Based on the risks discussed above, it is neces-
sary for us to estimate the level of our liability 
related to insurance and record reserves for these 
amounts in our consolidated financial statements. 
Reserves related to insurance are based on the facts 
and circumstances specific to the insurance claims 
and our past experience with similar claims. The 
actual outcome of insured claims could differ signifi-
cantly from estimated amounts. We maintain actuari-
ally-determined accruals in our consolidated balance 
sheets to cover self-insurance retentions for workers’ 
compensation, employers’ liability, general liability 
and automobile liability claims. These accruals are 
based on certain assumptions developed utilizing 
historical data to project future losses. Loss esti-
mates in the calculation of these accruals are 
adjusted based upon actual claim settlements and 
reported claims. These loss estimates and accruals 
recorded in our financial statements for claims have 
historically been reasonable in light of the actual 
amount of claims paid.

As the determination of our liability for insurance 
claims is subject to significant management judgment 
and in certain instances is based on actuarially esti-
mated and calculated amounts, and such liabilities 
could be material in nature, management believes 
that accounting estimates related to insurance 
reserves are critical.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 
and 2002, no significant changes have been made 
to the methodology utilized to estimate insurance 
reserves. For purposes of earnings sensitivity analy-
sis, if the December 31, 2004 reserves for insurance 
were adjusted (increased or decreased) by 10%, total 
costs and other deductions would have changed by 
$9.8 million, or .5%.

Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities 
Assumed   We have completed a number of large 
acquisitions in recent years as discussed in Note 3 to 
our accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
In conjunction with our accounting for these acqui-
sitions, it was necessary for us to estimate the values 
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the 
various business combinations, which involved the 
use of various assumptions. These estimates may be 
affected by such factors as changing market condi-
tions, technological advances in the industry or 
changes in regulations governing the industry. The 
most significant assumptions, and the ones requiring 
the most judgment, involve the estimated fair values 
of property, plant and equipment, and the resulting 
amount of goodwill, if any. Unforeseen changes in 
operations or technology could substantially alter 
management’s assumptions and could result in lower 
estimates of values of acquired assets or of future 
cash flows. This could result in impairment charges 
being recorded in our consolidated statements of 
income. As the determination of the fair value of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed is subject to 
significant management judgment and a change in 
purchase price allocations could result in a material 
difference in amounts recorded in our consolidated 
financial statements, management believes that 
accounting estimates related to the valuation of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are critical.

The determination of the fair value of assets and 
liabilities is based on the market for the assets and 
the settlement value of the liabilities. These esti-
mates are made by management based on our expe-
rience with similar assets and liabilities. For the 
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, no 
significant changes have been made to the method-
ology utilized to value assets acquired or liabilities 
assumed. As we have not recorded any significant 
impairment charges on property, plant and equip-
ment or goodwill in either of the years ended 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, our estimates 
of the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed have proved to be reliable.

Given the nature of the evaluation of the fair 
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and 
the application to specific assets and liabilities, it is 
not possible to reasonably quantify the impact of 
changes in these assumptions.
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Item 7A  Quantitative and Qualitative 
Disclosures About Market Risk  

We may be exposed to certain market risks aris-
ing from the use of financial instruments in the ordi-
nary course of business. This risk arises primarily 
as a result of potential changes in the fair market 
value of financial instruments that would result from 
adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange 
rates, credit risk, interest rates, and marketable and 
non-marketable security prices as discussed below.

Foreign Currency Risk
We operate in a number of international areas 

and are involved in transactions denominated in 
currencies other than U.S. dollars, which exposes us 
to foreign exchange rate risk. The most significant 
exposures arise in connection with our operations in 
Canada, which usually are substantially unhedged.

At various times, we utilize local currency bor-
rowings (foreign currency-denominated debt), the 
payment structure of customer contracts and foreign 
exchange contracts to selectively hedge our exposure 
to exchange rate fluctuations in connection with 
monetary assets, liabilities, cash flows and commit-
ments denominated in certain foreign currencies. 
A foreign exchange contract is a foreign currency 
transaction, defined as an agreement to exchange 
different currencies at a given future date and at a 
specified rate. A hypothetical 10% decrease in the 
value of all our foreign currencies relative to the 
U.S. dollar as of December 31, 2004 would result in 
a $15.5 million decrease in the fair value of our net 
monetary assets denominated in currencies other 
than U.S. dollars.

Credit Risk
Our financial instruments that potentially subject 

us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily 
of cash equivalents, investments and marketable and 
non-marketable securities, accounts receivable, and 
our interest rate swap and range cap and floor trans-
actions. Cash equivalents such as deposits and tem-
porary cash investments are held by major banks 
or investment firms. Our investments in marketable 
and non-marketable securities are managed within 
established guidelines which limit the amounts that 
may be invested with any one issuer and which pro-
vide guidance as to issuer credit quality. We believe 
that the credit risk in such instruments is minimal. 
In addition, our trade receivables are with a variety 
of U.S., international and foreign-country national 
oil and gas companies. Management considers this 

credit risk to be limited due to the financial resources 
of these companies. We perform ongoing credit eval-
uations of our customers and we generally do not 
require material collateral. We maintain reserves 
for potential credit losses, and such losses have  
been within management’s expectations.

Interest Rate, and Marketable and  
Non-Marketable Security Price Risk

Our financial instruments that are potentially  
sensitive to changes in interest rates include our 
$1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior 
debentures, our $700 million zero coupon senior 
exchangeable notes, our 4.875% and 5.375% senior 
notes, our interest rate swap and range cap and floor 
transactions, our investments in debt securities (includ-
ing corporate, asset-backed, U.S. Government, Govern-
ment agencies, foreign government, mortgage-backed 
debt and mortgage-CMO debt securities) and our 
investment in overseas funds investing primarily in 
a variety of public and private U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities (including asset-backed securities and 
mortgage-backed securities, global structured asset 
securitizations, whole loan mortgages, and partici-
pations in whole loans and whole loan mortgages), 
which are classified as non-marketable securities.

We may utilize derivative financial instruments 
that are intended to manage our exposure to interest 
rate risks. The use of derivative financial instru-
ments could expose us to further credit risk and 
market risk. Credit risk in this context is the failure 
of a counterparty to perform under the terms of the 
derivative contract. When the fair value of a deriva-
tive contract is positive, the counterparty would owe 
us, which can create credit risk for us. When the fair 
value of a derivative contract is negative, we would 
owe the counterparty, and therefore, we would not 
be exposed to credit risk. We attempt to minimize 
credit risk in derivative instruments by entering into 
transactions with major financial institutions that 
have a significant asset base. Market risk related to 
derivatives is the adverse effect to the value of a 
financial instrument that results from changes in 
interest rates. We try to manage market risk associ-
ated with interest-rate contracts by establishing and 
monitoring parameters that limit the type and 
degree of market risk that we undertake.

Our $700 million zero coupon senior exchange-
able notes include a contingent interest provision, 
discussed under Liquidity and Capital Resources 
above, which qualifies as an embedded derivative 
under SFAS 133, as amended by SFAS 149. This 
embedded derivative is required to be separated 
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from the notes and valued at its fair value at the 
inception of the note indenture. Any subsequent 
change in fair value of this embedded derivative 
would be recorded in our consolidated statements 
of income. The fair value of the contingent interest 
provision at inception of the note indenture was 
nominal. In addition, there was no significant 
change in the fair value of this embedded derivative 
through December 31, 2004, resulting in no impact 
on our consolidated statements of income for the 
year ended December 31, 2004.

On October 21, 2002, we entered into an interest 
rate swap transaction with a third-party financial 
institution to hedge our exposure to changes in the 
fair value of $200 million of our fixed rate 5.375% 
senior notes due 2012, which has been designated 
as a fair value hedge under SFAS 133, as amended 
by SFAS 149. Additionally, on October 21, 2002, we 
purchased a LIBOR range cap and sold a LIBOR 
floor, in the form of a cashless collar, with the same 
third-party financial institution with the intention of 
mitigating and managing our exposure to changes in 
the three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR rate. This trans-
action does not qualify for hedge accounting treat-
ment under SFAS 133, as amended by SFAS 149, 
and any change in the cumulative fair value of this 
transaction will be reflected as a gain or loss in our 
consolidated statements of income.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, we recorded interest savings related 
to our interest rate swap agreement accounted for as 
a fair value hedge of $6.5 million, $6.8 million and 
$1.2 million, respectively, which served to reduce 
interest expense. The fair value of our interest rate 
swap agreement is recorded as a derivative asset, 

included in other long-term assets, and totaled 
approximately $4.6 million and $4.2 million as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The  
carrying value of our 5.375% senior notes has 
been increased by the same amount as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 and 2003.

The fair value of our range cap and floor transac-
tion is recorded as a derivative asset, included in 
other long-term assets, and totaled approximately 
$.3 million as of December 31, 2004, and is recorded 
as a derivative liability, included in other long-term 
liabilities, and totaled approximately $3.7 million and 
$3.8 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. In June 2004 we unwound $100 million 
of the $200 million range cap and floor derivative 
instrument. We recorded gains of approximately 
$2.4 million and losses of approximately $1.1 mil-
lion and $3.8 million for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related 
to this derivative instrument; such amounts are 
included in losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, 
impairment charges and other expense (income), net 
in our consolidated statements of income.

A hypothetical 10% adverse shift in quoted inter-
est rates as of December 31, 2004 would decrease 
the fair values of our interest rate swap, and range 
cap and floor, by approximately $5.6 million and 
$.5 million, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value of our fixed rate long-term debt is 

estimated based on quoted market prices or prices 
quoted from third-party financial institutions. The 
carrying and fair values of our long-term debt, 
including the current portion, are as follows: 

 December 31,

(In thousands, except interest rates)  2004   2003

 Effective   Effective   
 Interest Carrying  Interest Carrying  
 Rate Value Fair Value Rate Value Fair Value

4.875% senior notes due August 2009  5.00% $ 223,764 $ 232,058 4.88% $ 223,499 $ 234,585
5.375% senior notes due August 2012  3.09%(1)  277,922(2)  292,454(2) 2.91%(1)  277,248(2)  290,813(2)

$700 million zero coupon senior  
 exchangeable notes due June 2023  0%  700,000  668,581 0%  700,000  643,651 
$1.381 billion zero coupon convertible  
 senior debentures due February 2021  2.5%(3)  804,550  797,233 2.5%(3)  784,807  780,880 
6.8% senior notes due April 2004(4)  N/A  –  – 6.8%  295,267  299,681 
Other long-term debt  0%  –  – 8.25%  4,117  4,117

    $ 2,006,236 $ 1,990,326  $ 2,284,938 $ 2,253,727

(1)  Includes the effect of interest savings realized from the interest rate swap executed on October 21, 2002.
(2) Includes $4.6 million and $4.2 million related to the fair value of the interest rate swap as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
(3) Represents the rate at which accretion of the original discount at issuance of these debentures is charged to interest expense.
(4)  Our 6.8% senior notes due April 2004 were redeemed upon maturity in April 2004.
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The fair values of our cash equivalents, trade 
receivables and trade payables approximate their 
carrying values due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Our cash and cash equivalents and 

investments in marketable debt and equity securities 
are included in the table below. The table provided 
below does not include our investments in non- 
marketable securities, which are carried at cost.

Our investments in marketable debt securities 
listed in the above table and a portion of our invest-
ment in non-marketable securities are sensitive to 
changes in interest rates. Additionally, our investment 
portfolio of marketable debt and equity securities, 

which are carried at fair value, expose us to price 
risk. A hypothetical 10% decrease in the market 
prices for all marketable securities as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 would decrease the fair value of our 
available-for-sale securities by $86.8 million.

 December 31,

(In thousands, except interest rates)  2004   2003

   Weighted-   Weighted- 
   Average Life   Average Life 
 Fair Value Interest Rates (Years) Fair Value Interest Rates (Years)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 384,709 .88%–2.56% .1 $ 579,737 .71%–1.87% .1 
Available-for-sale marketable  
 equity securities  40,723 N/A N/A  48,843 N/A N/A 
Marketable debt securities:   
 Commercial paper and CDs  6,970 2.30% .2  50,743 1.40% .1 
 Corporate debt securities  384,569 2.12%–8.85% .5  319,327 1.26%–8.85% 1.2 
 U.S. Government debt securities  – – –  7,103 4.75%–5.87% .4 
 Government agencies debt securities  97,515 2.13%–3.88% .3  285,358 1.25%–5.63% 1.0 
 Mortgage-backed debt securities  – – –  119 7.50% – 
 Mortgage-CMO debt securities  26,326 2.67%–5.00% .6  29,275 4.50%–5.00% – 
 Asset-backed debt securities  311,701 1.41%–6.53% 1.0  211,585 1.35%–6.79% .9

    $ 1,252,513   $ 1,532,090
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Management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining an adequate system of internal control 
over financial reporting. Our internal control over 
financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. Our inter-
nal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the main-
tenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accu-
rately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-
tions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial state-
ments in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expen-
ditures of the Company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reason-
able assurance regarding prevention or timely detec-
tion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition 
of the Company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of 
internal control over financial reporting can provide 
only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or 
detect misstatements. Further, because of changes in 
conditions, effectiveness of internal controls over 
financial reporting may vary over time.

Management conducted an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on the framework in Inter-
nal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evalu-
ation, management concluded that the Company’s 
system of internal control over financial reporting 
was effective as of December 31, 2004. Manage-
ment’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004 has been audited by Pricewater-
houseCoopers LLP, an independent registered pub-
lic accounting firm, as stated in their report included 
below which expresses an unqualified opinion on 
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004.

Management’s  Report on  

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

~  N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s  ~



~ 83 ~

To the Shareholders and Board of  
Directors of Nabors Industries Ltd.:

We have completed an integrated audit of Nabors 
Industries Ltd.’s 2004 consolidated financial state-
ments and of its internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its 
2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the standards of the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented 
below.

Consolidated financial statements 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheets and the related consolidated state-
ments of income, of cash flows and of changes in 
shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Nabors Industries 
Ltd. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 
2003, and the results of their operations and their 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-
cial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits of these statements in accordance with the 

standards of the Public Company Accounting Over-
sight Board (United States). Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit of 
financial statements includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting 
Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, 

included in the accompanying Management’s Report 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that 
the Company maintained effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis-
sion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based 
on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the 
Company maintained, in all material respects, effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Report of Independent Registered  

Public Accounting Firm

~  N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s  ~
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Treadway Commission. The Company’s management 
is responsible for maintaining effective internal con-
trol over financial reporting and for its assessment of 
the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions 
on management’s assessment and on the effective-
ness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit of internal control over financial reporting in 
accordance with the standards of the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects.  
An audit of internal control over financial reporting 
includes obtaining an understanding of internal  
control over financial reporting, evaluating manage-
ment’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and 
performing such other procedures as we consider 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial report-
ing is a process designed to provide reasonable assur-
ance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for exter-
nal purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control 
over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of 

records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and 
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as neces-
sary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unau-
thorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the com-
pany’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal con-
trol over financial reporting may not prevent or 
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evalu-
ation of effectiveness to future periods are subject 
to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with the policies or procedures  
may deteriorate.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP 

Houston, Texas 
March 7, 2005

Report of Independent Registered  

Public Accounting Firm (continued)

~  N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s  ~
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 December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003

A s s e t s  
Current assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 384,709 $ 579,737 
 Marketable securities  428,342  339,936 
 Accounts receivable, net  540,103  410,487 
 Inventory  28,653  23,289 
 Deferred income taxes  39,599  36,442 
 Non-maketable securities  87,500  47,000 
 Other current assets  72,068  78,756

  Total current assets  1,580,974  1,515,647

Marketable securities  439,462  612,417 
Property, plant and equipment, net  3,275,495  2,990,792 
Goodwill, net  327,225  315,627 
Other long-term assets  239,453  168,209

  Total assets $ 5,862,609 $ 5,602,692

L i a b i l i t i e s  a n d  S h a r e h o l d e r s ’  E q u i t y  
Current liabilities: 
 Current portion of long-term debt $ 804,550 $ 299,385 
 Trade accounts payable  211,600  128,840 
 Accrued liabilities  171,234  160,745 
 Income taxes payable  11,932  9,403

  Total current liabilities  1,199,316  598,373

Long-term debt  1,201,686  1,985,553 
Other long-term liabilities  146,337  155,667 
Deferred income taxes  385,877  372,824

  Total liabilities  2,933,216  3,112,417

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Shareholders’ equity: 
 Common shares, par value $.001 per share: 
  Authorized common shares 400,000;  
   issued 149,861 and 146,656, respectively   150  147 
 Capital in excess of par value  1,358,374  1,270,362 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income  148,229  99,583 
 Retained earnings  1,422,640  1,120,183

  Total shareholders’ equity  2,929,393  2,490,275

  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 5,862,609 $ 5,602,692

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

Revenues and other income:
 Operating revenues $ 2,394,031 $ 1,880,003 $ 1,466,443 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  4,057  10,183  14,775 
 Investment income  50,064  33,813  36,961

  Total revenues and other income  2,448,152  1,923,999  1,518,179

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  1,572,649  1,276,953  973,910 
 General and administrative expenses  195,388  165,403  141,895 
 Depreciation and amortization  254,939  226,528  187,665 
 Depletion  45,460  8,599  7,700 
 Interest expense  48,507  70,740  67,068 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, 
  impairment charges and other expense (income), net  (4,629)  1,153  (833)

  Total costs and other deductions  2,112,314  1,749,376  1,377,405

Income before income taxes   335,838  174,623  140,774

Income tax expense (benefit): 
 Current  20,867  8,494  10,185 
 Deferred  12,514  (26,099)  9,100

  Total income tax expense (benefit)  33,381  (17,605)  19,285

Net income $ 302,457 $ 192,228 $ 121,489

Earnings per share:
 Basic $ 2.03 $ 1.31 $ .85 
 Diluted $ 1.92 $ 1.25 $ .81

Weighted average number of common
 shares outstanding:
 Basic  148,936  146,495  143,655
 Diluted  164,030  156,897  149,997

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2004  2003  2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 302,457 $ 192,228 $ 121,489 
Adjustments to net income: 
 Depreciation and amortization  254,939  226,528  187,665 
 Depletion  45,460  8,599  7,700 
 Deferred income tax expense (benefit)   12,514  (26,099)  9,100 
 Deferred financing costs amortization  5,058  5,464  5,122 
 Pension liability amortization  856  –  – 
 Discount amortization on long-term debt  20,244  25,521  30,790 
 Amortization of loss on cash flow hedges  151  150  50 
 Losses (gains) on long-term assets, net  874  (2,476)  (4,570) 
 Gains on marketable and non-marketable securities, net  (20,638)  (6,145)  (2,877) 
 (Gains) losses on derivative instruments  (2,363)  1,140  1,983 
 Sales of marketable securities, trading  –  4,484  – 
 Foreign currency transaction gains    (755)  (830)  (486) 
 Loss on early extinguishment of debt    –  908  202 
 Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of dividends  (2,057)  (919)  (4,900) 
Increase (decrease), net of effects from acquisitions, from changes in: 
 Accounts receivable  (129,684)  (30,660)  90,401 
 Inventory  (4,905)  (5,695)  1,712 
 Other current assets  13,847   (61)  (15,855) 
 Other long-term assets  8,946  (9,435)  (29,717) 
 Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities  84,646  22,586  (26,443) 
 Income taxes payable  (7,503)  1,454  11,725 
 Other long-term liabilities  (18,889)  (11,004)  17,785

Net cash provided by operating activities  563,198  395,738  400,876

Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of marketable securities, available-for-sale  (746,403)  (1,429,545)  (745,383) 
 Sales and maturities of marketable securities, available-for-sale  838,816  1,393,638  542,133 
 Purchases of non-marketable securities  (173,533)  (47,002)  (15,000) 
 Sales of non-marketable securities  69,793  17,506  – 
 Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses, net  –  –  (135,652) 
 Capital expenditures  (544,429)  (353,138)  (326,536) 
 Cash paid for other current assets  –  –  (8,725) 
 Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims  6,879  10,476  34,877 
 Investments on affiliate  (200)  (175)  –

Net cash used for investing activities  (549,077)  (408,240)  (654,286)

Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Increase (decrease) in cash overdrafts  9,865  (778)  (3,658) 
 Decrease in restricted cash  109  1,925  210 
 Decrease in short-term borrowings, net  –  –  (844) 
 Proceeds from long-term debt  –  700,000  495,904 
 Reduction of long-term debt  (302,411)  (544,479)  (30,831) 
 Debt issuance costs  –  (11,525)  (2,945) 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  71,248  26,341  12,850 
 Repurchase of common shares  –  –  (2,486) 
 Payments related to cash flow hedges  –  –  (1,494)

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities  (221,189)  171,484  466,706

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  12,040  6,704  2,312

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (195,028)  165,686  215,608 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  579,737  414,051  198,443

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 384,709 $ 579,737 $ 414,051

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



Consolidated Statements of  

Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 

~  N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s  ~

 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

    Unrealized Minimum Unrealized 
 Common Shares  Capital in Gains (Losses) Pension Loss on  Cumulative  Total
   Excess on Marketable Liability Cash Flow  Translation Retained Treasury Shareholders’
 Shares Par Value of Par Value Securities Adjustment Hedges Adjustment Earnings Stock Equity

(In thousands)

Balances, December 31, 2001 147,711 $ 14,771 $ 1,091,536 $ 12,410 $ – $ – $ (9,150) $ 1,001,079 $ (252,780) $ 1,857,866

Comprehensive income (loss): 
 Net income               121,489    121,489 
 Translation adjustment             3,910      3,910 
 Unrealized losses on  
  marketable securities,  
  net of income tax  
  benefit of $3,118       (5,309)            (5,309) 
  Less: reclassification  
   adjustment for gains  
   included in net income,  
   net of income taxes  
   of $855       (1,455)            (1,455) 
 Minimum pension liability 
  adjustment, net of  
  income taxes $1,295         (2,205)          (2,205) 
 Unrealized loss on and  
  amortization of loss on  
  cash flow hedges, net of  
  income taxes of $848           (1,444)        (1,444)

  Total comprehensive  
   income (loss) –  –  –  (6,764)  (2,205)  (1,444)  3,910  121,489  –  114,986

Issuance of common shares  
 for stock options exercised 806  64  10,210              10,274 
Issuance of common shares  
 in connection with the  
 Bayard warrants exercised 18  2  (2)              – 
Issuance of common shares  
 in connection with the  
 Enserco acquisition 2,638  264  162,497              162,761 
Issuance of common shares  
 in connection with the  
 Ryan acquisition 220    11,636              11,636 
Nabors Exchangeco  
 shares exchanged 485  19  (19)              – 
Tax effect of stock  
 option deductions     842              842 
Repurchase of common shares (91)    (799)          (1,687)    (2,486) 
Put option on common shares     2,576              2,576 
Retirement of treasury stock (6,822)  (682)  (59,172)          (192,926)  252,780  – 
Change in par value   (14,293)  14,293              –

  Subtotal (2,746)  (14,626)  142,062  –  –  –  –  (194,613)  252,780  185,603

Balances, December 31, 2002 144,965 $ 145 $ 1,233,598 $ 5,646 $ (2,205) $ (1,444) $ (5,240) $ 927,955 $ – $ 2,158,455

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

    Unrealized Minimum Unrealized 
 Common Shares Capital in Gains (Losses)  Pension Loss on Cumulative    Total
   Excess on Marketable Liability Cash Flow  Translation Retained Treasury Shareholders’
 Shares Par Value of Par Value Securities Adjustment Hedges Adjustment Earnings Stock Equity

(In thousands)

Balances, December 31, 2002 144,965 $ 145 $ 1,233,598 $ 5,646 $ (2,205) $ (1,444) $ (5,240) $ 927,955 $ – $ 2,158,455

Comprehensive income (loss): 
 Net income               192,228    192,228 
 Translation adjustment             103,963      103,963 
 Unrealized gains on  
  marketable securities,  
  net of income taxes 
  of $867       1,476            1,476 
  Less: reclassification 
   adjustment for gains  
   included in net income,  
   net of income taxes  
   of $1,264       (2,153)            (2,153) 
 Minimum pension  
  liability adjustment, net  
  of income taxes $358         (610)          (610) 
 Amortization of loss on 
  cash flow hedges           150        150

  Total comprehensive  
   income (loss) –  –  –  (677)  (610)  150  103,963  192,228  –  295,054

Issuance of common shares  
 for stock options exercised 1,234  2  20,339              20,341 
Issuance of common shares  
 in connection with the New 
 Prospect warrants exercised 200    6,000              6,000 
Issuance of common shares  
 in connection with the 
 Enserco warrants exercised 49                  – 
Nabors Exchangeco  
 shares exchanged 208                  – 
Tax effect of stock  
 option deductions     10,425              10,425

  Subtotal 1,691  2  36,764  –  –  –  –  –  –  36,766

Balances, December 31, 2003 146,656 $ 147 $ 1,270,362 $ 4,969 $ (2,815) $ (1,294) $ 98,723 $ 1,120,183 $ – $ 2,490,275

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

    Unrealized Minimum Unrealized 
 Common Shares Capital in Gains (Losses)  Pension Loss on Cumulative    Total
   Excess on Marketable Liability Cash Flow  Translation Retained Treasury Shareholders’
 Shares Par Value of Par Value Securities Adjustment Hedges Adjustment Earnings Stock Equity

(In thousands)

Balances, December 31, 2003 146,656 $ 147 $ 1,270,362 $ 4,969 $ (2,815) $ (1,294) $ 98,723 $ 1,120,183 $ – $ 2,490,275

Comprehensive income (loss): 
 Net income               302,457    302,457 
 Translation adjustment             52,797      52,797 
 Unrealized gains on  
  marketable securities,  
  net of income tax 
  benefit of $1,138       8,395            8,395 
  Less: reclassification 
   adjustment for gains  
   included in net income,  
   net of income taxes  
   of $850       (13,093)            (13,093) 
 Pension liability amortization,  
 net of income taxes of $233         396          396 
 Amortization of loss on 
  cash flow hedges           151        151

  Total comprehensive  
   income (loss) –  –  –  (4,698)  396  151  52,797  302,457  –  351,103

Issuance of common shares  
 for stock options exercised 3,045  3  71,245              71,248 
Nabors Exchangeco  
 shares exchanged 160                  – 
Tax effect of stock  
 option deductions     16,767              16,767

  Subtotal 3,205  3  88,012  –  –  –  –  –  –  88,015

Balances, December 31, 2004 149,861 $ 150 $ 1,358,374 $ 271 $ (2,419) $ (1,143) $ 151,520 $ 1,422,640 $ – $ 2,929,393

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

~  N a b o r s  I n d u s t r i e s  L t d .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s  ~

1  Nature of Operations and  
Basis of Presentation

Nabors is the largest land drilling contractor 
in the world. We conduct oil, gas and geothermal 
land drilling operations in the U.S. Lower 48 states, 
Alaska, Canada, South and Central America, the 
Middle East, the Far East and Africa. Nabors also is 
one of the largest land well-servicing and workover 
contractors in the United States and Canada and  
is a leading provider of offshore platform workover 
and drilling rigs in the United States and multiple 
international markets. To further supplement and 
complement our primary business, we offer a wide 
range of ancillary well-site services, including engi-
neering, transportation, construction, maintenance, 
well logging, directional drilling, rig instrumentation, 
data collection and other support services, in selected 
domestic and international markets. We have also 
made selective investments in oil and gas exploration, 
development and production activities.

The majority of our business is conducted 
through our various Contract Drilling operating  
segments, which include our drilling, workover 
and well-servicing operations, on land and offshore. 
Our limited oil and gas exploration, development 
and production operations are included in a category 
labeled Oil and Gas for segment reporting purposes. 
Our operating segments engaged in marine trans-
portation and supply services, drilling technology 
and top drive manufacturing, directional drilling, 
rig instrumentation and software, and construction 
and logistics operations are aggregated in a category 
labeled Other Operating Segments for segment 
reporting purposes.

The accompanying consolidated financial  
statements and related footnotes are presented in 
accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). 
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior 
periods to conform to the current period presen-
tation, with no effect on our consolidated financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows.

2  Summary of Significant  
Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation
Our consolidated financial statements include the 

accounts of Nabors, all majority-owned subsidiaries, 
and all non-majority owned subsidiaries required 
to be consolidated under Financial Accounting  
Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46R, 
which are not material to our financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows. All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions are elimi-
nated in consolidation.

Investments in entities where we have the ability 
to exert significant influence, but where we do not 
control their operating and financial policies, are 
accounted for using the equity method. Our share 
of the net income of these entities is recorded as 
Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates in our con-
solidated statements of income, and our investment 
in these entities is carried as a single amount in 
our consolidated balance sheets. Investments in 
net assets of unconsolidated affiliates accounted for 
using the equity method totaled $67.1 million and 
$58.1 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively, and are included in other long-term 
assets in our consolidated balance sheets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include demand 

deposits and various other short-term investments 
with original maturities of three months or less.

Marketable and Non-Marketable Securities
Marketable securities consist of equity securities, 

certificates of deposit, corporate debt securities, 
U.S. Government debt securities, Government  
agencies debt securities, foreign government debt 
securities, mortgage-backed debt securities and 
asset-backed debt securities. Securities classified 
as available-for-sale or trading are stated at fair 
value. Unrealized holding gains and temporary 
losses for available-for-sale securities are excluded 
from earnings and, until realized, are reported net  
of taxes in a separate component of shareholders’ 
equity. Other than temporary losses are included in 
earnings. Unrealized and realized gains and losses 
on securities classified as trading are reported in 
earnings currently.
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In computing realized gains and losses on the sale 
of equity securities, the specific identification method 
is used. In accordance with this method, the cost of 
the equity securities sold is determined using the spe-
cific cost of the security when originally purchased.

We are also invested in overseas funds investing 
primarily in a variety of public and private U.S. and 
non-U.S. securities (including asset-backed securities 
and mortgage-backed securities, global structured 
asset securitizations, whole loan mortgages, and  
participations in whole loans and whole loan mort-
gages). These investments are classified as non- 
marketable, because they do not have published fair 
values, and are recorded at cost in our consolidated 
balance sheets as a component of other current 
assets. Gains or losses are realized, as other income, 
when distributions are made from the funds.

Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or mar- 

ket. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out 
(“FIFO”) method and includes the cost of materials, 
labor and manufacturing overhead.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including renewals 

and betterments, are stated at cost, while maintenance 
and repairs are expensed currently. Interest costs 
applicable to the construction of qualifying assets are 
capitalized as a component of the cost of such assets. 
We provide for the depreciation of our drilling and 
workover rigs using the units-of-production method 
over an approximate 4,900-day period, with the 
exception of our jack-up rigs which are depreciated 
over an 8,030-day period, after provision for salvage 
value. When our drilling and workover rigs are not 
operating, a depreciation charge is provided using 
the straight-line method over an assumed deprecia-
ble life of 20 years, with the exception of our jack-up 
rigs, where a 30-year depreciable life is used.

Depreciation on our buildings, well-servicing rigs, 
oilfield hauling and mobile equipment, marine trans-
portation and supply vessels, and other machinery 
and equipment is computed using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful life of the asset 
after provision for salvage value (buildings – 10 to 
30 years; well-servicing rigs – 3 to 15 years; marine 
transportation and supply vessels – 10 to 25 years; 
oilfield hauling and mobile equipment and other 
machinery and equipment – 3 to 10 years). Amorti-
zation of capitalized leases is included in deprecia-
tion and amortization expense. Upon retirement or 
other disposal of fixed assets, the cost and related 

accumulated depreciation are removed from the 
respective accounts and any gains or losses are 
included in our results of operations.

We review our assets for impairment when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net book 
value of property, plant and equipment may not be 
recovered over its remaining service life. Provisions 
for asset impairment are charged to income when 
the sum of estimated future cash flows, on an undis-
counted basis, is less than the asset’s net book value. 
Impairment charges are recorded using discounted 
cash flows which requires the estimation of dayrates 
and utilization, and such estimates can change based 
on market conditions, technological advances in 
the industry or changes in regulations governing the 
industry. There were no impairment charges related 
to assets held for use recorded by Nabors in 2004, 
2003 or 2002. In 2002 we reclassified four supply 
vessels to held-for-sale as we intended to sell these 
vessels in 2003. Accordingly, we reduced the carry-
ing values of these assets to levels approximating 
their respective fair values, resulting in a charge to 
losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, impair-
ment charges and other expense (income), net of 
$3.7 million in 2002. Three of these supply vessels 
were sold in 2003 for amounts approximating their 
current carrying values, resulting in a gain of $.2 mil-
lion included in losses (gains) on sales of long- 
lived assets, impairment charges and other expense 
(income), net in our consolidated statement of 
income for the year ended December 31, 2003. 
The fourth supply vessel was sold in January 2004 
for an amount that approximated its carrying value.

Oil and Gas Properties
We follow the successful efforts method of 

accounting for our oil and gas activities. Under the 
successful efforts method, lease acquisition costs  
and all development costs are capitalized. Proved  
oil and gas properties are reviewed when circum-
stances suggest the need for such a review and, if 
required, the proved properties are written down to 
their estimated fair value. Unproved properties are 
reviewed quarterly to determine if there has been 
impairment of the carrying value, with any such 
impairment charged to expense in that period.  
Estimated fair value included the estimated present 
value of all reasonably expected future production, 
prices, and costs. Exploratory drilling costs are capi-
talized until the results are determined. If proved 
reserves are not discovered, the exploratory drilling 
costs are expensed. Interest costs related to financing 
major oil and gas projects in progress are capitalized 
until the projects are evaluated or until the projects 
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are substantially complete and ready for their 
intended use if the projects are evaluated as suc-
cessful. Other exploratory costs are expensed as 
incurred. Our provision for depletion is based on 
the capitalized costs as determined above and is 
determined on a property-by-property basis using 
the units-of-production method, with costs being 
amortized over proved developed reserves.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the cost in excess of fair value 

of the net assets of companies acquired. Effective 
January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS 142 supersedes 
Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 17, 
which stated that goodwill acquired as a result of a 
purchase method business combination and all other 
intangible assets were subject to amortization. APB 17 
also mandated a maximum period of 40 years for that 
amortization. SFAS 142 presumes that all goodwill 
and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives 
will not be subject to amortization, but rather will be 
tested at least annually for impairment. In addition, the 
standard provides specific guidance on how to deter-
mine and measure goodwill impairment. Intangible 
assets that have finite useful lives will continue to be 
amortized over their useful lives, but without the con-
straint of a 40-year maximum amortization period.

During the second quarter of 2002 we performed 
our initial goodwill impairment assessment as 
required by SFAS 142. As part of that assessment, 
we determined that our 11 business units, as of  
January 1, 2002, represented our reporting units as 
defined by SFAS 142. We determined the aggregate 
carrying values and fair values of all such reporting 
units, which were measured as of the January 1, 
2002 adoption date. We calculated the fair value of 
each reporting unit based on discounted cash flows 
and determined there was no goodwill impairment. 
In instances where assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are assigned 
solely to one of our business units, the amount of 
goodwill resulting from that acquisition is assigned 
in full to that business unit. In instances where assets 
and liabilities are split between more than one busi-
ness unit, we assign goodwill to our business units 
based on the respective fair values of the fixed assets 
assigned to each business unit. In the second quarters 
of 2003 and 2004 we performed our annual assess-
ments of goodwill impairment and determined there 
was no goodwill impairment in either year.

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill 
for our various Contract Drilling segments and our 
Other Operating Segments for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

(In thousands) Balance as of Acquisitions and Cumulative Translation Reclassifications Balance as of  
 January 1, 2003 Purchase Price Adjustments Adjustment and Other December 31, 2003

Contract Drilling:  
 U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 28,700 $ – $ – $ 1,276 $ 29,976 
 U.S. Land Well-servicing  43,741  –  –  –  43,741 
 U.S. Offshore  29,583  –  –  (11,580)  18,003 
 Alaska  19,995  –  –  –  19,995 
 Canada  112,791  1,378  24,398  –  138,567 
 International  4,745  –  –  11,580  16,325

 Subtotal Contract Drilling  239,555  1,378  24,398  1,276  266,607 
Other Operating Segments  46,807  1,601  612  –  49,020

Total $ 286,362 $ 2,979 $ 25,010 $ 1,276 $ 315,627

(In thousands) Balance as of Acquisitions and Cumulative Translation Reclassifications Balance as of  
 December 31, 2003 Purchase Price Adjustments Adjustment and Other December 31, 2004

Contract Drilling:  
 U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 29,976 $ – $ – $ – $ 29,976 
 U.S. Land Well-servicing  43,741  –  –  –  43,741 
 U.S. Offshore  18,003  –  –  –  18,003 
 Alaska  19,995  –  –  –  19,995 
 Canada  138,567  –  10,930  –  149,497 
 International  16,325  –  –  2,658  18,983

 Subtotal Contract Drilling  266,607  –  10,930  2,658  280,195 
Other Operating Segments  49,020  –  226  (2,216)  47,030

Total $ 315,627 $ – $ 11,156 $ 442 $ 327,225

Our Oil and Gas segment does not have any goodwill. Goodwill totaling approximately $6.5 million is expected 
to be deductible for tax purposes.
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Derivative Financial Instruments
We record derivative financial instruments 

(including certain derivative instruments embedded 
in other contracts) in our consolidated balance 
sheets at fair value as either assets or liabilities. 
The accounting for changes in the fair value of  
a derivative instrument depends on the intended 
use of the derivative and the resulting designation, 
which is established at the inception of a derivative. 
Accounting for derivatives qualifying as fair value 
hedges allows a derivative’s gains and losses to offset 
related results on the hedged item in the statement 
of income. For derivative instruments designated as 
cash flow hedges, changes in fair value, to the extent 
the hedge is effective, are recognized in other com-
prehensive income until the hedged item is recog-
nized in earnings. Hedge effectiveness is measured 
quarterly based on the relative cumulative changes 
in fair value between the derivative contract and 
the hedged item over time. Any change in fair value 
resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized immedi-
ately in earnings. Any change in fair value of deriv-
ative financial instruments that are speculative in 
nature and do not qualify for hedge accounting 
treatment is also recognized immediately in earnings.

Litigation and Insurance Reserves
We estimate our reserves related to litigation 

and insurance based on the facts and circumstances 
specific to the litigation and insurance claims 
and our past experience with similar claims. We 
maintain actuarially-determined accruals in our  
consolidated balance sheets to cover self-insurance 
retentions (Note 13).

Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenues and costs on daywork  

contracts daily as the work progresses. For certain 
contracts, we receive lump-sum payments for the 
mobilization of rigs and other drilling equipment. 
Deferred fees related to mobilization periods are 
recognized over the term of the related drilling  
contract. Costs incurred to relocate rigs and other 
drilling equipment to areas in which a contract has 
not been secured are expensed as incurred.

We recognize revenue for top drives and instru-
mentation systems we manufacture when the earn-
ings process is complete. This generally occurs when 
products have been shipped, title and risk of loss 
have been transferred, collectibility is probable,  
and pricing is fixed and determinable.

We recognize, as operating revenue, proceeds 
from business interruption insurance claims in the 
period that the applicable proof of loss documenta-
tion is received. Proceeds from casualty insurance 
settlements in excess of the carrying value of dam-
aged assets are recognized in losses (gains) on sales 
of long-lived assets, impairment charges and other 
expense (income), net in the period that the appli-
cable proof of loss documentation is received.

We recognize reimbursements received for  
out-of-pocket expenses incurred as revenues and 
account for out-of-pocket expenses as direct costs.

We recognize revenue on our interests in oil and 
gas properties as production occurs and title passes.

Income Taxes
We are a Bermuda-exempt company and are not 

subject to income taxes in Bermuda. Consequently, 
income taxes have been provided based on the tax 
laws and rates in effect in the countries in which 
our operations are conducted and income is earned. 
The income taxes in these jurisdictions vary substan-
tially. Our effective tax rate for financial statement 
purposes will continue to fluctuate from year to 
year as our operations are conducted in different 
taxing jurisdictions.

For U.S. and other foreign jurisdiction income 
tax purposes, we have net operating and other loss 
carryforwards that we are required to assess annually 
for potential valuation allowances. We consider the 
sufficiency of existing temporary differences and 
expected future earnings levels in determining the 
amount, if any, of valuation allowance required 
against such carryforwards.

We do not provide for U.S. or foreign income 
or withholding taxes on unremitted earnings of all 
U.S. and certain foreign entities, as these earnings 
are considered permanently reinvested. Unremitted 
earnings, representing tax basis accumulated earn-
ings and profits, totaled approximately $289.9 million, 
$453.2 million and $377.2 million as of December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. It is not practi-
cable to estimate the amount of deferred income 
taxes associated with these unremitted earnings. The 
level of unremitted earnings as of December 31, 2004 
was impacted by a reorganization of our international 
subsidiaries completed in the fourth quarter of 2004.

In circumstances where our drilling rigs and other 
assets are operating in certain foreign taxing jurisdic-
tions, and it is expected that we will redeploy such 
assets before they give rise to future tax consequences, 
we do not recognize any deferred tax liabilities on 
the earnings from these assets.
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Nabors realizes an income tax benefit associated 
with certain stock options issued under its stock 
option plans. This benefit, which is not reflected 
in our consolidated income statements, results in a 
reduction in income taxes payable and an increase 
in capital in excess of par value.

Foreign Currency Translation
For certain of our foreign subsidiaries, such as 

those in Canada and Argentina, the local currency 
is the functional currency, and therefore translation 
gains or losses associated with foreign-denominated 
monetary accounts are accumulated in a separate 
section of shareholders’ equity. For our other interna-
tional subsidiaries, the U.S. dollar is the functional 
currency, and therefore local currency transaction 
gains and losses, arising from remeasurement of pay-
ables and receivables denominated in local currency, 
are included in our consolidated statements of income.

Stock-Based Compensation
We account for stock-based compensation using 

the intrinsic value method prescribed by APB Opinion 
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” 
Accordingly, compensation expense for stock options 

is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted  
market price of Nabors common shares at the date 
of grant over the amount an employee must pay to 
acquire the common shares. We grant options at prices 
equal to the market price of our shares on the date 
of grant and therefore do not record compensation 
expense related to these grants. SFAS No. 148, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – an 
Amendment to FAS 123,” requires companies that 
continue to account for stock-based compensation 
in accordance with APB 25 to disclose certain  
information using a tabular presentation. The table 
presented below illustrates the effect on our net 
income and earnings per share as if we had applied 
the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to our 
stock-based employee compensation. Under the provi-
sions of SFAS 123, compensation cost for stock-based 
compensation is determined based on fair values 
as of the dates of grant estimated using an option 
pricing model such as the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model (which we use in our calculations), 
and compensation cost is amortized over the  
applicable option vesting period.

The pro forma amounts above were estimated 
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with 
the following weighted-average assumptions for 
grants during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively: 
risk-free interest rates of 2.49%, 2.23% and 3.79%; 
volatility of 31.00%, 47.58% and 48.19%; dividend 
yield of 0.0% for all periods; and expected life of  
4.0 years for 2004 and 3.5 years for 2003 and 2002.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in con-

formity with GAAP requires management to make 
certain estimates and assumptions. These estimates 
and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the balance sheet date and the amounts 
of revenues and expenses recognized during the 

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  2004 2003 2002

Net income, as reported $ 302,457 $ 192,228 $ 121,489 
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined  
 under fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effects  (22,530)  (13,565)  (31,047)

Pro forma net income – basic  279,927  178,663  90,442

Add: Interest expense on assumed conversion of our zero coupon senior 
 convertible/exchangeable debentures/notes, net of tax (see Note 14)   12,438  3,639  –

Adjusted pro forma net income – diluted $ 292,365 $ 182,302 $ 90,442

Earnings per share: 
 Basic – as reported $ 2.03 $ 1.31 $ .85

 Basic – pro forma $ 1.88 $ 1.22 $ .63

 Diluted – as reported $ 1.92 $ 1.25 $ .81

 Diluted – pro forma $ 1.78 $ 1.16 $ .60
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reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
such estimates. Areas where critical accounting  
estimates are made by management include:
•  depreciation and amortization of property,  

plant and equipment 
• impairment of long-lived assets 
• income taxes 
• insurance reserves 
• fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
As discussed under Stock-Based Compensation 

above, we currently account for stock-based compen-
sation as prescribed by APB 25, and because we 
grant options at prices equal to the market price of 
our shares on the date of the grant we do not record 
compensation expense related to these grants. On 
December 16, 2004, the FASB issued a revision 
to SFAS No. 123, “Share-Based Payment,” which 
will eliminate our ability to account for stock-based 
compensation using APB 25 and instead would 
require us to account for stock option awards using 
a fair-value based method resulting in compensation 
expense for stock option awards. The statement will 
be effective for stock options granted, modified, or 
settled in cash in interim and annual periods begin-
ning after June 15, 2005. Additionally, for stock 
options granted or modified after December 15, 1994 
that have not vested as of the effective date of the 
statement, compensation cost will be measured and 
recorded based on the same estimates of fair value 
calculated as of the date of grant as currently dis-
closed within the table required by SFAS No. 148, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – an 
Amendment to FAS 123,” presented above. The 
statement may have a material adverse effect on 
our results of operations during the periods of  
adoption and annual and interim periods thereafter. 
If this statement had been adopted in its current 
form as of January 1, 2004, we would have recorded 
additional compensation expense, net of related tax 
effects, of approximately $22.5 million during 2004 
and our diluted earnings per share for 2004 would 
have been reduced by $.14 per share.

In October 2004 the FASB ratified the consensus 
reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 
in EITF 04-8, which addresses the issue of when 
the dilutive effect of contingently convertible debt 
instruments should be included in diluted earnings 
per share computations. Based on the concepts 
described in EITF 04-8, we will be required to treat 

our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable 
notes as converted for purposes of computing 
diluted earnings per share, regardless of whether 
any triggering contingency has been met or is likely 
to be met. The provisions in EITF 04-8 are effec-
tive for periods ending after December 15, 2004, 
including the year ended December 31, 2004. As 
a result of this accounting change, we are required 
to include additional common shares in the denomi-
nator of our diluted earnings per share calculation 
in all periods where the price for our shares exceeds 
$70.10. These additional shares represent the value 
in excess of the principal amount of the notes and 
would be calculated using the treasury stock method. 
We do not expect this accounting change to have a 
material effect on our financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows.

In January 2003 the FASB issued Interpretation 
No. 46 (FIN 46), “Consolidation of Variable Interest 
Entities,” which addresses the consolidation of vari-
able interest entities (VIEs) by business enterprises 
that are the primary beneficiaries. A VIE is an entity 
that does not have sufficient equity investment at 
risk to permit it to finance its activities without addi-
tional subordinated financial support, or whose equity 
investors lack the characteristics of a controlling 
financial interest. The primary beneficiary of a VIE 
is the enterprise that has the majority of the risks or 
rewards associated with the VIE. In December 2003 
the FASB issued a revision to FIN 46 (FIN 46R) 
to clarify some of the provisions of FIN 46, and to 
exempt certain entities from its requirements. Appli-
cation of FIN 46R is required in financial statements 
of public entities that have interests in structures that 
are commonly referred to as special-purpose entities 
for periods ending after December 15, 2003. Appli-
cation for all other types of VIEs is required in finan-
cial statements for periods ending after March 15, 
2004. Our adoption of FIN 46R on March 31, 2004 
did not have a material effect on our financial posi-
tion, results of operations or cash flows as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2004.

3 Acquisitions

On August 12, 2002, Nabors entered into an 
arrangement agreement to acquire Ryan Energy 
Technologies, Inc., a corporation incorporated under 
the laws of Alberta, Canada. Nabors’ acquisition of 
Ryan was completed on October 9, 2002, and became 
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effective pursuant to a plan of arrangement approved 
by the securityholders of Ryan and the Court of 
Queen’s Bench of Alberta.

Pursuant to the arrangement, Nabors Exchangeco 
(Canada) Inc., an indirect wholly-owned Canadian 
subsidiary of Nabors, acquired all of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of Ryan in exchange for 
approximately Cdn. $22.6 million (U.S. $14.2 million) 
in cash and 380,264 exchangeable shares of Nabors 
Exchangeco, of which 219,493 exchangeable shares 
were immediately exchanged for common shares of 
Nabors in accordance with the instructions of the 
holders of those shares. The Nabors Exchangeco 
shares are exchangeable for Nabors common shares, 
at each holder’s option, on a one-for-one basis and 
are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Addition-
ally, these exchangeable shares have essentially iden-
tical rights as Nabors common shares, including but 
not limited to voting rights and the right to receive 
dividends, if any, and will be automatically exchanged 
upon the occurrence of certain events. The value 
of the Nabors Exchangeco shares issued totaled  
Cdn. $18.5 million (U.S. $11.6 million). In addition, 
we assumed Ryan debt totaling Cdn. $14.5 million 
(U.S. $9.1 million). Ryan’s results of operations were 
consolidated into ours commencing on October 9, 
2002. The Ryan purchase price was allocated based 
on estimates of the fair market value of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date and 
resulted in goodwill of approximately Cdn $7.2 mil-
lion (U.S. $4.8 million). Ryan manufactures and sells 
directional drilling and rig instrumentation systems 
and provides directional drilling, rig instrumentation 

and data collection services to oil and gas exploration 
and service companies in the United States, Canada 
and Venezuela.

On March 18, 2002, we acquired, for cash, 20.5% 
of the issued and outstanding shares of Enserco 
Energy Service Company Inc., a Canadian publicly-
held corporation, for Cdn. $15.50 per share for a 
total price of Cdn. $83.2 million (U.S. $52.6 million). 
On April 26, 2002, Nabors Exchangeco acquired 
all of the remaining issued and outstanding common 
shares of Enserco in exchange for approximately 
Cdn. $100.1 million (U.S. $64.1 million) in cash 
and 3,549,082 exchangeable shares of Nabors  
Exchangeco, of which 2,638,526 exchangeable shares 
were immediately exchanged for Nabors Industries, 
Inc. (Nabors Delaware) common stock in accordance 
with the instructions of the holders of those shares 
(which common stock was converted into our com-
mon shares pursuant to our corporate reorganiza-
tion on June 24, 2002). The value of the Nabors 
Exchangeco shares issued totaled Cdn. $254.2 million 
(U.S. $162.8 million). In addition, we assumed Enserco 
debt totaling Cdn. $33.4 million (U.S. $21.4 million). 
Enserco’s results of operations were consolidated 
into ours commencing on April 26, 2002. The 
Enserco purchase price was allocated based on  
estimates of the fair market value of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date and 
resulted in goodwill of approximately Cdn. $164.7 mil-
lion (U.S. $105.2 million). Enserco provided land 
drilling, well-servicing and workover services in 
Canada and operated a fleet of 193 well-servicing 
rigs and 30 drilling rigs as of our acquisition date.

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003

  Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized  Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized 
 Fair Value Holding Gains Holding Losses Fair Value Holding Gains Holding Losses

Cash and cash equivalents $ 384,709 $ – $ – $ 579,737 $ – $ –
Available-for-sale marketable equity securities  40,723  4,508  (1,247)  48,843  9,379  (2,016) 
Marketable debt securities: 
 Commercial paper and CDs  6,970  1  –  50,743  –  – 
 Corporate debt securities  384,569  –  (1,094)  319,327  2,392  – 
 U.S. Government debt securities  –  –  –  7,103  –  – 
 Government agencies debt securities  97,515  –  (151)  285,358  –  (677) 
 Mortgage-backed debt securities  –  –  –  119  –  – 
 Mortgage-CMO debt securities  26,326  –  (62)  29,275  31  – 
 Asset-backed debt securities  311,701  –  (761)  211,585  767  –

Total marketable debt securities  827,081  1  (2,068)  903,510  3,190  (677)

  $ 1,252,513 $ 4,509 $ (3,315) $ 1,532,090 $ 12,569 $ (2,693)

4  Cash and Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Our cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term marketable securities consist of the following:
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The estimated fair values of our corporate, 
U.S. Government, Government agencies, mortgage-
backed, mortgage-CMO and asset-backed debt  
securities at December 31, 2004, by contractual 
maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities will 
differ from contractual maturities because the issuers 
of the securities may have the right to repay obliga-
tions without prepayment penalties and we may 
elect to sell the securities prior to the maturity date.

 Estimated  
 Fair Value

(In thousands) 2004

Marketable debt securities: 
 Due in one year or less $ 387,619 
 Due after one year through five years  439,462

  $ 827,081

Certain information regarding our marketable 
debt and equity securities is presented below:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Available-for-sale: 
 Proceeds from sales 
  and maturities $ 838,816 $ 1,393,638 $ 542,133 
 Realized gains,  
  net of realized losses   13,943  3,417  2,310

5 Property, Plant and Equipment

The major components of our property, plant 
and equipment are as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Land   $ 15,821 $ 12,037 
Buildings  31,394  26,703 
Drilling, workover and well-servicing  
 rigs, and related equipment  4,128,169  3,637,296 
Marine transportation and  
 supply vessels  161,567  159,530 
Oilfield hauling and mobile equipment  166,663  143,279 
Other machinery and equipment  31,608  33,358 
Net profits interests in oil and  
 gas properties  140,110  84,807

     4,675,332  4,097,010 
Less: accumulated depreciation  
   and amortization  (1,329,951)  (1,081,826) 
  accumulated depletion on 
   oil and gas properties  (69,886)  (24,392)

    $ 3,275,495 $ 2,990,792

Repair and maintenance expense included in 
direct costs in our consolidated statements of income 
totaled $253.0 million, $195.7 million and $138.5 mil-
lion for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 
and 2002, respectively.

Interest costs of $1.9 million, $.9 million and 
$1.1 million were capitalized during the years ended 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

6  Investments in  
Unconsolidated Affiliates

Our principal operations accounted for using 
the equity method include a construction operation 
(40% ownership) and a logistics operation (50% own-
ership) in Alaska, and drilling and workover oper-
ations located in Saudi Arabia (50% ownership). 
These unconsolidated affiliates are integral to our 
operations in those locations. See Note 12 for a dis-
cussion of transactions with these related parties.

Combined condensed financial data for invest-
ments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting is summa-
rized as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Current assets $ 89,097 $ 78,020 
Long-term assets  143,051  135,073 
Current liabilities  48,977  48,312 
Long-term liabilities  40,201  40,201

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Gross revenues $ 256,303 $ 312,008 $ 334,000 
Gross margin  33,911  41,809  52,861 
Net income  14,184  21,689  29,400 
Nabors’ Earnings from  
 unconsolidated affiliates  4,057  10,183  14,775

The financial data presented above as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2004 does not include 
Sea Mar Management LLC, as this entity was consol-
idated beginning in 2004 under the requirements of 
FIN 46R.

Cumulative undistributed earnings of our uncon-
solidated affiliates included in our retained earnings 
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 totaled approxi-
mately $44.0 million and $42.0 million, respectively.
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7  Financial Instruments  
and Risk Concentration

We may be exposed to certain market risks arising 
from the use of financial instruments in the ordinary 
course of business. This risk arises primarily as a 
result of potential changes in the fair market value 
of financial instruments that would result from 
adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange 
rates, credit risk, interest rates, and marketable and 
non-marketable security prices as discussed below.

Foreign Currency Risk
We operate in a number of international areas 

and are involved in transactions denominated in 
currencies other than U.S. dollars, which exposes us 
to foreign exchange rate risk. The most significant 
exposures arise in connection with our operations in 
Canada, which usually are substantially unhedged.

At various times, we utilize local currency bor-
rowings (foreign currency-denominated debt), the 
payment structure of customer contracts and foreign 
exchange contracts to selectively hedge our exposure 
to exchange rate fluctuations in connection with 
monetary assets, liabilities, cash flows and commit-
ments denominated in certain foreign currencies. 
A foreign exchange contract is a foreign currency 
transaction, defined as an agreement to exchange 
different currencies at a given future date and at 
a specified rate.

Credit Risk
Our financial instruments that potentially subject 

us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily 
of cash equivalents, investments in marketable and 
non-marketable securities, accounts receivable, and 
our interest rate swap and range cap and floor trans-
actions. Cash equivalents such as deposits and tem-
porary cash investments are held by major banks 
or investment firms. Our investments in marketable 
and non-marketable securities are managed within 
established guidelines which limit the amounts that 
may be invested with any one issuer and which pro-
vide guidance as to issuer credit quality. We believe 
that the credit risk in such instruments is minimal. 
In addition, our trade receivables are with a variety 
of U.S., international and foreign-country national 
oil and gas companies. Management considers this 
credit risk to be limited due to the financial resources 
of these companies. We perform ongoing credit eval-
uations of our customers and we generally do not 
require material collateral. We maintain reserves for 
potential credit losses, and such losses have been 
within management’s expectations.

Interest Rate, and Marketable and  
Non-Marketable Security Price Risk

Our financial instruments that are potentially  
sensitive to changes in interest rates include our 
$1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior 
debentures, our $700 million zero coupon senior 
exchangeable notes, our 4.875% and 5.375% senior 
notes, our interest rate swap and range cap and 
floor transactions, our investments in debt securities 
(including corporate, asset-backed, U.S. Government, 
Government agencies, foreign government, mortgage-
backed debt and mortgage-CMO debt securities) and 
our investments in overseas funds investing primarily 
in a variety of public and private U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities (including asset-backed securities and 
mortgage-backed securities, global structured asset 
securitizations, whole loan mortgages, and partici-
pations in whole loans and whole loan mortgages), 
which are classified as non-marketable securities.

We may utilize derivative financial instruments 
that are intended to manage our exposure to interest 
rate risks. The use of derivative financial instruments 
could expose us to further credit risk and market 
risk. Credit risk in this context is the failure of a 
counterparty to perform under the terms of the deriv-
ative contract. When the fair value of a derivative 
contract is positive, the counterparty would owe us, 
which can create credit risk for us. When the fair 
value of a derivative contract is negative, we would 
owe the counterparty, and therefore, we would not 
be exposed to credit risk. We attempt to minimize 
credit risk in derivative instruments by entering into 
transactions with major financial institutions that 
have a significant asset base. Market risk related 
to derivatives is the adverse effect to the value of 
a financial instrument that results from changes 
in interest rates. We try to manage market risk asso-
ciated with interest-rate contracts by establishing 
and monitoring parameters that limit the type 
and degree of market risk that we undertake.

Our $700 million zero coupon senior exchange-
able notes include a contingent interest provision, 
discussed in Note 8 below, which qualifies as an 
embedded derivative under SFAS 133, as amended 
by SFAS 149. This embedded derivative is required 
to be separated from the notes and valued at its 
fair value at the inception of the note indenture. 
Any subsequent change in fair value of this embed-
ded derivative would be recorded in our consolidated 
statements of income. The fair value of the contingent 
interest provision at inception of the note indenture 
was nominal. In addition, there was no significant 
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change in the fair value of this embedded derivative 
through December 31, 2004, resulting in no impact 
on our consolidated statements of income for the 
year ended December 31, 2004.

On October 21, 2002, we entered into an interest 
rate swap transaction with a third-party financial 
institution to hedge our exposure to changes in the 
fair value of $200 million of our fixed rate 5.375% 
senior notes due 2012, which has been designated 
as a fair value hedge under SFAS 133, as amended 
by SFAS 149. Additionally, on October 21, 2002, we 
purchased a LIBOR range cap and sold a LIBOR 
floor, in the form of a cashless collar, with the same 
third-party financial institution with the intention of 
mitigating and managing our exposure to changes in 
the three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR rate. This trans-
action does not qualify for hedge accounting treat-
ment under SFAS 133, as amended by SFAS 149, 
and any change in the cumulative fair value of this 
transaction will be reflected as a gain or loss in our 
consolidated statements of income.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, we recorded interest savings related 
to our interest rate swap agreement accounted for as 
a fair value hedge of $6.5 million, $6.8 million and 
$1.2 million, respectively, which served to reduce 
interest expense. The fair value of our interest rate 
swap agreement is recorded as a derivative asset, 
included in other long-term assets, and totaled 
approximately $4.6 million and $4.2 million as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The car-
rying value of our 5.375% senior notes has been 
increased by the same amount as of December 31, 
2004 and 2003.

The fair value of our range cap and floor trans-
action is recorded as a derivative asset, included in 
other long-term assets, and totaled approximately 
$.3 million as of December 31, 2004, and is recorded 
as a derivative liability, included in other long-term 
liabilities, and totaled approximately $3.7 million 
and $3.8 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. In June 2004 we unwound $100 mil-
lion of the $200 million range cap and floor deriva-
tive instrument. We recorded gains of approximately 

$2.4 million and losses of approximately $1.1 million 
and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to this 
derivative instrument; such amounts are included in 
losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, impairment 
charges and other expense (income), net in our con-
solidated statements of income.

On July 25, 2002, we entered into an interest rate 
hedge transaction with a third-party financial insti-
tution to manage and mitigate interest rate risk 
exposure relative to our August 2002 debt financing. 
Under the agreement, we agreed to receive (pay) cash 
from (to) the counterparty based on the difference 
between 4.43% and the ten-year Treasury rate on 
August 23, 2002, assuming a $100.0 million notional 
amount with semi-annual interest payments over a 
ten-year maturity. We accounted for this transaction 
as a cash flow hedge. During August 2002 we paid 
approximately $1.5 million related to the termination 
of this agreement. This payment was recorded as 
a reduction to accumulated other comprehensive 
income in our consolidated balance sheet and is 
being amortized into earnings as additional interest 
expense, using the effective interest method, over 
the term of the 5.375% senior notes due 2012 as 
discussed in Note 8 below.

On March 26, 2002, in anticipation of closing the 
Enserco acquisition discussed in Note 3, we entered 
into two foreign exchange contracts with a total 
notional value of Cdn. $115.9 million and maturity 
dates of April 29, 2002. Additionally, on April 9, 
2002, we entered into a third foreign exchange con-
tract with a notional value of Cdn. $50.0 million 
maturing April 29, 2002. The notional amounts of 
these contracts were used to fund the cash portion 
of the Enserco acquisition purchase price. The 
notional amounts of these contracts represented the 
amount of foreign currency purchased at maturity 
and did not represent our exposure under these con-
tracts. Although such contracts served as an economic 
hedge against our foreign currency risk related to the 
cash portion of the acquisition cost, these contracts 
did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment under 
SFAS 133, as amended by SFAS 149. We recognized 
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a gain on these foreign exchange contracts of 
approximately U.S. $1.8 million included in losses 
(gains) on sales of long-lived assets, impairment 
charges and other expense (income), net in our  
consolidated statement of income for the year  
ended December 31, 2002.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value of our fixed rate long-term debt is 

estimated based on quoted market prices or prices 
quoted from third-party financial institutions. The 
carrying and fair values of our long-term debt, includ-
ing the current portion, are as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003

 Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

4.875% senior notes due August 2009 $ 223,764 $ 232,058 $ 223,499 $ 234,585
5.375% senior notes due August 2012  277,922(1)  292,454(1)  277,248(1)  290,813(1)

$700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes  
 due June 2023  700,000  668,581  700,000  643,651 
$1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior debentures  
 due February 2021  804,550  797,233  784,807  780,880 
6.8% senior notes due April 2004  –  –  295,267  299,681 
Other long-term debt  –  –  4,117  4,117

  $ 2,006,236 $ 1,990,326 $ 2,284,938 $ 2,253,727

(1)  The amounts presented for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 include $4.6 million and $4.2 million, respectively, related to the fair value of the interest rate swap 
executed on October 21, 2002.

The fair values of our cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables approximate their carrying values 
due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

We maintain an investment portfolio of marketable and non-marketable debt and equity securities that exposes 
us to price risk (Note 4). The marketable securities are carried at fair market value and include $867.8 million 
and $952.4 million in securities classified as available-for-sale as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
We had no securities classified as trading as of December 31, 2004.

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003

4.875% senior notes due August 2009(1) $ 223,764 $ 223,499 
5.375% senior notes due August 2012(1) (2)  277,922  277,248 
$700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due June 2023  700,000  700,000 
$1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior debentures due February 2021(1)  804,550  784,807 
6.8% senior notes due April 2004  –  295,267 
Other long-term debt  –  4,117

   2,006,236  2,284,938 
Less: current portion  804,550  299,385

  $ 1,201,686 $ 1,985,553

(1)  The carrying amount of our 4.875% and 5.375% senior notes, and our $1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior debentures as of December 31, 2004, included in the 
table above, are net of unamortized discounts of approximately $1.2 million, $1.7 million and $395.7 million, respectively.

(2)  The amounts presented for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 include $4.6 million and $4.2 million, respectively, related to the fair value of the interest rate  
swap executed on October 21, 2002 (Note 7).

8 Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:
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As of December 31, 2004, the maturities of our 
long-term debt for each of the five years after 2004 
and thereafter are as follows:

 Assuming Zero Coupon  
 Convertible Debentures Are

(In thousands) Paid at Paid at  
 Maturity First Put Date 

2005 $ – $ –
2006  –  826,800(1)

2007  –  –
2008  –  700,000(2)

2009  225,000  225,000
Thereafter  2,175,200(3)  275,000

  $ 2,400,200 $ 2,026,800

(1)  Represents our $1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior debentures 
due 2021 which can be put to us on February 5, 2006. The principal amount 
of these debentures of $804.6 million is classified in current liabilities as 
of December 31, 2004. However, we do not expect these debentures to be  
converted for cash within the next 12 months based on the current market 
value of our common shares.

(2)  Represents our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 
2023 which can be put to us on June 15, 2008.

(3)  Includes $1.2 billion of our zero coupon convertible senior debentures due 
2021, $700 million of our zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 2023, 
and $275 million of our senior notes due 2012.

4.875% Senior Notes Due August 2009 and  
5.375% Senior Notes Due August 2012

On August 22, 2002, Nabors Holdings 1, ULC, 
one of our indirect, wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
issued $225 million aggregate principal amount of 
4.875% senior notes due 2009 that are fully and 
unconditionally guaranteed by Nabors and Nabors 
Delaware. Concurrently with this offering by Nabors 
Holdings, Nabors Delaware issued $275 million 
aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior notes 
due 2012, which are fully and unconditionally guar-
anteed by Nabors. Both issues of senior notes were 
resold by a placement agent to qualified institutional 
buyers under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended. Interest on each issue of senior notes is 
payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 
of each year, beginning on February 15, 2003.

Both issues are unsecured and are effectively 
junior in right of payment to any of their respective 
issuers’ future secured debt. The senior notes will 
rank equally in right of payment with any of their 
respective issuers’ future unsubordinated debt and 
will be senior in right of payment to any of such 
issuers’ subordinated debt. The guarantees of Nabors 
Delaware and Nabors with respect to the senior 
notes issued by Nabors Holdings, and the guarantee 
of Nabors with respect to the senior notes issued 
by Nabors Delaware, are similarly unsecured and 
have a similar ranking to the series of senior notes 
so guaranteed.

Subject to certain qualifications and limitations, 
the indentures governing the senior notes issued by 
Nabors Holdings and Nabors Delaware limit the 
ability of Nabors and its subsidiaries to incur liens 
and to enter into sale and lease-back transactions. In 
addition, such indentures limit the ability of Nabors, 
Nabors Delaware and Nabors Holdings to enter into 
mergers, consolidations or transfers of all or substan-
tially all of such entity’s assets unless the successor 
company assumes the obligations of such entity 
under the applicable indenture.

$700 Million Zero Coupon  
Senior Exchangeable Notes Due June 2023

On June 10, 2003, Nabors Delaware, our wholly-
owned subsidiary, completed a private placement of 
$700 million aggregate principal amount of zero 
coupon senior exchangeable notes due 2023 that 
are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by us. The 
notes were reoffered by the initial purchaser of the 
notes to qualified institutional buyers under Rule 
144A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and 
outside the United States in accordance with Regula-
tion S under the Securities Act. Nabors and Nabors 
Delaware filed a registration statement on Form S-3 
pursuant to the Securities Act with respect to the 
notes on August 8, 2003. The notes do not bear 
interest, do not accrete and have a zero yield to 
maturity, unless Nabors Delaware becomes obligated 
to pay contingent interest as defined in the related 
note indenture.

We used a portion of the net proceeds from the 
issuance of the notes to redeem the remaining out-
standing principal amount of Nabors Delaware’s 
$825 million zero coupon convertible senior deben-
tures due 2020 on June 20, 2003 and our associated 
guarantees (see discussion below under the caption 
“Other Debt Transactions”). The remainder of the 
proceeds of the notes were invested in cash and 
marketable securities.

The notes are unsecured and are effectively 
junior in right of payment to any of Nabors Dela-
ware’s future secured debt. The notes will rank 
equally with any of Nabors Delaware’s other existing 
and future unsecured and unsubordinated debt and 
will be senior in right of payment to any of Nabors 
Delaware’s subordinated debt. The guarantee of 
Nabors will be similarly unsecured and have a simi-
lar ranking to the notes so guaranteed. Holders of 
the notes have the right to require Nabors Delaware 
to repurchase the notes at a purchase price equal 
to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus 
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contingent interest and additional amounts, if any, 
on June 15, 2008, June 15, 2013 and June 15, 2018 
or upon a fundamental change as described in the 
related note indenture.

Nabors Delaware will be obligated to pay con-
tingent interest during any six-month period from 
June 15 to December 14 or from December 15 to 
June 14 commencing on or after June 15, 2008 for 
which the average trading price of the notes for each 
day of the applicable five trading day reference period 
equals or exceeds 120% of the principal amount of 
the notes as of the day immediately preceding the 
first day of the applicable six-month interest period. 
The amount of contingent interest payable per note 
in respect to any six-month period will equal 0.185% 
of the principal amount of a note. The five day trad-
ing reference period means the five trading days 
ending on the second trading day immediately  
preceding the relevant six-month interest period.

The notes are exchangeable at the option of the 
holders into the equivalent value of 14.2653 com-
mon shares of Nabors per $1,000 principal amount 
of notes (subject to adjustment for certain events) 
if any of the following circumstances occur: (1) if 
in any calendar quarter beginning after the quarter 
ending September 30, 2003, the closing sale price 
per share of Nabors’ common shares for at least 
20 trading days during the period of 30 consecutive 
trading days ending on the last trading day of the 
previous calendar quarter is greater than or equal 
to 120%, or with respect to all calendar quarters 
beginning on or after July 1, 2008, 110%, of the 
applicable exchange price per share of the Nabors’ 
common shares on such last trading day (the initial 
exchange price per share is $70.10 and is subject 
to adjustment for certain events detailed in the note 
indenture; 120% of this initial price per share is 
$84.12 and 110% of this initial price per share is 
$77.11), (2) subject to certain exceptions, during the 
five business day period after any ten consecutive 
trading day period in which the trading price per 
$1,000 principal amount of notes for each day of 
such ten trading day period was less than 95% of 
the product of the closing sale price of Nabors’  
common shares and the exchange rate of such note, 
(3) if Nabors Delaware calls the notes for redemption, 
or (4) upon the occurrence of specified corporate 
transactions described in the note indenture. See 
the discussion below related to the method of settle-
ment required upon exchange of these notes. The 
$700 million notes can be put to us on June 15, 

2008, June 15, 2013 and June 15, 2018, for a pur-
chase price equal to 100% of the principal amount 
of the notes plus contingent interest and additional 
amounts, if any.

In October 2004 we executed a supplemental 
indenture relating to our $700 million zero coupon 
senior exchangeable notes providing that upon 
an exchange of these notes, we will in all circum-
stances, except when we are in default under the 
indenture, elect to pay holders of these debt instru-
ments, in lieu of common shares, cash up to the 
principal amount of the instruments and, at our 
option, consideration in the form of either cash 
or our common shares for any amount above the 
principal amount of the instruments required to be 
paid pursuant to the terms of the indenture. Addi-
tionally, the supplemental indenture provides that 
if the instruments are put to us at various dates 
commencing June 15, 2008, we will in all circum-
stances elect to pay holders of these debt instru-
ments cash upon such repurchase.

In November 2004, we commenced an offer to 
exchange Series B of our $700 million zero coupon 
senior exchangeable notes due 2023 for our exist-
ing $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable 
notes. This exchange of shares removed the obliga-
tion under these notes where we would be required 
to issue shares upon conversion when we are in 
default under the indenture related to the notes. 
Series B of our $700 million zero coupon senior 
exchangeable notes have substantially similar terms 
to our existing $700 million zero coupon senior 
exchangeable notes as supplemented, except that, in 
addition to the elimination of the default language 
discussed above, the Series B exchanged notes  
contain additional anti-dilution protection for cash 
dividends and tender or exchange offers for our 
common shares at above-market prices, and provide 
for payment of a make-whole premium in certain 
circumstances upon exchange in connection with 
certain fundamental changes involving Nabors. The 
exchange offer expired on December 10, 2004 and 
as a result of the exchange offer and subsequent 
exchanges, as of December 31, 2004, an aggregate 
principal amount of $697.8 million of Series B of 
our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable 
notes had been issued to those holders of the original 
series of $700 million zero coupon senior exchange-
able notes, leaving $2.2 million of the original series 
of notes outstanding as of December 31, 2004.
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$1.381 Billion Zero Coupon Convertible  
Senior Debentures Due February 2021

Our $1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior 
debentures due 2021 can be put to us on February 5, 
2006, February 5, 2011 and February 5, 2016, for a 
purchase price equal to the issue price plus accrued 
original issue discount to the date of repurchase. 
The original issue price of these debentures was 
$608.41 per $1,000 principal amount at maturity. 
The yield to maturity is 2.5% compounded semi-
annually with no periodic cash payments of interest. 
At the holder’s option, the $1.381 billion debentures 
can be converted, at any time prior to maturity or 
their earlier redemption, into the equivalent value of 
7.0745 common shares per $1,000 principal amount 
at maturity. The conversion rate is subject to adjust-
ment under formulae set forth in the indenture in 
certain events, including: (1) the issuance of Nabors 
common shares as a dividend or distribution of 
common shares; (2) certain subdivisions and combi-
nations of the common shares; (3) the issuance to 
all holders of common shares of certain rights or 
warrants to purchase common shares; (4) the distri-
bution of common shares, other than Nabors common 
shares to Nabors’ shareholders, or evidences of 
Nabors’ indebtedness or of assets; and (5) distribu-
tion consisting of cash, excluding any quarterly cash 
dividend on the common shares to the extent that 
the aggregate cash dividend per common share in 
any quarter does not exceed certain amounts. See 
the discussion below related to the method of settle-
ment required upon conversion of these debentures. 
We cannot redeem the $1.381 billion debentures 
before February 5, 2006, after which time we may 
redeem all or a portion of the debentures for cash 
at any time at their accreted value.

In October 2004 we executed a supplemental 
indenture (similar to the supplemental indenture for 
our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable 
notes discussed above) relating to our $1.381 billion 
zero coupon convertible senior debentures providing 
that upon a conversion of these convertible debt 
instruments, we will in all circumstances, except 
when we are in default under the indenture, elect 
to pay holders of these debt instruments, in lieu of 
common shares, cash up to the principal amount 
of the instruments and, at our option, consideration 
in the form of either cash or our common shares 
for any amount above the principal amount of the 
instruments required to be paid pursuant to the 

terms of the indenture. Additionally, the supplemen-
tal indenture provides that if the instruments are put 
to us at various dates commencing February 5, 2006, 
we will in all circumstances elect to pay holders of 
these debt instruments cash upon such repurchase.

As our $1.381 billion zero coupon convertible 
senior debentures can be converted at any time 
resulting in our payment of cash, the outstanding 
principal amount of these debentures of $804.6 mil-
lion is included in current liabilities in our balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2004. These debentures 
previously would have been classified in current  
liabilities beginning in the first quarter of 2005  
as a result of the holders having the option to put 
the debentures to us on February 5, 2006. If the 
$1.381 billion debentures were converted, our cash 
obligation would be an amount equal to the lesser 
of 8.5 million multiplied by the sale price of our 
common shares on the trading day immediately 
prior to the related conversion date or the principal 
amount of the debentures on the date of conversion. 
If these debentures had been converted on Decem-
ber 31, 2004, we would have been required to pay 
cash totaling approximately $435.0 million to the 
holders of the debentures (based on the closing 
price for our common shares on December 30, 
2004 of $51.18).

6.8% Senior Notes Due April 2004 
On April 15, 2004, we made a payment of  

$305.3 million upon maturity of our 6.8% senior 
notes, representing principal of $295.3 million and 
accrued interest of $10.0 million. These senior notes 
were included in our consolidated balance sheet 
as current portion of long-term debt as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003.

Other Debt Transactions
On June 20, 2003, we redeemed the remaining 

outstanding principal amount of Nabors Delaware’s 
$825 million zero coupon convertible senior deben-
tures due 2020 and our associated guarantees. The 
redemption price was $655.50 per $1,000 principal 
amount of the debentures for an aggregate redemp-
tion price paid of approximately $494.9 million. The 
redemption of the debentures did not result in any 
gain or loss as the debentures were redeemed at 
prices equal to their carrying value on June 20, 2003.

On April 1, 2003, we redeemed our 8.625% senior 
subordinated notes due April 2008 and all associated 
guarantees at a redemption price of $1,043.13 per 
$1,000 principal amount of the notes together with 
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accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. 
The aggregate redemption price was $45.2 million 
and resulted in the recognition of a pretax loss of 
approximately $.9 million, resulting from the redemp-
tion of the notes at prices higher than their carrying 
value on April 1, 2003. This loss was recorded in 
losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, impair-
ment charges and other expense (income), net in 
our consolidated statements of income during 2003.

During 2002 we purchased $.6 million face value 
of our 8.625% senior subordinated notes due April 
2008 in the open market at a price of 108%. In 
addition, we purchased $4.7 million face value of 
our 6.8% senior notes due April 2004 in the open 
market at a price of 104%. Upon settlement of 
these transactions, we paid $5.7 million and recog-
nized a pretax loss of approximately $.2 million, 
resulting from the repurchases of these notes at 
prices higher than their carrying value. Additionally, 
we repaid Cdn. $12.9 million (U.S. $8.3 million) and 
Cdn. $22.3 million (U.S. $14.3 million) of the debt 
assumed in the Ryan and Enserco acquisitions, 
respectively. We also made a $2.5 million scheduled 
principal payment relating to certain of our medium-
term notes.

Short-Term Borrowings
We have three letter of credit facilities with vari-

ous banks as of December 31, 2004. We did not 
have any short-term borrowings outstanding at 
December 31, 2004 and 2003. Availability and bor-
rowings under our credit facilities are as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Credit available $ 110,000 $ 96,825 
Letters of credit outstanding  (77,876)  (56,288)

Remaining availability $ 32,124 $ 40,537

9 Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes was comprised 
of the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

United States $ 25,709 $ (160,130) $ (19,622) 
Foreign  310,129  334,753  160,396

 Income before  
  income taxes $ 335,838 $ 174,623 $ 140,774

Income taxes have been provided based upon the 
tax laws and rates in the countries in which opera-
tions are conducted and income is earned. We are 
a Bermuda-exempt company. Bermuda does not 
impose corporate income taxes. Our U.S. subsidiar-
ies are subject to a U.S. federal tax rate of 35%.

Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of  
the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Current: 
 U.S. federal $ 4,955 $ 9,085 $ 4,458 
 Foreign  15,868  (680)  5,113 
 State   44  89  614

    20,867  8,494  10,185

Deferred: 
 U.S. federal  (20,300)  (53,121)  4,669 
 Foreign  32,471  29,051  2,274 
 State   343  (2,029)  2,157

    12,514  (26,099)  9,100

Income tax  
 expense (benefit) $ 33,381 $ (17,605) $ 19,285

Nabors is not subject to tax in Bermuda. A recon-
ciliation of the differences between taxes on income 
before income taxes computed at the appropriate 
statutory rate and our reported provision for income 
taxes follows:

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)  2004 2003 2002

Income tax provision at statutory rate (Bermuda rate of 0%) $ – $ – $ – 
Taxes (benefit) on U.S. and foreign earnings (losses) at greater  
 than the Bermuda rate  32,528  (17,281)  10,944 
Increase in valuation allowance  2,805  5,163  6,540 
Effect of change in tax rate (Canada)  (2,204)  (4,226)  – 
State income taxes (benefit)  252  (1,261)  1,801

Income tax (benefit) expense $ 33,381 $ (17,605) $ 19,285

Effective tax (benefit) rate  10%  (10)%  14%
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 December 31,

(In thousands)  2004 2003

Deferred tax assets: 
 Net operating loss carryforwards $ 326,176 $ 239,291 
 Tax credit carryforwards  5,969  5,796 
 Accrued expenses not currently deductible for tax and other  30,233  36,194 
Less: valuation allowance  (14,508)  (11,703)

 Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance  347,870  269,578

Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Depreciation and depletion for tax in excess of book expense  (668,731)  (594,589) 
 Tax deductible items not expensed for book purposes  (24,143)  (8,457) 
 Unrealized gain on marketable securities  (917)  (2,914)

  Total deferred tax liabilities   (693,791)  (605,960)

  Net deferred tax liabilities  (345,921)  (336,382) 
  Less: net current asset portion  39,599  36,442 
    net long-term asset portion  357  –

  Net long-term deferred tax liability $ (385,877) $ (372,824)

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we have 
NOL carryforwards of approximately $841.9 million 
that, if not utilized, will expire at various times 
from 2009 to 2024. The NOL carryforwards for 
alternative minimum tax purposes are approximately 
$728.3 million. There are alternative minimum 
tax credit carryforwards of $5.4 million available to 
offset future regular tax liabilities. Additionally, we 
have foreign NOL carryforwards of approximately 
$51.7 million that, if not utilized, will expire at  
various times from 2005 to 2014.

The NOL carryforwards subject to expiration 
expire as follows: 

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, Total U.S. Federal Foreign

2005 $ 3,463 $ – $ 3,463 
2006  11,540  –  11,540 
2007  7,394  –  7,394 
2008  12,149  –  12,149 
2009  10,231  779  9,452 
2010  1,641  482  1,159 
2011  12,596  11,598  998 
2013  5,115  –  5,115 
2014  458  –  458 
2017  38,751  38,751  – 
2018  23,119  23,119  – 
2019  737  737  – 
2020  737  737  – 
2021  738  738  – 
2022  225,842  225,842  – 
2023  371,600  371,600  – 
2024  167,476  167,476  –

Total $ 893,587 $ 841,859 $ 51,728

In 2002, 2003 and 2004 we provided a valuation 
allowance against net operating loss (NOL) carry-
forwards in various foreign tax jurisdictions based 
on our consideration of existing temporary differ-
ences and expected future earnings levels in those 
jurisdictions. Our effective tax rate for 2004 was 

positively impacted by the release of certain tax 
reserves, which were determined to no longer 
be necessary, resulting in a reduction in deferred 
income tax expense (non-cash) totaling approxi-
mately $16.0 million ($.10 per diluted share).

The significant components of our deferred  
tax assets and liabilities were as follows:



~ 107 ~

In addition, for state income tax purposes, we 
have net operating loss carryforwards of approxi-
mately $486.6 million that, if not utilized, will expire 
at various times from 2005 to 2024 and foreign 
NOL carryforwards that are not subject to expiration 
totaling $52.4 million.

Under U.S. federal tax law, the amount and avail-
ability of loss carryforwards (and certain other tax 
attributes) are subject to a variety of interpretations 
and restrictive tests applicable to Nabors and our 
subsidiaries. The utilization of such carryforwards 
could be limited or effectively lost upon certain 
changes in ownership. Accordingly, although we 
believe substantial loss carryforwards are available 
to us, no assurance can be given concerning such 
loss carryforwards, or whether or not such loss  
carryforwards will be available in the future.

10 Common Shares and Stock Options

Common Shares
During 2004, 2003 and 2002, our employees 

exercised options to acquire 3,045,000, 1,234,000 
and 806,000 of our common shares, respectively.

During 2003 warrants issued in conjunction 
with our acquisitions of Enserco (April 2002) and 
New Prospect Drilling Company (May 1998) were 
exercised resulting in the issuance of 49,000 and 
200,000 of our common shares, respectively.

In conjunction with our acquisition of Ryan in 
October 2002 and our acquisition of Enserco in April 
2002, we issued 380,264 and 3,549,082 exchange-
able shares of Nabors Exchangeco, respectively, of 
which 219,493 and 2,638,526 exchangeable shares 
were immediately exchanged for our common shares, 
respectively. Subsequent to these acquisitions, dur-
ing 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, an additional 
484,756, 208,315 and 159,869 exchangeable shares 
were exchanged for our common shares leaving a 
total of 218,387 exchangeable shares outstanding 
as of December 31, 2004.

The exchangeable shares of Nabors Exchangeco 
are exchangeable for Nabors common shares on 
a one-for-one basis. The exchangeable shares  
are included in capital in excess of par value.

During 2002 warrants issued in conjunction with 
our acquisition of Bayard Drilling Technologies, Inc. 
(April 1999) were exercised, resulting in the issu-
ance of 18,000 of our common shares.

As a result of our corporate reorganization on 
June 24, 2002, the authorized share capital of 
Nabors consists of 400 million common shares, 

par value $.001 per share, and 25 million preferred 
shares, par value $.001 per share. Common shares 
issued were 149,860,747 and 146,656,432 at 
$.001 par value as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively, compared to 144,368,390 at $.10 par 
value immediately preceding the reorganization. The 
decrease in par value of common stock from $.10 to 
$.001 was recorded as an increase to capital in excess 
of par value and a decrease in common shares in 
our Consolidated Financial Statements. In conjunc-
tion with the reorganization, 6.8 million shares of 
outstanding treasury stock were retired, as Bermuda 
law does not recognize the concept of treasury stock. 
The effect of this retirement reduced common 
shares by $.7 million, capital in excess of par  
value by $59.2 million and retained earnings by 
$192.9 million.

On July 23, 2002, we entered into a private trans-
action with a counterparty in which we sold 1.0 mil-
lion European-style put options for $2.6 million 
with a maturity date of October 23, 2002. Under the 
arrangement, if the price of our common shares was 
less than $26.5698 on the maturity date, the counter-
party could have exercised the put option resulting 
in, at our option (1) our purchase of 1.0 million of 
our common shares at a price of $26.5698 per share 
or (2) our payment, in cash or Nabors common 
shares, of an amount equal to the difference between 
$26.5698 and our share price on October 23, 2002 
multiplied by 1.0 million. These put options expired 
on October 23, 2002 and we retained the $2.6 mil-
lion in proceeds, which was recorded as an increase 
in capital in excess of par value in our consolidated 
balance sheet.

On July 17, 2002, the Board of Directors of Nabors 
authorized the continuation of the share repurchase 
program that had begun under Nabors Delaware, 
and provided that the amount of Nabors common 
shares authorized for purchase by Nabors going for-
ward be increased to $400 million. Under the Nabors 
Delaware program, Nabors Delaware had acquired 
an aggregate of approximately $248.0 million of 
Nabors Delaware common stock, or 6.2 million 
shares, during 2001. During 2002 Nabors also 
acquired, through a subsidiary, 91,000 of its common 
shares in the open market for $27.30 per share for 
an aggregate price of $2.5 million. Immediately there-
after these shares were transferred to Nabors. Pursu-
ant to Bermuda law, any shares, when purchased, 
will be treated as cancelled. Therefore, a repurchase 
of shares will not have the effect of reducing the 
amount of Nabors’ authorized share capital.
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Stock Option Plans
As of December 31, 2004, we have several stock 

option plans under which options to purchase 
Nabors common shares may be granted to key offi-
cers, directors and managerial employees of Nabors 
and its subsidiaries. Options granted under the plans 
are at prices equal to the fair market value of the 
shares on the date of the grant. Options granted 
under the plans generally are exercisable in varying 
cumulative periodic installments after one year. In 
the case of certain key executives, options granted 
under the plans are subject to accelerated vesting 
related to targeted common share prices, or may 
vest immediately on the grant date. Options granted 
under the plans cannot be exercised more than 
ten years from the date of grant. Options to purchase 
7.4 million and 8.1 million Nabors common shares 
remained available for grant as of December 31, 2004 
and 2003, respectively.

A summary of stock option transactions is as follows:
 

(In thousands, except exercise price)  Weighted- 
  Average 
  Exercise 
 Shares Price

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2001 19,257 $ 27.21 
 Granted 5,495  27.35 
 Exercised (806)  12.68 
 Forfeited (277)  33.81

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2002 23,669 $ 27.66 
 Granted 2,969  38.68 
 Exercised (1,234)  16.48 
 Forfeited (450)  41.45

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2003 24,954 $ 29.27 
 Granted 3,430  45.92 
 Exercised (3,045)  23.40 
 Forfeited (313)  41.05

Options outstanding as of December 31, 2004 25,026 $ 32.12

Of the options outstanding, 19.0 million, 
20.7 million and 20.6 million were exercisable 
at weighted-average exercise prices of $29.05,  
$27.65 and $27.13, as of December 31, 2004, 2003 
and 2002, respectively. The weighted-average fair 
value of options granted during the years ended 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $12.93, 
$14.29 and $10.69, respectively.

A summary of stock options outstanding as of 
December 31, 2004 is as follows:

 Options Outstanding

(In thousands, except contractual  Weighted- Weighted- 
life and exercise price)  Average Average 
 Number Remaining Exercise 
 Outstanding Contractual Life Price

Range of exercise prices: 
 $ 7.00 – $ 10.50 8 1.5 $ 7.33 
  11.50 –  17.25 5,863 2.8  12.49 
  18.94 –  28.41 6,727 6.2  26.17 
  28.44 –  42.66 3,006 7.9  38.38 
  42.94 –  64.41 9,422 5.8  46.62

      25,026 5.5 $ 32.12

A summary of stock options exercisable as of 
December 31, 2004 is as follows:

 Options Exercisable

(In thousands, except exercise price)   Weighted- 
   Average 
  Number Exercise 
  Exercisable Price

Range of exercise prices: 
 $ 7.00 – $ 10.50  8 $ 7.33 
  11.50 –  17.25  5,863  12.49 
  18.94 –  28.41  6,141  26.09 
  28.44 –  42.66  1,011  38.31 
  42.94 –  64.41  5,981  46.80

       19,004 $ 29.05
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11  Pension, Postretirement  
and Postemployment Benefits

Pension Plans
In conjunction with our acquisition of Pool Energy 

Services Co. in November 1999, we acquired the 
assets and liabilities of a defined benefit pension plan, 
the Pool Company Retirement Income Plan. Bene-
fits under the plan are frozen and participants were 
fully vested in their accrued retirement benefit on 
December 31, 1998.

Summarized information on the Pool pension 
plan is as follows:

 Pension Benefits

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Change in benefit obligation: 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 15,401 $ 13,631 
Interest cost  909   891 
Actuarial (loss) gain  (49)  1,417 
Benefit payments  (511)  (538)

Benefit obligation at end of year  15,750  15,401

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  9,686  8,835 
Actual return on plan assets  633  1,389 
Employer contribution  1,304  – 
Benefit payments  (511)  (538)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  11,112  9,686

Funded status: 
Funded status at end of year  (4,638)  (5,715) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss  3,713  3,942

Net liability recognized $ (925) $ (1,773)

Amounts recognized in  
 consolidated balance sheets: 
Accrued benefit liability  4,638  5,715 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  2,419  2,815

Components of net periodic benefit cost: 
Interest cost $ 909 $ 891 
Expected return on plan assets  (647)  (563) 
Recognized net actuarial loss  195  198

Net periodic benefit cost $ 457 $ 526

Additional information: 
Increase in minimum pension liability 
 included in other comprehensive income $ 227 $ 610

Weighted-average assumptions: 
Weighted-average discount rate  6.00%  6.00% 
Expected long-term rate of return  
 on plan assets  6.50%  6.50%

We analyze the historical performance of invest-
ments in equity and debt securities, together with 
current market factors such as inflation and interest 
rates to help us make assumptions necessary to esti-
mate a long-term rate of return on plan assets. Once 
this estimate is made, we review the portfolio of plan 
assets and make adjustments thereto that we believe 
are necessary to reflect a diversified blend of invest-
ments in equity and debt securities that is capable  
of achieving the estimated long-term rate of return 
without assuming an unreasonable level of invest-
ment risk.

The measurement date used to determine pen-
sion measurements for the plan is December 31.

Our weighted-average asset allocations as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, by asset category 
are as follows:

 Pension Benefits

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Equity securities 57% 56% 
Debt securities 42% 43% 
Other 1% 1%

Total 100% 100%

We invest plan assets based on a total return on 
investment approach, pursuant to which the plan 
assets include a diversified blend of investments in 
equity and debt securities toward a goal of maximiz-
ing the long-term rate of return without assuming an 
unreasonable level of investment risk. We determine 
the level of risk based on an analysis of plan liabili-
ties, the extent to which the value of the plan assets 
satisfies the plan liabilities and our financial condi-
tion. Our investment policy includes target allocations 
approximating 55% investment in equity securities 
and 45% investment in debt securities. The equity 
portion of the plan assets represents growth and 
value stocks of small, medium and large companies. 
We measure and monitor the investment risk of the 
plan assets both on a quarterly basis and annually 
when we assess plan liabilities.

We expect to contribute approximately $1.0 mil-
lion to the Pool pension plan in 2005. This is based 
on the sum of (1) the minimum contribution for the 
2004 plan year that will be made in 2005 and (2) the 
estimated minimum required quarterly contributions 
for the 2005 plan year. We made contributions to 
the Pool pension plan in 2004 totaling $1.3 million. 
There were no contributions made to the Pool pen-
sion plan in 2003.
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As of December 31, 2004, we expect that benefits 
to be paid in each of the next five fiscal years after 
2004 and in the aggregate for the five fiscal years 
thereafter will be as follows:

(In thousands)

2005 $ 405 
2006  442 
2007  503 
2008  559 
2009  609 
2010–2014  4,052

Certain of Nabors’ employees are covered by 
defined contribution plans. Our contributions to 
the plans are based on employee contributions and 
totaled $14.8 million and $13.1 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
Nabors does not provide postemployment benefits to 
its employees.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
Prior to the date of our acquisition, Pool provided 

certain postretirement healthcare and life insurance 
benefits to eligible retirees who had attained spe-
cific age and years of service requirements. Nabors 
terminated this plan at the date of acquisition 
(November 24, 1999). A liability of approximately 
$.5 million is recorded in our consolidated balance 
sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 to cover 
the estimated costs of beneficiaries covered by the 
plan at the date of acquisition.

12 Related Party Transactions

Pursuant to his employment agreement entered 
into in October 1996, we provided an unsecured, 
non-interest bearing loan of approximately $2.9 mil-
lion to Nabors’ Deputy Chairman, President and 
Chief Operating Officer. This loan is due on Sep-
tember 30, 2006.

Pursuant to their employment agreements, Nabors 
and its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Deputy 
Chairman, President and Chief Operating Officer, 
and certain other key employees entered into split-
dollar life insurance agreements pursuant to which 
we pay a portion of the premiums under life insur-
ance policies with respect to these individuals and, 
in certain instances, members of their families. Under 
these agreements, we are reimbursed for such pre-
miums upon the occurrence of specified events, 

including the death of an insured individual. Any 
recovery of premiums paid by Nabors could poten-
tially be limited to the cash surrender value of these 
policies under certain circumstances. As such, the 
values of these policies are recorded at their respec-
tive cash surrender values in our consolidated bal-
ance sheets. We have made premium payments to 
date totaling $13.2 million related to these policies. 
The cash surrender value of these policies of approxi-
mately $11.8 million and $11.4 million is included  
in other long-term assets in our consolidated  
balance sheets as of December 31, 2004 and  
2003, respectively.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into 
various rig leases, rig transportation and related  
oilfield services agreements with our Alaskan and 
Saudi Arabian unconsolidated affiliates at market 
prices. Revenues from business transactions with 
these affiliated entities totaled $63.2 million, 
$51.3 million and $46.8 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
Expenses from business transactions with these  
affiliated entities totaled $3.3 million, $3.3 million 
and $3.0 million for the years ended December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Additionally, we 
had accounts receivable from these affiliated entities 
of $20.7 million and $20.9 million as of December 31, 
2004 and 2003, respectively. We had accounts pay-
able to these affiliated entities of $1.8 million and 
$.5 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively, and a note payable with one of these 
affiliated entities of $4.1 million and $4.3 million 
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, 
which is included in other long-term liabilities.

Additionally, we own certain marine vessels that 
are chartered under a bareboat charter arrangement 
to Sea Mar Management LLC, an entity in which 
we own a 25% interest. Under the requirements 
of FIN 46R this entity was consolidated by Nabors 
beginning in 2004. Revenues from business trans-
actions with Sea Mar totaled $29.5 million and 
$18.0 million for the years ended December 31, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. Expenses from busi-
ness transactions with Sea Mar totaled $47.9 million 
and $28.1 million for the years ended December 31, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. Accounts receivable 
from and accounts payable to Sea Mar as of  
December 31, 2003 totaled $3.0 million and  
$3.2 million, respectively.
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13 Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases
Nabors and its subsidiaries occupy various facili-

ties and lease certain equipment under various lease 
agreements. The minimum rental commitments under 
non-cancelable operating leases, with lease terms 
in excess of one year subsequent to December 31, 
2004, are as follows:

(In thousands)

2005 $ 11,462 
2006  7,575 
2007  6,102 
2008  1,345 
2009  1,230 
Thereafter  1,311

 $ 29,025

The above amounts do not include property 
taxes, insurance or normal maintenance that the  
lessees are required to pay. Rental expense relating 
to operating leases with terms greater than 30 days 
amounted to $19.2 million, $22.4 million and 
$21.8 million for the years ended December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Employment Contracts
We have entered into employment contracts 

with certain of our employees. Our minimum salary 
and bonus obligations under these contracts as of 
December 31, 2004 are as follows:

(In thousands)

2005 $ 2,440 
2006  2,225 
2007  2,225 
2008  1,669 
2009 and thereafter  –

 $ 8,559

Contingencies
Self-Insurance Accruals   We are self-insured for 

certain losses relating to workers’ compensation, 
employers’ liability, general liability, automobile lia-
bility and property damage. Effective April 1, 2004, 
with our insurance renewal, certain changes have 
been made to our insurance coverage. Effective for 
the period from April 1, 2004 to March 31, 2005, 
our exposure (that is, our deductible) per occurrence 
is $1.0 million for workers’ compensation, employers’ 
liability and marine employers’ liability (Jones Act). 
In addition, we assume an excess, aggregate deduct-
ible for domestic workers’ compensation claims. 
Through this additional deductible, we assume the 
first $2.4 million in losses above the deductible for 
domestic workers’ compensation claims. This addi-
tional deductible is exhausted when the excess loss 
above the $1.0 million reaches $2.4 million in the 
annual aggregate. We continue to assume a $5.0 mil-
lion deductible for general liability losses. Our self-
insurance for automobile liability loss is $0.5 million 
per occurrence. We maintain actuarially-determined 
accruals in our consolidated balance sheets to cover 
the self-insurance retentions.

We are self-insured for certain other losses relating 
to rig, equipment, property, business interruption and 
political, war and terrorism risks. Effective April 1, 
2004, our per occurrence self-insurance retentions 
are $10.0 million for rig physical damage and busi-
ness interruption for 29 specific high-value rigs. The 
remainder of our Alaska and offshore fleet is subject 
to a $5.0 million self-insurance retention. All other 
land rigs are subject to a $1.0 million deductible.

Political risk insurance is procured for select 
operations in South America, Africa, the Middle 
East and Asia. Losses are subject to a $0.25 million 
deductible, except for Colombia, which is subject to 
a $1.5 million deductible. There is no assurance that 
such coverage will adequately protect Nabors against 
liability from all potential consequences.
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As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, our self-
insurance accruals totaled $98.1 million and 
$106.2 million, respectively, and our related insur-
ance recoveries/receivables were $14.3 million and 
$31.8 million, respectively.

Litigation   Nabors and its subsidiaries are defen-
dants or otherwise involved in a number of lawsuits 
in the ordinary course of their business. In the  
opinion of management, our ultimate liability with 
respect to these pending lawsuits is not expected to 
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Guarantees   We enter into various agreements 
and obligations providing financial or performance 
assurance to third parties. Certain of these agreements 
serve as guarantees, including standby letters of credit 
issued on behalf of insurance carriers in conjunction 
with our workers’ compensation insurance program, 

other financial surety instruments such as bonds, 
and guarantees of residual value in certain of our 
operating lease agreements. We have also guaranteed 
payment of contingent consideration in conjunction 
with an acquisition in 2002, which is based on future 
operating results of that business. In addition, we 
have provided indemnifications to certain third parties 
which serve as guarantees. These guarantees include 
indemnification provided by Nabors to our stock 
transfer agent and our insurance carriers. We are  
not able to estimate the potential future maximum 
payments that might be due under our indemnifi-
cation guarantees.

Management believes the likelihood that we 
would be required to perform or otherwise incur  
any material losses associated with any of these 
guarantees is remote. The following table summa-
rizes the total maximum amount of financial and 
performance guarantees issued by Nabors:

  Maximum Amount

(In thousands) 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total

Financial standby letters of credit and other financial  
 surety instruments  $ 81,067 $ – $ – $ 302 $ 81,369 
Guarantee of residual value in lease agreements  684  65  –  –  749 
Contingent consideration in acquisition  2,000  500  –  –  2,500

Total $ 83,751 $ 565 $ – $ 302 $ 84,618
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14 Earnings Per Share

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations 
is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

Net income (numerator):
 Net income – basic $ 302,457 $ 192,228 $ 121,489 
 Add interest expense on assumed conversion of our zero coupon  
  senior convertible/exchangeable debentures/notes, net of tax: 
  $825 million due 2020(1)  –  3,639  – 
  $1.381 billion due 2021(2)  12,438  –  – 
  $700 million due 2023(3)  –  –  –

 Adjusted net income – diluted $ 314,895 $ 195,867 $ 121,489

Earnings per share: 
 Basic $ 2.03 $ 1.31 $ .85 
 Diluted $ 1.92 $ 1.25 $ .81

Shares (denominator): 
 Weighted-average number of shares outstanding – basic(4)  148,936  146,495  143,655
 Net effect of dilutive stock options and warrants based  
  on the treasury stock method  6,603  6,604  6,342
 Assumed conversion of our zero coupon senior 
  convertible/exchangeable debentures/notes: 
  $825 million due 2020(1)  –  3,798  – 
  $1.381 billion due 2021(2)  8,491  –  – 
  $700 million due 2023(3)   –  –  –

 Weighted-average number of shares outstanding – diluted  164,030  156,897  149,997

(1)  Diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2003 reflects the assumed conversion of our $825 million zero coupon convertible senior debentures, as the  
conversion in that year would have been dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the weighted-average number of shares outstanding-diluted excludes 8.1 million 
potentially dilutive shares issuable upon the conversion of our $825 million zero coupon convertible senior debentures because the inclusion of such shares would have been 
anti-dilutive, given the level of net income for that year. Net income for the year ended December 31, 2002 also excludes the related add-back of interest expense, net of tax,  
of $7.6 million for these debentures. These shares would have been dilutive and therefore included in the calculation of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding-
diluted had diluted earnings per share been at or above $.93 for the year ended December 31, 2002. We redeemed for cash the remaining outstanding principal amount of  
our $825 million zero coupon convertible senior debentures on June 20, 2003 and therefore these debentures did not impact the calculation of diluted earnings per share  
for the year ended December 31, 2004.

(2)  For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the weighted-average number of shares outstanding-diluted excludes 8.5 million potentially dilutive shares issuable  
upon the conversion of our $1.381 billion zero coupon convertible senior debentures because the inclusion of such shares would have been anti-dilutive, given the level of  
net income for those years. Net income for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, excludes the related add-back of interest expense, net of tax, of $12.1 million  
and $11.8 million, respectively, for these debentures. These shares would have been dilutive and therefore included in the calculation of the weighted-average number of 
shares outstanding-diluted had diluted earnings per share been at or above $1.43 and $1.39 for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(3)  Diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, excludes approximately 10.0 million and 5.6 million potentially dilutive shares  
initially issuable upon the exchange of our $700 million zero coupon senior exchangeable notes due 2023. Such shares did not impact our calculation of diluted earnings  
per share for these years as we are required to pay cash up to the principal amount of any notes exchanged. We would only issue an incremental number of shares upon 
exchange of these notes, and such shares would only be included in the calculation of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding in our diluted earnings per share  
calculation, if the price of our shares exceeded $70.10. These notes were issued in June 2003 and therefore did not impact the calculation of diluted earnings per share for 
the year ended December 31, 2002.

(4)  Includes the following weighted-average number of common shares of Nabors and weighted-average number of exchangeable shares of Nabors Exchangeco, respectively:  
148.7 million and .3 million shares for the year ended December 31, 2004; 146.0 million and .5 million shares for the year ended December 31, 2003; and 143.2 million  
and .4 million shares for the year ended December 31, 2002. The exchangeable shares of Nabors Exchangeco are exchangeable for Nabors common shares on a one-for-one 
basis, and have essentially identical rights as Nabors Industries Ltd. common shares, including but not limited to voting rights and the right to receive dividends, if any.
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For all periods presented, the computation of 
diluted earnings per share excludes outstanding 
stock options and warrants with exercise prices 
greater than the average market price of Nabors’ 
common shares, because the inclusion of such 
options and warrants would be anti-dilutive. The 
number of options and warrants that were excluded 
from diluted earnings per share that would poten-
tially dilute earnings per share in the future were 
6,951,237 shares in 2004, 8,354,070 shares in 2003, 
and 8,264,768 shares in 2002. In any period during 
which the average market price of Nabors’ common 
shares exceeds the exercise prices of these stock 
options and warrants, such stock options and war-
rants will be included in our diluted earnings per 
share computation using the treasury stock method 
of accounting.

15  Supplemental Balance Sheet,  
Income Statement and  
Cash Flow Information

Accounts receivable is net of an allowance for 
doubtful accounts of $11.0 million as of December 
31, 2004 and 2003.

Accrued liabilities include the following:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003

Accrued compensation $ 67,648 $ 55,137 
Deferred revenue  25,304  26,611 
Workers’ compensation liabilities  28,994  30,180 
Interest payable  10,442  15,888 
Other accrued liabilities  38,846  32,929

  $ 171,234 $ 160,745

Investment income includes the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Interest income $ 22,572 $ 27,238 $ 33,600 
Gains on marketable  
 and non-marketable  
 securities, net  20,638  6,145  2,877 
Dividend and other 
 investment income   6,854  430  484

   $ 50,064 $ 33,813 $ 36,961

Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, 
impairment charges and other expense (income),  
net includes the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Losses (gains) on sales  
 of long-lived assets $ 874 $ (2,476) $ (8,308) 
Impairment charges  –  –  3,738 
Foreign currency  
 transaction gains  (755)  (830)  (486) 
Corporate reorganization  
 expense  –  –  3,769 
(Gains) losses on derivative  
 instruments  (2,363)  1,140  1,983 
Loss on extinguishment  
 of debt  –  908  202 
Other  (2,385)  2,411  (1,731)

   $ (4,629) $ 1,153 $ (833)

Supplemental cash flow information for the 
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 
is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Cash paid for income taxes $ 29,306 $ 16,542 $ 22,831 
Cash paid for interest,  
 net of capitalized interest  27,899  41,033  22,653 
Acquisitions of businesses: 
 Fair value of  
  assets acquired  –  –  305,399 
 Goodwill  –  –  110,636 
 Liabilities assumed  
  or created  –  –  (105,986) 
 Common stock of acquired 
  company previously owned  –  –  (282) 
 Equity consideration issued  –  –  (174,115)

Cash paid for acquisitions  
 of businesses  –  –  135,652 
Cash acquired in acquisitions 
 of businesses  –  –  –

Cash paid for acquisitions  
 of businesses, net $ – $ – $ 135,652
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17 Segment Information

As of December 31, 2004, we operate our busi-
ness out of 13 operating segments. Our six Contract 
Drilling operating segments are engaged in drilling, 
workover and well-servicing operations, on land 
and offshore, and represent reportable segments. 
These operating segments consist of our Alaska,  
U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling, U.S. Land Well-servicing, 
U.S. Offshore, Canada and International business 
units. Our oil and gas operating segment, Ramshorn 
Investments, Inc., is engaged in the exploration for, 
development of and production of oil and gas and 
is included in our Oil and Gas reportable segment. 
Our Other Operating Segments, consisting of Canrig 
Drilling Technology Ltd., Epoch Well Services, Inc., 
Peak Oilfield Service Company, Peak USA Energy 
Services, Ltd., Ryan Energy Technologies, and 
Sea Mar, a division of Pool Well Services Co., are 

engaged in the manufacturing of top drives, manu-
facturing of drilling instrumentation systems, con-
struction and logistics services, trucking and logistics 
services, manufacturing and marketing of directional 
drilling and rig instrumentation systems, directional 
drilling, rig instrumentation and data collection ser-
vices, and marine transportation and supply services, 
respectively. These Other Operating Segments do not 
meet the criteria included in SFAS No. 131, “Disclo-
sures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information” for disclosure, individually or in the 
aggregate, as reportable segments.

The accounting policies of the segments are the 
same as those described in the Summary of Signifi-
cant Accounting Policies (Note 2). Inter-segment 
sales are recorded at cost or cost plus a profit margin. 
We evaluate the performance of our segments based 
on adjusted income derived from operating activities.

16  Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information

 Year Ended December 31, 2004

(In thousands, except per share amounts) Quarter Ended

 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Operating revenues and Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates(1) $ 596,803 $ 531,868 $ 585,360 $ 684,057 
Net income   71,717  46,348  75,626  108,766 
Earnings per share:(2) 
 Basic $ .48 $ .31 $ .51 $ .73 
 Diluted $ .46 $ .30 $ .48 $ .68

 Year Ended December 31, 2003

(In thousands, except per share amounts) Quarter Ended

 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Operating revenues and Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates(3) $ 455,740 $ 433,911 $ 475,979 $ 524,556  
Net income   48,057  29,019  50,281  64,871 
Earnings per share:(2) 
 Basic $ .33 $ .20 $ .34 $ .44 
 Diluted $ .31 $ .19 $ .33 $ .42

(1)  Includes Earnings (losses) from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $3.8 million, $1.2 million, $(.3) million and $(.6) million, respectively.
(2)  Earnings per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not equal the total computed  

for the year.
(3)  Includes Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $5.9 million, $1.4 million, $2.5 million and $.4 million, respectively. 
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 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Operating revenues and Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates:       
 Contract Drilling: 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 748,999 $ 476,258 $ 374,659 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  360,010  312,279  294,428 
  U.S. Offshore  132,778  101,566  105,717 
  Alaska  83,835  112,092  118,199 
  Canada  426,675  322,303  141,497 
  International  444,289  396,884  320,160

   Subtotal Contract Drilling(1)  2,196,586  1,721,382  1,354,660 
 Oil and Gas  65,303  16,919  7,223 
 Other Operating Segments(2)  205,615  201,660  174,775 
 Other reconciling items(3)  (69,416)  (49,775)  (55,440)

   Total $ 2,398,088 $ 1,890,186 $ 1,481,218

Depreciation and amortization, and depletion: 
 Contract Drilling: 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 77,498 $ 69,190 $ 61,022 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  21,940  22,163  19,600 
  U.S. Offshore  21,650  19,794  20,491 
  Alaska  11,954  11,969  12,000 
  Canada  36,802  29,840  20,713 
  International  62,776  53,374  37,521

   Subtotal Contract Drilling  232,620  206,330  171,347 
 Oil and Gas  45,460  8,599  7,700 
 Other Operating Segments  22,945  21,597  18,044 
 Other reconciling items(3)  (626)  (1,399)  (1,726)

   Total depreciation and amortization, and depletion $ 300,399 $ 235,127 $ 195,365

Adjusted income (loss) derived from operating activities:(4) 
 Contract Drilling: 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 93,573 $ 16,800 $ 23,415 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  57,712  47,082  38,631 
  U.S. Offshore  20,611  1,649  (1,397) 
  Alaska  16,052  37,847  31,387 
  Canada  91,421  59,856  17,413 
  International  89,211  77,964  76,121

   Subtotal Contract Drilling  368,580  241,198  185,570 
 Oil and Gas  13,736  5,850  (1,058) 
 Other Operating Segments(2)  (5,333)  3,266  24,660

   Total segment adjusted income derived from operating activities  376,983  250,314  209,172 
Other reconciling items(5)  (47,331)  (37,611)  (39,124) 
Interest expense  (48,507)  (70,740)  (67,068) 
Investment income  50,064  33,813  36,961 
Gains (losses) on sales of long-lived assets, 
 impairment charges and other income (expense), net  4,629  (1,153)  833

Income before income taxes $ 335,838 $ 174,623 $ 140,774

The following table sets forth financial information with respect to our reportable segments:
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 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Capital expenditures and acquisition of businesses: 
 Contract Drilling: 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 155,612 $ 71,252 $ 7,488 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  35,335  25,052  35,901 
  U.S. Offshore  46,622  48,365  32,585 
  Alaska  4,293  3,940  21,018 
  Canada  76,635  29,690  370,500 
  International  161,115  116,667  194,739

   Subtotal Contract Drilling  479,612  294,966  662,231 
 Oil and Gas  55,303  53,716  9,733 
 Other Operating Segments  13,824  4,226  32,076 
 Other reconciling items(5)  (4,310)  230  (1,197)

   Total capital expenditures $ 544,429 $ 353,138 $ 702,843

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Total assets: 
 Contract Drilling:(6) 
  U.S. Lower 48 Land Drilling $ 1,119,280 $ 987,903 $ 972,495 
  U.S. Land Well-servicing  274,734  246,312  237,594 
  U.S. Offshore  409,687  386,196  368,267 
  Alaska  204,614  218,222  215,706 
  Canada  945,226  767,400  565,458 
  International  1,121,749  1,001,058  883,255

   Subtotal Contract Drilling  4,075,290  3,607,091  3,242,775 
 Oil and Gas  93,169  67,898  23,517 
 Other Operating Segments(7)  321,979  337,622  343,365 
 Other reconciling items(5)  1,372,171  1,590,081  1,454,215

   Total assets $ 5,862,609 $ 5,602,692 $ 5,063,872

(1)  Includes Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $1.6 million, $2.8 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively.

(2)  Includes Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates, accounted for by the equity method, of $2.5 million, $7.4 million and $10.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively.

(3) Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions.
(4)  Adjusted income (loss) derived from operating activities is computed by: subtracting direct costs, general and administrative expenses, and depreciation and amortization,  

and depletion expense from Operating revenues and then adding Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates. Such amounts should not be used as a substitute to those amounts 
reported under GAAP. However, management evaluates the performance of our business units and the consolidated company based on several criteria, including adjusted 
income (loss) derived from operating activities, because it believes that this financial measure is an accurate reflection of the ongoing profitability of our company. A reconcil-
iation of this non-GAAP measure to income before income taxes, which is a GAAP measure, is provided within the table above.

(5)  Represents the elimination of inter-segment transactions and unallocated corporate expenses, assets and capital expenditures.
(6)  Includes $35.2 million, $26.5 million and $25.3 million of investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for by the equity method as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 

2002, respectively.
(7)  Includes $31.9 million, $31.6 million and $33.3 million of investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for by the equity method as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 

2002, respectively.
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 Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Operating revenues and Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates: 
 United States $ 1,505,082 $ 1,152,272 $ 1,012,503 
 Foreign  893,006  737,914  468,715

    $ 2,398,088 $ 1,890,186 $ 1,481,218

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Property, plant and equipment, net: 
 United States $ 1,854,674 $ 1,823,281 $ 1,759,199 
 Foreign  1,420,821  1,167,511  1,041,868

    $ 3,275,495 $ 2,990,792 $ 2,801,067

 Goodwill, net: 
 United States $ 155,656 $ 157,873 $ 165,609 
 Foreign  171,569  157,754  120,753

    $ 327,225 $ 315,627 $ 286,362

The following table sets forth financial information with respect to Nabors’ operations by geographic area:
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18  Condensed Consolidating  
Financial Information

Nabors has fully and unconditionally guaranteed 
all of the issued public debt securities of Nabors 
Delaware, and Nabors and Nabors Delaware have 
fully and unconditionally guaranteed the $225 mil-
lion 4.875% senior notes due 2009 issued by Nabors 
Holdings 1, ULC, our indirect subsidiary.

The following condensed consolidating financial 
information is included so that separate financial 
statements of Nabors Delaware and Nabors Holdings 
are not required to be filed with the U.S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission. The condensed consol-
idating financial statements present investments 
in both consolidated and unconsolidated affiliates 
using the equity method of accounting.

The following condensed consolidating financial 
information presents: condensed consolidating bal-
ance sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
statements of income and cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 
of (a) Nabors, parent/guarantor, (b) Nabors Delaware, 
issuer of public debt securities guaranteed by Nabors 
and guarantor of the $225 million 4.875% senior 
notes issued by Nabors Holdings, (c) Nabors Hold-
ings, issuer of the $225 million 4.875% senior notes, 
(d) the non-guarantor subsidiaries, (e) consolidating 
adjustments necessary to consolidate Nabors and its 
subsidiaries and (f) Nabors on a consolidated basis.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets
 December 31, 2004

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Assets  

Current assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 67,584 $ – $ 18 $ 317,107 $ – $ 384,709 
 Marketable securities  376,393  –  –  51,949  –  428,342 
 Accounts receivable, net  –  –  –  540,103  –  540,103 
 Inventory  –  –  –  28,653  –  28,653 
 Deferred income taxes  –  –  –  39,599  –  39,599 
 Non-marketable securities  45,000  –  –  42,500  –  87,500 
 Other current assets  3,952  4,031  376  63,709  –  72,068

  Total current assets  492,929  4,031  394  1,083,620  –  1,580,974

Marketable securities  388,380  –  –  51,082  –  439,462 
Property, plant and equipment, net  –  –  –  3,275,495  –  3,275,495 
Goodwill, net  –  –  –  327,225  –  327,225 
Intercompany receivables  488,101  806,293  –  522  (1,294,916)  – 
Investments in affiliates  1,561,019  2,138,488  254,974  1,181,632  (5,069,024)  67,089 
Other long-term assets  –  19,080  1,009  152,275  –  172,364

  Total assets $ 2,930,429 $ 2,967,892 $ 256,377 $ 6,071,851 $ (6,363,940) $ 5,862,609

Liabilities  and Shareholders’  Equity 
Current liabilities: 
 Current portion of long-term debt $ – $ 804,550 $ – $ – $ – $ 804,550 
 Trade accounts payable  –  23  –  211,577  –  211,600 
 Accrued liabilities  524  6,354  4,152  160,204  –  171,234 
 Income taxes payable  480  –  –  11,452  –  11,932

  Total current liabilities  1,004  810,927  4,152  383,233  –  1,199,316

Long-term debt  –  977,922  223,764  –  –  1,201,686 
Other long-term liabilities  –  –  –  146,337  –  146,337 
Deferred income taxes  32  56,952  –  328,893  –  385,877 
Intercompany payable  –  –  2,522  1,292,394  (1,294,916)  –

  Total liabilities  1,036  1,845,801  230,438  2,150,857  (1,294,916)  2,933,216

Shareholders’ equity  2,929,393  1,122,091  25,939  3,920,994  (5,069,024)  2,929,393

  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,930,429 $ 2,967,892 $ 256,377 $ 6,071,851 $ (6,363,940) $ 5,862,609
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 December 31, 2003

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Assets  

Current assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 403,693 $ 1 $ 17 $ 176,026 $ – $ 579,737 
 Marketable securities  285,353  –  –  54,583  –  339,936 
 Accounts receivable, net  –  –  –  410,487  –  410,487 
 Inventory  –  –  –  23,289  –  23,289 
 Deferred income taxes  –  –  –  36,442  –  36,442 
 Non-marketable securities  –  –  –  47,000  –  47,000 
 Other current assets  6,806  4,229  –  67,721  –  78,756

  Total current assets  695,852  4,230  17  815,548  –  1,515,647

Marketable securities  571,327  –  –  41,090  –  612,417 
Property, plant and equipment, net  –  –  –  2,990,792  –  2,990,792 
Goodwill, net  –  –  –  315,627  –  315,627 
Intercompany receivables  1,057,260  1,085,944  202  –  (2,143,406)  – 
Investments in affiliates  170,089  2,065,230  236,829  1,095,882  (3,509,930)  58,100 
Other long-term assets  –  20,359  966  88,784  –  110,109

  Total assets $ 2,494,528 $ 3,175,763 $ 238,014 $ 5,347,723 $ (5,653,336) $ 5,602,692

Liabilities  and Shareholders’  Equity 
Current liabilities: 
 Current portion of long-term debt $ – $ 295,267 $ – $ 4,118 $ – $ 299,385 
 Trade accounts payable  1  23  –  128,816  –  128,840 
 Accrued liabilities  960  10,766  3,901  145,118  –  160,745 
 Income taxes payable  1,164  (190)  (111)  8,540  –  9,403

  Total current liabilities  2,125  305,866  3,790  286,592  –  598,373

Long-term debt  –  1,762,054  223,499  –  –  1,985,553 
Other long-term liabilities  –  3,738  –  151,929  –  155,667 
Deferred income taxes  79  61,623  82  311,040  –  372,824 
Intercompany payable  2,049  –  –  2,141,357  (2,143,406)  –

  Total liabilities  4,253  2,133,281  227,371  2,890,918  (2,143,406)  3,112,417

Shareholders’ equity  2,490,275  1,042,482  10,643  2,456,805  (3,509,930)  2,490,275

  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,494,528 $ 3,175,763 $ 238,014 $ 5,347,723 $ (5,653,336) $ 5,602,692
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 Year Ended December 31, 2003

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer)  (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Revenues and other income: 
 Operating revenues $ – $ – $ – $ 1,880,003 $ – $ 1,880,003 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  –  –  –  10,183  –  10,183 
 Earnings from consolidated affiliates  6,314  133,011  15,345  119,736  (274,406)  – 
 Investment income  1,808  34  11  31,960  –  33,813 
 Intercompany interest income  207,615  59,276  –  –  (266,891)  –

  Total revenues and other income  215,737  192,321  15,356  2,041,882  (541,297)  1,923,999

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  –  –  –  1,276,953  –  1,276,953 
 General and administrative expenses  3,298  (48)  8  162,145  –  165,403 
 Depreciation and amortization  –  –  –  226,528  –  226,528 
 Depletion  –  –  –  8,599  –  8,599 
 Interest expense  –  58,785  11,448  507  –  70,740 
 Intercompany interest expense  –  –  –  266,891  (266,891)  – 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, 
  impairment charges and other expense (income), net  3,923  1,140  (15)  (3,895)  –  1,153

  Total costs and other deductions  7,221  59,877  11,441  1,937,728  (266,891)  1,749,376

Income before income taxes  208,516  132,444  3,915  104,154  (274,406)  174,623

Income tax expense (benefit)  16,288  (210)  1,488  (35,171)  –  (17,605)

Net income  $ 192,228 $ 132,654 $ 2,427 $ 139,325 $ (274,406) $ 192,228

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Income
 Year Ended December 31, 2004

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer)  (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Revenues and other income: 
 Operating revenues $ – $ – $ – $ 2,394,031 $ – $ 2,394,031 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  –  –  –  4,057  –  4,057 
 Earnings from consolidated affiliates  187,927  169,550  18,147  176,755  (552,379)  – 
 Investment income  25,277  1  –  24,786  –  50,064 
 Intercompany interest income  100,419  71,976  –  522  (172,917)  –

  Total revenues and other income  313,623  241,527  18,147  2,600,151  (725,296)  2,448,152

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  –  –  –  1,572,649  –  1,572,649 
 General and administrative expenses  5,888  932  16  191,612  (3,060)  195,388 
 Depreciation and amortization  –  450  –  254,489  –  254,939 
 Depletion  –  –  –  45,460  –  45,460 
 Interest expense  –  39,048  11,470  (2,011)  –  48,507 
 Intercompany interest expense  –  522  –  172,395  (172,917)  – 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets,  
  impairment charges and other expense (income), net  (806)  (2,344)  –  (4,539)  3,060  (4,629)

  Total costs and other deductions  5,082  38,608  11,486  2,230,055  (172,917)  2,112,314

Income before income taxes  308,541  202,919  6,661  370,096  (552,379)  335,838

Income tax expense  6,084  12,346  2,332  12,619  –  33,381

Net income $ 302,457 $ 190,573 $ 4,329 $ 357,477 $ (552,379) $ 302,457
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
 Year Ended December 31, 2004

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Net cash (used for) provided by operating activities $ (64,596) $ 375,884 $ (10,967) $ 581,156 $ (318,279) $ 563,198

Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of marketable securities, available-for-sale  (654,819)  –  –  (91,584)  –  (746,403) 
 Sales of marketable securities, available-for-sale  773,786  –  –  65,030  –  838,816 
 Purchases of non-marketable securities  (45,000)  –  –  (128,533)  –  (173,533) 
 Sales of non-marketable securities  –  –  –  69,793  –  69,793 
 Cash paid for investments in consolidated affiliates  (218,053)  (60,000)  –  (170,968)  449,021  – 
 Capital expenditures  –  –  –  (544,429)  –  (544,429) 
 Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims  –  –  –  6,879  –  6,879 
 Investments in affiliate  –  –  –  (200)  –  (200)

Net cash used for investing activities  (144,086)  (60,000)  –  (794,012)  449,021  (549,077)

Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Increase in cash overdrafts  –  –  –  9,865  –  9,865 
 Decrease in restricted cash  –  –  –  109  –  109 
 Intercompany borrowings  (198,675)  –  –  198,675  –  – 
 Reduction of long-term debt  –  (298,275)  –  (4,136)  –  (302,411) 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  71,248  –  –  –  –  71,248 
 Proceeds from parent contributions  –  160,000  10,968  278,053  (449,021)  – 
 Cash dividends paid  –  (177,610)  –  (140,669)  318,279  –

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities  (127,427)  (315,885)  10,968  341,897  (130,742)  (221,189)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 
 and cash equivalents  –  –  –  12,040  –  12,040

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (336,109)  (1)  1  141,081  –  (195,028) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  403,693  1  17  176,026  –  579,737

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 67,584 $ – $ 18 $ 317,107 $ – $ 384,709

 Year Ended December 31, 2002

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer)  (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Revenues and other income: 
 Operating revenues $ – $ – $ – $ 1,466,443 $ – $ 1,466,443 
 Earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  –  –  –  14,775  –  14,775 
 Earnings from consolidated affiliates  18,159  89,947  –  79,525  (187,631)  – 
 Investment income  48  49  –  36,864  –  36,961 
 Intercompany interest income  101,436  54,326  –  –  (155,762)  –

  Total revenues and other income  119,643  144,322  –  1,597,607  (343,393)  1,518,179

Costs and other deductions: 
 Direct costs  –  –  –  973,910  –  973,910 
 General and administrative expenses  579  483  2  140,831  –  141,895 
 Depreciation and amortization  –  –  –  187,665  –  187,665 
 Depletion  –  –  –  7,700  –  7,700 
 Interest expense  –  60,206  4,102  2,760  –  67,068 
 Intercompany interest expense  –  –  –  155,762  (155,762)  – 
 Losses (gains) on sales of long-lived assets, 
  impairment charges and other expense (income), net  (3,469)  6,191  –  (3,555)  –  (833)

  Total costs and other deductions  (2,890)  66,880  4,104  1,465,073  (155,762)  1,377,405

Income (loss) before income taxes  122,533  77,442  (4,104)  132,534  (187,631)  140,774

Income tax expense (benefit)  1,044  (4,627)  (1,560)  24,428  –  19,285

Net income (loss) $ 121,489 $ 82,069 $ (2,544) $ 108,106 $ (187,631) $ 121,489
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 Year Ended December 31, 2002

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $ 78,235 $ (193,818) $ (128) $ 597,850 $ (81,263) $ 400,876

Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of marketable securities, available-for-sale  (25,055)  –  (21)  (720,307)  –  (745,383) 
 Sales of marketable securities, available-for-sale  –  –  –  542,133  –  542,133 
 Purchases of non-marketable securities  –  –  –  (15,000)  –  (15,000) 
 Investments in unconsolidated affiliates  (15,089)  –  (221,484)  (24)  236,597  – 
 Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses, net  –  –  –  (135,652)  –  (135,652) 
 Capital expenditures  –  –  –  (326,536)  –  (326,536) 
 Cash paid for other current assets  –  –  –  (8,725)  –  (8,725) 
 Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims  –  –  –  34,877  –  34,877

Net cash used for investing activities  (40,144)  –  (221,505)  (629,234)  236,597  (654,286)

Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Decrease in cash overdrafts  –  –  –  (3,658)  –  (3,658) 
 Decrease in restricted cash  –  –  –  210  –  210 
 Decrease in short-term borrowings  –  –  –  (844)  –  (844) 
 Proceeds from long-term debt  –  272,765  223,139  –  –  495,904 
 Reduction of long-term debt  –  (5,047)  –  (25,784)  –  (30,831) 
 Debt issuance costs  –  (1,634)  (1,311)  –  –  (2,945) 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  4,522  8,328  –  –  –  12,850 
 Proceeds from parent contributions  –  –  12  236,585  (236,597)  – 
 Repurchase of common shares  (2,486)  –  –  –  –  (2,486) 
 Cash dividends paid  –  (81,263)  –  –  81,263  – 
 Payments related to cash flow hedges  –  (1,494)  –  –  –  (1,494)

Net cash provided by financing activities  2,036  191,655  221,840  206,509  (155,334)  466,706

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 
 and cash equivalents  –  –  –  2,312  –  2,312

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  40,127  (2,163)  207  177,437  –  215,608 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  –  2,201  –  196,242  –  198,443

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 40,127 $ 38 $ 207 $ 373,679 $ – $ 414,051

 Year Ended December 31, 2003

(In thousands) Nabors Nabors Nabors Other 
 (Parent/ Delaware Holdings Subsidiaries Consolidating Consolidated 
 Guarantor) (Issuer/Guarantor) (Issuer) (Non-Guarantors) Adjustments Total

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $ 169,665 $ 641,821 $ (10,786) $ 408,424 $ (813,386) $ 395,738

Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Purchases of marketable securities, available-for-sale  (225,904)  –  –  (1,203,641)  –  (1,429,545) 
 Sales of marketable securities, available-for-sale  77,640  –  –  1,315,998  –  1,393,638 
 Purchases of non-marketable securities  –  –  –  (47,002)  –  (47,002) 
 Sales of non-marketable securities  –  –  –  17,506  –  17,506 
 Cash paid for investments in consolidated affiliates  –  (700,484)  –  (236)  700,720  – 
 Capital expenditures  –  –  –  (353,138)  –  (353,138) 
 Proceeds from sales of assets and insurance claims  –  –  –  10,476  –  10,476 
 Investments in affiliate  –  –  –  (175)  –  (175)

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities  (148,264)  (700,484)  –  (260,212)  700,720  (408,240)

Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Decrease in cash overdrafts  –  –  –  (778)  –  (778) 
 Decrease in restricted cash  –  –  –  1,925  –  1,925 
 Proceeds from long-term debt  –  700,000  –  –  –  700,000 
 Retirement of intercompany loan  316,050  –  –  (316,050)  –  – 
 Reduction of long-term debt  –  (494,903)  –  (49,576)  –  (544,479) 
 Debt issuance costs  –  (11,366)  (159)  –  –  (11,525) 
 Proceeds from issuance of common shares  26,115  –  –  226  –  26,341 
 Proceeds from parent contributions  –  –  10,755  689,965  (700,720)  – 
 Cash dividends paid  –  (135,105)  –  (678,281)  813,386  –

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities  342,165  58,626  10,596  (352,569)  112,666  171,484

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 
 and cash equivalents  –  –  –  6,704  –  6,704

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  363,566  (37)  (190)  (197,653)  –  165,686 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  40,127  38  207  373,679  –  414,051

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 403,693 $ 1 $ 17 $ 176,026 $ – $ 579,737
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Item 9  Changes in and Disagreements 
with Accountants on Accounting and 
Financial Disclosure

None. 

Item 9a  Controls and Procedures 

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We main-  
  tain a set of disclosure controls and procedures 

that are designed to provide reasonable assur-
ance that information required to be disclosed 
in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, as 
amended, is recorded, processed, summarized, 
and reported within the time periods specified 
in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion’s rules and forms. We have investments in 
certain unconsolidated entities that we do not 
control or manage. As we do not control or 
manage these entities, our disclosure controls 
and procedures with respect to such entities 
are necessarily more limited than those we 
maintain with respect to our consolidated sub-
sidiaries.

   The Company’s management, with the  
participation of the Company’s Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the 
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures 
(as such term is defined in Rules 13a–15(e) 
and 15d–15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of 
the end of the period covered by this report. 
Based on such evaluation, the Company’s 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that,  
as of the end of such period, the Company’s 

disclosure controls and procedures are effective, 
at the reasonable assurance level, in recording, 
processing, summarizing and reporting, on a 
timely basis, information required to be dis-
closed by the Company in the reports that it 
files or submits under the Exchange Act and 
are effective, at the reasonable assurance level, 
in ensuring that information required to be 
disclosed by the Company in the reports that  
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is 
accumulated and communicated to the Com-
pany’s management, including the Company’s 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow 
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial  
  Reporting. There have not been any changes 

in the Company’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 
13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f) under the Exchange 
Act) during the most recently completed fiscal 
quarter that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting.

   See Management’s Report on Internal  
Control over Financial Reporting included in 
PART I Item 8 of this report.
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